CARBON TECHNOLOGY RESEARCH FOUNDATION

Horizon Scan Report

on Opportunities for Further Research into the application of Biotechnology for Greenhouse Gas Removal





Contents

Foreword	2
Summary	3
Acronyms	6
1. Introduction	7
2. Aims, methods and materials	8
3. Background	9
3.1. The global carbon cycle	9
3.2. Carbon fixation: Limitation and opportunities	10
3.3. Genome editing	11
3.4. Synthetic biology	12
4. Horizon Scan	14
4.1. Bacteria	14
4.2. Archaea	15
4.3. Algae	16
4.3.1. Microalgae	16
4.3.1.1. Engineering the Calvin cycle	17
4.3.1.2. Reducing non-photochemical guenching, enhancing light absorption an	d
engineering the electron transport chain	18
4.3.2. Macroalgae	19
4.4. Fungi	19
4.5. Higher plants	20
4.5.1. Improving the Calvin cycle	21
4.5.2. Bypassing photorespiration	22
4.5.3. Engineering C4 photosynthesis into C3 plants	22
4.5.4. Accelerating recovery from photoprotection	23
4.5.5. Engineering aquaporins	24
4.5.6. Increasing soil carbon sequestration	24
4.5.6.1. Changing root architecture	24
4.5.6.2. Changing the biochemical composition of roots	25
4.5.6.3. Turning annuals into perennials	26
4.5.7. Modifying canopy structure	26
4.5.8. Enhancing trees as carbon sinks	26
4.6. Other research areas of potential interest	27
4.6.1. Ruminant livestock	27
4.6.2. Biological nitrate inhibitors and enhanced nitrogen use efficiency	29
4.6.3. Enhanced weathering	29
4.6.4. Artificial ocean alkalinisation	31
4.6.5. Cell-free, CO2-fixing enzymatic systems	31
4.6.6. Artificial leaves	31
4.6.7. Hybrid systems	32
5. Conclusion and way forward	33
References	35



Foreword

The <u>IPCC AR6 Synthesis</u> report is clear, we are highly likely to exceed the 1.5 degrees limit of warming in the near term and are currently on track to exceed 2 degrees of warming in midlate 21st Century, reaching 3.2 degrees by 2100. With the deep emissions cuts required to stabilise temperatures currently far off track, it is increasingly clear that carbon dioxide removals (CDR) from the atmosphere are going to play a significant role in the efforts to stabilise the climate. The first <u>State of CDR report</u> recognises the large gap between what is required and what is currently being delivered. Virtually all current CDR (99.9% or 2 GtCO₂ per year) comes from conventional management of land, primarily via afforestation and reforestation. Only a tiny fraction results from novel CDR methods such as direct air capture, enhanced weathering or carbon capture and storage, with no proven methods yet available at scale. This represents a monumental challenge and this report seeks to explore one area of research and opportunity related to this.

Commissioned by Carbon Technology Research Foundation (CTRF) in its first year of operation, we sought to understand where opportunities might lie to fund novel research into natural carbon removal pathways that could be enhanced or scaled up through the application of biotechnology. This review confirmed that there appears to be a number of opportunities that warrant further exploration and are currently underfunded. We have used this report to inform our initial priorities to offer funding to academic-led research projects targeting enhanced biological sequestration by microorganisms through to plant based systems.

We recognise the challenge and complexity of cutting edge research, but also the huge challenge in finding and deploying scalable carbon removal solutions. We will need rapid deployment and scaling of existing technologies as well as continued efforts to explore and deploy new solutions that could emerge in coming years and decades. We are hopeful that ground-breaking molecular techniques such as genomics and synthetic biology can be deployed to contribute to tackling the carbon removal challenge and look forward to seeing this develop in the years ahead. Under the guidance of our expert <u>Advisory Council</u>, we will support the research community to investigate these, and related topics, in order to gather further evidence and add to the current knowledge base for further exploration and investment.

I would like to offer sincere thanks to Dr. Ida Tarjem, Postdoctoral Associate at Cornell University, for completing this report and informing our research approach, as well as acknowledge the support of the CTRF team members who prepared this review for external publication.

D. Hillyand

Dave Hillyard, CEO





Summary

By 2050, an estimated 10 billion metric tonnes of CO_2 p.a. need to be removed from the atmosphere to meet the goals of the Paris climate agreement, with this number expected to double by the end of the century. Biosequestration, in which natural processes and biological systems are used for carbon capture and sequestration, offers several advantages over physical and chemical alternatives, including potentially being more cost-effective and sustainable. At its core, biosequestration relies on carbon fixation pathways, six of which have been identified in autotrophic organisms. The Calvin cycle, which is part of photosynthesis, is the primary pathway for fixing CO_2 in cyanobacteria, algae and higher plants.

Yet, the efficiency of carbon fixation pathways is constrained by several rate-limiting steps. Among others, the carboxylating enzyme of the Calvin cycle, Rubisco, poorly discriminates between CO₂ and O₂, which leads to photorespiration and loss of fixed carbon and nitrogen. However, with the advent of genome editing and synthetic biology, it is now feasible to improve existing or design entirely novel enzymes and biochemical pathways with more desirable properties, ultimately resulting in increased carbon fixation. Additionally, genome editing and synthetic biology enable improvements of other parts of the photosynthetic machinery beyond the Calvin cycle.

The Carbon Technology Research Foundation (CTRF) invests in research on biosequestration, with a particular emphasis on the use of biotechnology and biochemistry to enhance biosequestration of CO₂. The purpose of this horizon scan is to provide background information on biosequestration, along with an overview of ongoing and cutting-edge research taking place within this field, as well as gaps, underexplored avenues and future directions. The document will help inform communication and outreach strategies and investment focus and decision-making.

The horizon scan is structured according to the groups of organisms most relevant to biosequestration: bacteria, archaea, algae, fungi and higher plants. Additionally, we identify several research areas that may be of potential interest to CTRF in the future, namely reduced methane emissions in ruminants; biological nitrate inhibitors and enhanced nitrogen use efficiency; enhanced weathering; artificial ocean alkalinisation; cell-free, CO₂-fixing enzymatic systems; artificial leaves; and hybrid systems.

The findings demonstrate that bacteria (most notably cyanobacteria) and microalgae offer several benefits in terms of photosynthetic efficiency, growth rate, ability to grow in high-density cell cultures and hostile environments, as well as the possibility of producing value-added products (e.g., biofuels and bioplastics). The relatively high photosynthetic efficiency of bacteria and algae owes to their unique CO₂-concentrating mechanisms (CCMs), which include but are not limited to carboxysomes and pyrenoids, respectively, both of which are a type of microcompartments that help concentrate CO₂ around Rubisco.

Still, despite these benefits, there is room for improving the carbon sequestration capacity of bacteria and microalgae. In bacteria, this has been achieved in the lab through genetic



transformation of Rubisco and other enzymes involved in the Calvin cycle; installing additional bicarbonate transporters; introducing synthetic photorespiratory bypasses; and by designing and introducing synthetic pathways to augment the Calvin cycle. Another innovative approach is the use of synthetic biology to transform heterotrophic bacteria into autotrophs. Still, there is a need to broaden research beyond model species, which may otherwise limit fundamental discovery and applied research towards wider commercialisation. Furthermore, methods of cultivation remain laborious, which hampers scaling and commercialisation.

In microalgae, studies have identified over 300 candidate photosynthesis genes that can potentially be targeted through genetic engineering. Thus far, researchers have successfully engineered enzymes involved in the Calvin cycle and algal CCMs, as well as reduced the antenna size to minimise losses that occur through non-photochemical quenching and increased the absorption spectra of the photosystem. Other potential targets of interest include the Ci accumulation 5 regulator, which is a master regulator of algal CCMs; improvements to the electron transport chain; and a type of Rubisco present in some red algae, which demonstrates an unusually high CO_2/O_2 specificity factor. However, methods of genetic engineering need to be improved, including establishing systems that ensure efficient delivery of the CRISPR-Cas system into algal cells.

While interest in macroalgae has been growing in recent years, particularly with respect to the production of bio-products and ocean afforestation, the carbon sequestration potential of macroalgae is under debate. Furthermore, genetic transformation systems have been lacking, which partly owes to the complex morphology, sexual reproduction and life histories of macroalgae, as well as lack of functional genomics. Accordingly, research on macroalgae should not necessarily be considered a top investment priority.

Archaea are a group of extremophiles that are similar to, but evolutionarily distinct from, bacteria, of which several species play key roles in the global carbon cycle. Interestingly, some archaea exhibit a type III Rubisco enzyme which has been shown to be neither affected by nor inactivated by oxygen, and studies have demonstrated that the enzyme can also function at ambient temperatures. Still, our knowledge of the biology of archaea leaves much to be desired and genome editing systems remain time-consuming and challenging. Consequently, while archaeal biosequestration represents an intriguing and underexplored area of research, returns on investments may not be realised until the longer-term due to the need for fundamental research and discovery.

Filamentous fungi, most notably mycorrhizal fungi, are of interest from a biosequestration perspective given their significant contribution to the formation and stabilisation of soil organic matter. The cell wall of mycorrhizal fungi consists of complex and durable molecules such as melanin and chitin that prevent degradation, while secretions rich in glomalin help stabilise macroaggregates in the soil. Thus, these and related compounds represent potential genetic targets for transgene expression in other organisms, while the biosequestration capacity of mycorrhizae itself can be genetically enhanced. However, mycorrhizal biosequestration remains underexplored, which reflects a lack of understanding of the full carbon sequestration potential of mycorrhizal fungi and the mechanisms by which



they sequester carbon. Furthermore, while genome editing is increasingly being applied in fungi, efficient systems have yet to be established across species. Limited research has been conducted in yeast. However, in a recently published study, heterotrophic yeast was transformed into a CO_2 assimilating autotroph, which may open the possibility of creating CO_2 -fixing yeast factories.

However, while bacterial and microalgal, and potentially also fungal and archaeal biosequestration offer advantages over plants, plant-based systems can be more rapidly deployed and remain the most well-researched, with well-established genetic transformation systems in several species. We identified eight main areas for biosequestration in plants: improving the Calvin cycle, bypassing photorespiration, engineering C₄ photosynthesis into C₃ plants, accelerating recovery from photoprotection, engineering aquaporins, increasing soil carbon sequestration, modifying canopy structure and enhancing trees as carbon sinks. We draw particular attention to research in which CCMs in algae, bacteria and C₄ plants, as well as synthetic enzymes and biochemical pathways and photorespiratory bypasses, are introduced into higher plants. Substantial progress to increase soil carbon sequestration and accelerating recovery from photoprotection is also being made. In turn, engineering of canopy structure and aquaporins remain less well-developed, but nevertheless potentially interesting opportunities for enhancing carbon sequestration.

Still, while several of these approaches show promise in the lab, technical, social and regulatory hurdles must be overcome before scaling and commercialisation can be realised. For instance, the complex nature of Rubisco makes manipulation of the enzyme challenging and a fuller understanding of the complex regulation between photorespiration and other metabolic pathways is needed. Some evidence even suggests that reducing photorespiration may not necessarily have beneficial effects. Furthermore, anatomical differences between C₄ and C₃ plants require fine-tuning of the biochemistry and anatomy of the latter. Additionally, while trees exhibit great potential for carbon sequestration and storage, their complex genomes and long generation times make genetic engineering more challenging compared to other photosynthetic organisms. Finally, to achieve full commercial viability and adoption by farmers and other end-users, crop varieties need to express traits of economic, nutritional and cultural relevance. In this respect, it is important to map any potential negative trade-offs between selecting for traits related to biosequestration and other important agronomic traits.

Of the other research areas of potential interest, engineering ruminant livestock, biological nitrate inhibitors and enhanced nitrogen use efficiency, and enhanced weathering are the most highly researched, while cell-free, CO₂-fixing enzymatic systems, artificial leaves and hybrid systems hold a lot of promise but are the most peripheral to the scope of CTRF. Artificial ocean alkalinisation is less well-explored, and some modelling studies indicate that artificial ocean alkalinisation can potentially have negative environmental impacts. As such, these should not be categorised as prioritised investment areas.



Acronyms

- 3HP/4HB: 3-hydroxypropionate/4hydroxybutyrate cycle
- 3HP: 3-hydroxypropionate bicycle
- AOA: artificial ocean alkalinisation
- ATP: adenosine triphosphate
- BNIs: biological nitrification inhibitors
- CA: carbonic anhydrase
- CCM: CO₂-concentrating mechanism
- CH₄: methane
- CRISPR-Cas9: clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats-CRISPR-associated protein 9
- CTRF: Carbon Technology Research Foundation
- DC/HB: dicarboxylate/4hydroxybutyrate cycle
- ETC: electron transport chain
- EW: enhanced weathering
- FBPA: fructose 1,6-bisphosphate aldolase
- GHGs: greenhouse gases

- GMO: genetically modified
 organism
- H₂: hydrogen
- MCG: malyl-coA-glycerate
- MOG: Malonyl-coA-Oxaloacetate-Glyoxylate
- N₂O: nitrous oxide
- NAPDH: nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
- NPQ: non-photochemical quenching
- pCO₂: partial pressure of carbon dioxide
- PSI: photosystem I
- PSII: photosystem II
- rTCA: reductive or reverse citric acid cycle
- Rubisco: ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase
- RuBP: ribulose 1,5-bisphosphate
- SBPase: sedoheptulose 1,7bisphosphatase
- TaCo: tartronyl-CoA pathway





1. Introduction

Climate change is one of the greatest threats facing humanity. In addition to reducing emissions, there is a need to deliberately remove carbon dioxide (CO₂) from the atmosphere (i.e., negative emission), particularly considering the long atmospheric residence time of CO₂ (Minx et al., 2018). By 2050, an estimated 10 billion metric tonnes of CO₂ need to be pulled from the atmosphere to meet the goals of the Paris climate agreement, with this number expected to double by the end of the century (OSB & NASEM, 2019). Biosequestration, in which natural processes and biological systems are used for carbon capture and sequestration, offers several advantages over physical and chemical alternatives, including potentially being more cost-effective and sustainable (Onyeaka et al., 2021; Onyeaka & Ekwebelem, 2022; Prasad et al., 2021; Venkata Mohan et al., 2016). Despite its proposed benefits, however, biosequestration has been largely absent from high-level climate discussions, such as by the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (Rodríguez-Martínez et al., 2022), and public investments have focused mostly on physical and chemical negative emission technologies (Giddings et al., 2020).

The Carbon Technology Research Foundation (CTRF) invests in research and development of biosequestration, with a particular emphasis on the use of biotechnology and biochemistry to enhance biosequestration of CO₂ and to a lesser extent other greenhouse gases (GHGs), such as methane (CH₄) and nitrous oxide (N₂O). The purpose of this horizon scan is to provide background information on biosequestration, along with an overview of ongoing and cutting-edge research taking place within this field, as well as gaps, underexplored avenues and future directions. The document will be used internally and together with the Advisory Council and selected partners and help inform communication and outreach strategies and investment focus and decision-making.

The document is structured as follows. First, the aims, methods and materials are presented, followed by background information on the global carbon cycle, limitations and opportunities of carbon fixation, genome editing and synthetic biology. Subsequently, the horizon scan provides an overview of ongoing and cutting-edge research categorised according to the different organisms relevant to biosequestration. The document ends with a conclusion and way forward.



"The scale of greenhouse gasses in the atmosphere has created the imperative to find cost-effective and scalable solutions for their removal. Solutions based on natural processes make sense and show great promise. This is where CTRF will focus its efforts."

Stig Arff, Founder, CTRF



2. Aims, methods and materials

The horizon scan was conducted with the aim of answering the following questions:

- a. What research is taking place on the application of biotechnology and biochemistry to deliver enhanced/scalable natural solutions to carbon sequestration?
- b. What potential gaps/opportunities are there for further or new research on the above?
- c. What research universities/institutions are leading in this area of work?

Data were collected through a literature review using selected databases, most notably Google and Google Scholar, in August of 2022. The keywords included a combination of the organism in question ("plants", "algae", "cyanobacteria", etc.), the technological tool of interest ("genetic engineering", "genome editing", "CRISPR-Cas", "synthetic biology", etc.) and words related to biosequestration (e.g., "carbon capture", "carbon assimilation", "carbon uptake", "carbon sequestration", "negative emission technology", etc.). While we focused mostly on studies that explore ways to enhance biosequestration, we decided to include other research areas of potential interest from a climate change mitigation perspective, including research on ruminant livestock, biological nitrate inhibitors and enhanced nitrogen use efficiency, enhanced weathering, artificial ocean alkalisation, cell-free, CO₂-fixing enzymatic systems, artificial leaves and hybrid systems. While these are not prioritised investment areas, they all depend on or mimic natural processes and biological systems.

Note, however, that the primary objective of several of the identified studies was to enhance photosynthetic carbon fixation for the purpose of increasing yield and productivity (in plants) and feedstock for production of biofuels and other value-added products (algae and bacteria). Still, while the study objective was not climate change mitigation per se, we considered such studies of interest as the fundamental science is similar. Furthermore, we acknowledge the importance of coupling biosequestration (with the purpose of climate change mitigation) with commercial production of biomass as a way to lower net costs and provide an economic incentive to adopt biosequestration technologies.



3. Background

3.1. The global carbon cycle

The global carbon cycle describes the transfer (fluxes) of carbon between the four major carbon reservoirs (stocks): the atmosphere, land/terrestrial, the oceans and fossil fuels (Green & Byrne, 2004; Houghton, 2014). CTRF is particularly interested in the application of biotechnology and biochemistry to regulate the transfer of carbon between the atmosphere and land (the terrestrial carbon cycle) and between the atmosphere and oceans (the oceanic carbon cycle), as addressed next.¹

The terrestrial carbon cycle is to a large extent determined by the balance between photosynthesis and respiration (Trumbore, 2006). Carbon-fixing autotrophic organisms, most notably photosynthesising plants and photo- and chemoautotrophic microbes (some bacteria, archaea and fungi), fix and transfer atmospheric carbon to the soil. Once fixed, carbon storage is controlled by autotrophic and heterotrophic respiration, as well as climatic, geological and geochemical processes and events (Gougoulias et al., 2014), along with soil erosion due to anthropogenic activities such as agriculture (e.g., tillage). Long-term storage can be achieved through association between carbon and soil minerals, via conversion to carbonate minerals or recalcitrant organic carbon (e.g., charcoal) and by reducing microbial respiration, among others (Jansson et al., 2021). Moreover, the deeper the carbon is stored in the soil, the longer its mean residence time, as decomposition rates decline with depth (Jansson et al., 2021; Jobbágy & Jackson, 2000).

The oceanic carbon cycle is largely controlled by differences in the partial pressure of CO₂ (pCO₂) between the atmosphere and surface ocean (Keller et al., 2018). The surface ocean pCO₂ is driven by the physical and biological carbon pumps (Heinze et al., 2015). The former refers to physico-chemical processes (e.g., temperature, carbonate chemistry and ocean circulation), while the latter refers to photosynthetic sequestration of carbon. For instance, carbon fixation by chemoautotrophic microorganisms, such as nitrite-oxidising bacteria, in the dark ocean has a substantial impact on carbon cycling (Pachiadaki et al., 2017). Macro- and microalgae bloom near the surface and subsequently sink to the deep ocean, thereby sequestering carbon into sediments for centuries or even longer (Smetacek et al., 2012). The role of fungi, in turn, is poorly understood. However, Orsi et al. (2022) recently confirmed the role of planktonic and benthic fungi in "helping to structure carbon flow from primary producers in marine microbiomes from the surface ocean to the subseafloor" (Orsi et al., 2022, p. 1245).

¹ Importantly, it is "the interaction and feedbacks between carbon reservoirs that ultimately determines CDR [carbon dioxide removal] efficacy" (Keller et al., 2018, p. 250). For instance, if atmospheric CO_2 is removed (such as through biosequestration) to an extent where the atmospheric pCO_2 becomes lower than that of the ocean, carbon will be transferred from the ocean to the atmosphere (Keller et al., 2018). Thus, there is a need to better understand the carbon cycle responses to carbon dioxide removal.



3.2. Carbon fixation: Limitation and opportunities

Carbon fixation is the process by which CO₂ is incorporated into organic compounds. Hitherto, six biochemical pathways for carbon fixation have been identified in autotrophic organisms, of which the Calvin-Benson-Bassham pathway (hereafter the Calvin cycle) is the primary pathway for fixing CO₂ in cyanobacteria, algae and higher plants (Bar-Even, 2018; Bharti et al., 2014; Kumar et al., 2018).² The Calvin cycle, which is part of photosynthesis, consists of a series of enzymatic reactions divided into three main stages: carboxylation (carbon fixation), reduction and regeneration.³ Ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase (Rubisco) is responsible for catalysing the carboxylation of the CO₂ acceptor molecule ribulose 1,5-bisphosphate (RuBP) to initiate the Calvin cycle.

However, Rubisco is surprisingly inefficient and catalytically slow (Erb & Zarzycki, 2018; Parry et al., 2013; Tcherkez et al., 2006). Not least, Rubisco has a low specificity towards CO₂ and catalyses two competing reactions, namely carboxylation and oxygenation. The latter directs the flow of carbon through the photorespiratory pathway, which requires substantial amount of energy to get rid of toxic by-products (e.g., phosphoglycolate and glycolate), and results in the loss of 30-50% of the previously fixed CO₂ as well as nitrogen (Bar-Even et al., 2010; Raines, 2006). Furthermore, Rubisco's specificity for CO₂ decreases with an increase in temperature, which is alarming in a progressively warming world. In addition to the carboxylation capacity of Rubisco, photosynthetic CO₂ fixation is also dependent on the regenerative capacity of RuBP. As a consequence of these and other rate-limiting factors, the photosynthetic efficiencies in plants and algae range from 1-5% of available solar energy, while the theoretical efficiency is as high as 11% (Long et al., 2006).

Enzyme and metabolic engineering using genome editing and synthetic biology (as described in section 3.3. and 3.4) can help enhance CO₂ fixation in several ways. Given its central role in carbon fixation, Rubisco has been identified as a prime target for genetic manipulation to increase photosynthetic efficiency and carbon sequestration across a number of species (Parry et al., 2013; Parry et al., 2003; Satagopan & Tabita, 2016; Satagopan et al., 2019). These efforts include improvements in the carboxylation rate and reducing the oxygenation rate (Whitney

² In addition to the Calvin cycle, two other pathways exist in aerobic autotrophs, namely the 3-hydroxypropionate (3HP) bicycle and the 3-hydroxypropionate/4-hydroxybutyrate (3HP/4HB) cycle. The 3HP bicycle is usually found in photosynthetic green non-sulphur bacteria, while 3HP/4HB is commonly present in extremely thermoacidophilic archaea (Andorfer & Drennan, 2021). Additionally, three carbon fixation pathways have been identified in anaerobic bacteria and archaea: the reductive or reverse citric acid (rTCA) cycle, the dicarboxylate/4-hydroxybutyrate (DC/HB) cycle and the Wood-Ljungdahl pathway (otherwise known as acetogenesis) (Berg et al., 2007).

³ Photosynthesis, the process by which solar energy is used to convert atmospheric CO₂ and water into carbohydrates and oxygen, is divided into two stages referred to as the light and dark reactions. During the former stage, light energy is captured by the chlorophyll and associated pigments, ultimately yielding NAPDH and ATP that power the Calvin cycle during the latter stage.



et al., 2010; Wilson & Whitney, 2017).⁴ Alternatively, studies indicate the possibility of splitting the catalysis of Rubisco across several enzymes, replacing Rubisco with alternative carboxylation enzymes, substituting the Calvin cycle with other pathways and engineering photorespiration bypass routes (e.g., Antonovsky et al., 2016; Bar-Even et al., 2010; Bar-Even, 2018; Claassens, 2017; Erb et al., 2017; Herz et al., 2017; Santos Correa et al., 2022; Schwander et al., 2016; Yu King Hing et al., 2019).

Additionally, other enzymes that control photosynthetic carbon flux besides Rubisco, such as fructose 1,6-bisphosphate aldolase (FBPA), sedoheptulose 1,7bisphosphatase (SBPase), carbonic anhydrase (CA) and transketolase can also be genetically engineered (Raines, 2003; Tamoi et al., 2006; Uematsu et al., 2012).⁵ Another possibility is to optimise other components of the photosynthetic machinery, such as the photosynthetic electron transport chain (ETC) that generates NADPH which, together with ATP generated by ATP synthase, helps drive the Calvin cycle (see footnote 3) (Chida et al., 2007; Rochaix, 2011; Takahara et al., 2010; Yamori et al., 2016). Other ways of enhancing carbon sequestration include enhancing light absorption, such as by expanding the photosynthetically active radiation spectrum to the infrared or change the morphology of the canopy (Allakhverdiev et al., 2016; Blankenship & Chen, 2013; Wolf et al., 2018), or to change the morphology and biochemical composition of root systems.

Notably, some organisms have evolved CO_2 -concentration mechanisms (CCMs) that help increase the concentration of CO_2 around Rubisco, thus allowing Rubisco to overcome its affinity towards O_2 and limit photorespiration. These include carboxysomes in cyanobacteria and proteobacteria, pyrenoids in algae and diatoms and the C_4 system and Crassulacean acid metabolism (CAM) in higher plants (Tomar et al., 2017). CCMs can potentially be expressed in organisms that otherwise lack these.

3.3. Genome editing

Genome or gene editing is the use of molecular breeding approaches to alter the DNA of an organism and includes such tools as zinc finger nucleases, transcription activator-like effector nucleases and the clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats – CRISPR-associated protein (CRISPR-Cas). Over the last

⁴ However, as noted by Lin et al. (2014): "the complex nature of Rubisco's assembly has made manipulation of the enzyme extremely challenging" (p. 547). Santos Correa et al. (2022) further note how the improvement of Rubisco using bioengineering has been challenging due to two main aspects: "1) identification of the structural changes that promote performance and 2) identification of the ways to efficiently transplant these changes into RuBisCO within a target organism. Additionally, this task requires a satisfactory understanding of the regulatory pathways of the chloroplast gene, as well as the complex nature of catalysis and biogenesis promoted by this enzyme" (p. 11). Thus, "[t]he main challenge underlying the manipulation and modification of carbon-fixation routes is the insufficient understanding of how the pathways perform together within the studied organism" (Santos Correa et al., 2022, p. 13).

⁵ Giri et al. (2020) contend that CA "is one of the most environmentally friendly and attractive biomimetic routes for carbon sequestration due to its economic viability and environmental compatibility" (p. 91). Thus, "[t]o reduce the greenhouse effect of carbon dioxide, further research should be devoted to the large-scale production, long-term performance of engineered CA, and developing highly efficient engineering strategies" (Giri et al., 2020, p. 91).



decade, the application of CRISPR-Cas has skyrocketed due to its specificity, versatility and efficiency, ushering in a new era in molecular biology. CRISPR-Cas involves the use of RNA-guided nucleases to introduce a double-stranded break at one or several targeted locations in the genome.⁶ Subsequently, the double-stranded break is repaired by the cell's natural DNA repair mechanism, often resulting in single nucleotide changes or small deletions or insertions that resemble naturally occurring mutations.⁷ Alternatively, repairs can be directed to introduce, delete or replace a part of the genome using a nucleic acid template. Combined with other genomic, transcriptomic and proteomic approaches, CRISPR can help improve our understanding of, and the ability to engineer, the genes controlling traits and metabolic pathways involved in biosequestration (Khumsupan et al., 2019; Naduthodi et al., 2018; Zhang, Y.-T. et al., 2019).

However, the use of CRISPR-Cas is more technically challenging than what is often portrayed in the popular and some of the scientific literature. Among others, biological differences between species make them more or less amenable to genetic engineering. For instance, the cells of algae and higher plants have a rigid cell wall that complicates the delivery of the CRISPR-Cas system to the cells. Other important factors to consider include the complexity of the genome, mode of reproduction, the reproductive rate, number of progeny per reproduction cycle and the generation time. Furthermore, whether it is possible to breed for a particular trait will depend on, among others, whether it is clearly defined and recordable, has sufficiently high heritability (i.e., a measure of the extent to which a trait is genetically controlled), if the trait is controlled by one or multiple genes, and any potential genetic correlations with other important traits (for instance, there might be a negative correlation between above and below-ground biomass in plants). Another determining factor is the cellular location of the DNA to be transformed (e.g., whether it is located in the nucleus, mitochondria or plastid). The rate of genetic improvement is also shaped by the politics, structure and organisation of the breeding sector in question (see, e.g., Van Eenennaam et al., 2021). For instance, climate change mitigation may not necessarily be part of national breeding goals nor may there be an incentive to include climate change goals, despite global warming being a high-level political priority (as seen in the case of methane emissions in dairy cattle breeding, see e.g., de Haas et al., 2017).

3.4. Synthetic biology

Synthetic biology attempts to make biology engineerable in order to "design and program biological systems to carry out prespecified functions" (DeLisi et al., 2020,

⁶ Several CRISPR-Cas systems exist, most of which are categorised as Class I or Class II, with each class containing several subtypes that exhibit particular advantages and drawbacks (Chaudhuri et al., 2022; Liu et al., 2020; Makarova & Koonin, 2015).

⁷ As no foreign DNA is inserted in the genome, some regulatory authorities have decided that such genomic changes should not fall under the strict regulatory frameworks of genetically modified organisms (Lassoued et al., 2021; Schiemann et al., 2020; Schmidt et al., 2020; Smyth, 2019). Still, several political, regulatory and ethical hurdles remain.



p. 2). In contrast to genome editing, which commonly involves alterations to single nucleotides or smaller stretches of DNA, synthetic biology allows researchers to chemically construct genetic sequences (including entire genomes) so as to redesign and reconstruct existing or novel enzymes, metabolic pathways or biological systems. As noted by Gleizer et al. (2020), synthetic biology allows the disentanglement of "organisms and biosynthetic pathways from their evolutionary contingencies, potentially enabling improvements over natural systems by combining components that do not co-exist in nature (e.g., linking two pathways, localizing a pathway to an organelle)" (p. 1).

Thus, synthetic biology enables the creation of novel carbon fixation pathways that can help overcome the many reaction steps and low efficiencies of natural carbon fixation pathways (Andorfer & Drennan, 2021; Gong et al., 2016; Naseem et al., 2020; Santos Correa et al., 2022). For instance, Schwander et al. (2016) constructed a synthetic carbon fixation pathway that was up to five times more efficient than the Calvin cycle. The pathway consisted of 20 enzymes, three of which were engineered, while 17 were of natural origin (from nine different organisms). Additionally, a potential synthetic pathway known as Malonyl-coA-Oxaloacetate-Glyoxylate (MOG) may represent a better alternative to the Calvin cycle due to more efficient carboxylases (Salehizadeh et al., 2020). Similarly, Scheffen et al. (2021) recently developed a novel carboxylase able to catalyse the most difficult step of the theoretical tartronyl-CoA (TaCo) pathway, which would outcompete other pathways from both an energetic and carbon efficiency standpoint (Trudeau et al., 2018). Scheffen et al. (2021) also discovered two additional enzymes needed to fully reconstitute the TaCo pathway and were able to interface the TaCo pathway with photorespiration, ethylene glycol conversion and a synthetic CO_2 fixation pathway.

Consequently, synthetic biology is touted to play a key role in climate mitigation (DeLisi, 2019; DeLisi et al., 2020; Erb et al., 2021; Jatain et al., 2021). Still, synthetic biology has received limited attention in high-level discussions on CO₂ removal (DeLisi, 2019; DeLisi et al., 2020). Moreover, synthetic biology approaches are not without their limitations. For instance, synthetic pathways may interfere with endogenous metabolism, side-reactions and dead-end metabolites. Santos Correa et al. (2022) point out that "the development of artificial carbon-fixation pathways may be limited by the gap between theoretical predictions and their experimental realisation in synthetic biology. Moreover, attempts to synthesise new metabolic pathways in living organisms are challenging because of the limited understanding of the interactions between enzymes in heterologous systems" (Santos Correa et al., 2022, p. 10). However, some of these hurdles may be overcome with hermeting strategies (see Erb et al., 2017).



4. Horizon Scan

4.1. Bacteria

Many bacteria have the ability to efficiently sequester atmospheric CO₂ and play a key role in both the terrestrial and oceanic carbon (and methane and nitrogen) cycles (Barnett et al., 2021; Gougoulias et al., 2014; Jiao et al., 2010; Kandeler et al., 2005; Lechtenfeld et al., 2015; Naylor et al., 2020; Ogawa et al., 2001; Pomeroy et al., 2007). Notably, several bacterial species are currently being used to treat wastewater and in biomitigation of CO₂ in flue gases (de Morais et al., 2019). Moreover, bacteria reproduce rapidly, can exist in high-density cell cultures, have the ability to produce additive products (e.g., biofuels and bioplastics) and are relatively amenable to genetic engineering (Bharti et al., 2014). Then again, maintaining appropriate culturing conditions (in terms of pH, light, nutrients, temperature, contamination and so forth) requires significant labour (Costa et al., 2006; Goli et al., 2016; Jajesniak et al., 2014; Kumar et al., 2018; Saini et al., 2011). Consequently, Onyeaka and Ekwebelem (2022) argue that "[t]he major downside, from an economic standpoint, thus far has been related to methods for cultivation" (p. 1).

Cyanobacteria appear to be of particular interest from a biomitigation perspective, given that they account for 20-30% of the global CO₂ fixation (Pisciotta et al., 2010). Previously known as blue-green algae, cyanobacteria constitute a group of photoautotrophic bacteria that reside in a wide variety of marine and freshwater habitats (Flombaum et al., 2013; Pedersen & Miller, 2017; Puente-Sánchez et al., 2018). The relatively high CO₂ fixation efficiency of cyanobacteria owes to bacterial CCMs, including carboxysomes, which are protein microcompartments in which Rubisco and CA reside, and that help concentrate CO₂ around Rubisco (Long et al., 2018; Price et al., 2007). Moreover, cyanobacteria can convert CO₂ to recalcitrant calcium carbonate, which can be used as an agent for biomineralisation of CO₂ (Jansson & Northen, 2010). Additionally, cyanobacteria can be grown in hostile environments and be cultured on non-arable land with minimal nutrients (Lau et al., 2015; Pedersen & Miller, 2017; Puente-Sánchez et al., 2015; Pedersen & Miller, 2017; Puente-Sánchez et al., 2018).

Gene modification and editing have been reported in several species of cyanobacteria (Behler et al., 2018; Santos-Merino et al., 2019; Sun et al., 2018; Vijay et al., 2019; Zhang, Y. et al., 2019). This includes Synechoccus, which has been found to be particularly adept at carbon mitigation (Farrelly et al., 2013). Back in 2009, Atsumi et al. (2009) genetically modified S. elongatus PCC7942 to overexpress Rubisco, which doubled the productivity compared to the wild type. In a more recent study, Kanno et al. (2017) enhanced CO₂ fixation, glucose utilisation and chemical production in S. elongatus PCC 7942 by overexpressing and deleting genes involved in the Calvin cycle and the glycolysis pathway. De Porcellinis et al. (2018), in turn, demonstrated that overexpression of bifunctional fructose-1,6-biphosphatase/sedoheptulose-1,7-biphosphatase helped enhance photosynthesis in Synechococcus sp. PCC 7002. In another species of cyanobacteria, Synechocystis,



Kamennaya et al. (2015) used genetic engineered to install additional BicA bicarbonate transporters, which is a family of low-affinity, high-flux transporters involved in cyanobacterial CCMs that help improve photosynthetic carbon fixation (Wang, C. et al., 2019). This led to a two-fold increase in carbon acquisition, growth and biomass accumulation (Kamennaya et al., 2015). Liang and Linblad (2017), in turn, overexpressed Rubisco in Synechocystis PCC 6803, demonstrating increased growth and photosynthetic rate.

Turning now to synthetic biology approaches, Shih et al. (2014) introduced a synthetic photorespiratory bypass based on the 3HP bicycle (see footnote 2) in S. elongatus sp. PCC 7942, which directly avoided the net loss of carbon and nitrogen. In 2018, Yu et al. (2018) designed a synthetic malyl-coA-glycerate (MCG) pathways to augment the Calvin cycle, which was functionally demonstrated in Escherichia coli, followed by implementation into S. elongatus PCC7942. "This work", the authors concluded, "provides a strategy to improve carbon fixation efficiency in photosynthetic organisms" (Yu et al., 2018, p. 1). Of interest is also work by Antonovsky et al. (2016; 2017), in which the heterotrophic E. coli were transformed into autotrophs able to convert CO_2 into sugars and other biomass components.

However, Gale et al. (2019) note that, despite recent advances in synthetic biology and molecular tools for cyanobacterial research, most of the work published to date focuses on a small number of model species that are readily cultured under laboratory conditions, can be stored long-term by freezing and are amenable to genetic engineering (Elhai, 1993; Lea-Smith et al., 2016; Shestakov & Khyen, 1970; Stevens & Porter, 1980). This narrow focus "limits fundamental discovery and applied research towards wider commercialisation" (Gale et al., 2019, p. 1).

4.2. Archaea

Archaea are prokaryotic organisms that in many ways are similar to, albeit evolutionary distinct from, bacteria. Due to their special cellular membranes, archaea can withstand extreme environmental conditions, including high pressure, temperature, salinity, acidity and alkalinity. Importantly, many archaeal species play key roles in the global carbon cycle which, as noted by Nayak and Metcalf (2017), have "profound implications for climate change, yet our knowledge regarding the biology of these important organisms leaves much to be desired" (p. 2976). Interestingly, archaea are the only known organisms exhibiting so-called type III Rubisco enzymes. In Thermococcus kodakarensis, this version of Rubisco has been found to neither be affected nor inactivated by oxygen (Sato et al., 2007). Nishitani et al. (2010) have demonstrated that the enzyme also operates at ambient temperatures. Thus, Straub et al. (2018) note that "[t]he archaeal carbon fixation cycles provide an enzymatic toolkit to construct hybrid pathways that function over a wide range of temperature and pH. Since many of these enzymes retain significant activity at lower temperatures, their potential use is not limited to thermophile metabolic engineering, but may find use in photosynthetic plants and alga" (p. 548).



Wilson et al. (2016) transformed tobacco plants to express a Rubisco from the archaea Mehtanococcoides burtoni using conventional gene modification, which led to improvements in CO_2 fixation speed, CO_2 affinity and specificity for CO_2 . In turn, De Almeida Camargo and Pereira (2022), Panicker (2022) and Lie et al. (2022) are among the first to report the use of CRISPR-Cas editing in archaea. However, genome engineering of extremophiles remains challenging and time consuming (Panicker, 2022). Thus, there is both a need to improve our understanding of carbon fixation in archaea with the intention of using this knowledge to enhance carbon fixation in plants, bacteria or algae (Nishitani et al., 2010), as well as to establish efficient genome editing systems.

4.3. Algae

4.3.1. Microalgae

Microalgae are a group of unicellular and simple multicellular photosynthetic organisms responsible for half of the total global primary productivity (Yang et al., 2020). They have a relatively high photosynthetic efficiency due to algal CCMs, including the presence of pyrenoids (Cheah et al., 2015; Kurano et al., 1995; Moreira & Pires, 2016; Packer, 2009; Sayre, 2010; Viswanaathan et al., 2022). Pyrenoids are cellular sub-compartments that help concentrate CO_2 around Rubisco, thus reducing photorespiration (Tomar et al., 2017).⁸ In fact, microalgae can fix 10-50 times more CO_2 than terrestrial plants (Batista et al., 2015). Weerahandi et al. (2012) estimate that algae fix >65 Gt of carbon annually, which is equivalent to the carbon output of around sixty-five thousand 500 MW generating plants.⁹ Microalgal photosynthesis can also result in the precipitation of calcium carbonate, a potentially long-term sink of carbon (Aresta et al., 2005; Olaizola, 2003). Moreover, algae can sequester CO_2 to bioenergy and other value-added bioactive compounds (e.g., proteins and vitamins) (Onyeaka et al., 2021).¹⁰

Microalgae offer additional advantages for high-performance reduction of CO₂: (i) rapid growth rates (Batista et al., 2015; Bennion et al., 2015; Brilman et al., 2013; Cheah et al., 2015); (ii) the ability to withstand harsh environmental conditions, thus allowing cultivation in saline-alkali water, wastewater and deserts, which reduces pressure on arable land (Moreira & Pires, 2016; Wang et al., 2008); (iii) the opportunity to utilise wastewater as a nutrient source (Farrelly et al., 2013; Onyeaka et al., 2021); and (iv) the capacity to directly convert flue gases from power plants and other

⁸ Research on pyrenoids is fragmented and more knowledge is needed to understand the physiological mechanism of microalgal carbon sequestration (Gayathri et al., 2021; Raven et al., 2008).

⁹ However, Xu et al. (2019) note that "the analysis of carbon sequestration efficiency of existing microalgae is relatively simple. The main reason is that the existing data are not quantified, and there is a lack of standardized working framework and efficiency analysis model and process based on it" (p. 76).

¹⁰ Diatoms, a type of silicified microalgae that contribute roughly 20% of global net primary productivity (Field et al., 1998; Nelson et al., 1995), remain a relatively underexplored group of microalgae with great potential and amenability for CO2 uptake and fixation at industrial scale (Sethi et al., 2020). Moving forward, there is a need to expand our knowledge about the carbon metabolism in diatoms, including the localisation and functionality of their enzymes (Sethi et al., 2020).



industrial exhaust gases into inorganic carbon (Arun et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2008), thus avoiding the cost of pre-treatment and CO_2 separation (Farrelly et al., 2013; Olaizola, 2003). Because of these advantages, microalgae are recognised as offering one of the most effective, environmentally friendly, economically feasible and sustainable approaches to carbon sequestration (Alami et al., 2021; Basu et al., 2014; Moreira & Pires, 2016; Quiroz Arita et al., 2016).

Still, microalgae do have relatively low photosynthetic capacity, which remains one of the most critical hurdles in moving towards scalable solutions, in addition to high costs associated with phototrophic cultivation, including cost of operations, infrastructure, maintenance, mass production and so forth. Encouragingly, studies have identified over 300 candidate photosynthesis genes in algae that can potentially be targeted through genetic engineering (Li, X. et al., 2019). The next subsections will address some of the attempts at enhancing photosynthetic carbon sequestration in microalgae (Barati et al., 2021; Grama et al., 2022). Note, however, that genetic engineering still remains challenging because the algal cell wall act as a barrier to vector delivery and due to high degrees of silencing, among other things (Jeong Br et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2015; Puchta & Fauser, 2013; Wu-Scharf et al., 2000).¹¹

4.3.1.1. Engineering the Calvin cycle

Several attempts at engineering the Calvin cycle in microalgae have been carried out. For instance, Wei et al. (2017) enhanced the photosynthetic productivity in Nannochloropsis oceanica by overexpressing native Rubisco activase, which helps maintain Rubisco in its active configuration. The authors argued that the work "expands the reservoir of potential photosynthetic gene targets for plant biotechnology and provides a basis for constructing advanced microalgal cell factories for carbon sequestration and biofuel production" (p. 366). In a later study by Wei et al. (2019), they knocked down cytosolic CA in N. oceanica which resulted in ~45%, ~30% and ~40% elevation of photosynthetic oxygen evolution rate, growth rate and biomass accumulation rate under high carbon conditions, respectively. Another target for genetic transformation of the Calvin cycle is SBPase, which exerts strong metabolic control over RuBP regeneration at light saturation (Fang et al., 2012; Hammel et al., 2020). For instance, Fang et al. (2012) demonstrated that the overexpression of SBPase from Chlamydomonas improved the photosynthetic activity in Dunaliella bardawil.

Overexpression of aldolase, which also plays an important role in controlling the rate of RuBP regeneration (Iwaki et al., 1991), has also been found to increase the photosynthetic efficiency of microalgae (Fang et al., 2012; Ma et al., 2007; Ogawa et al., 2015; Work et al., 2012). For instance, Yang et al. (2017) improved the photosynthetic capacity of Chlorella vulgaris 1.2-fold by introducing FBPA from cyanobacteria (also see, e.g., Ogawa et al., 2015). The

¹¹ However, digestion of the cell wall and preassembled Cas9 protein-gRNA ribonucleoproteins that do not require vector constructs appear to be promising approaches to overcoming the challenge of delivery.



authors assert that "aldolase is probably considered to be one of the most promising candidate targets for engineering to increase the photosynthetic CO_2 fixation" (p. 2). Another promising target is the Ci accumulation 5 regulator (Cia5) gene, which appears to be a master regulator of algal CCM activity (Asadian et al., 2022; Fukuzawa et al., 2001; Xiang et al., 2001). Finally, Naduthodi et al. (2021) note how the development of "techniques to assemble the red alga RuBisCO in microalgae could be an interesting approach towards enhancing CO_2 fixation" (p. 1024), owing to its high CO_2/O_2 specificity factor.

4.3.1.2. Reducing non-photochemical quenching, enhancing light absorption and engineering the electron transport chain

Algae lose absorbed solar energy through the process of non-photochemical quenching (NPQ), which is influenced by the lag in the adaptation of photosystem antenna sizes to light conditions.¹² Reducing the antenna size by genetic engineering has been explored as a strategy to reduce NPQ and improve photosynthetic efficiency (Beckmann et al., 2009; Cazzaniga et al., 2014; Friedland et al., 2019; Kirst et al., 2012; Masuda et al., 2003; Mussgnug et al., 2007; Naduthodi et al., 2021; Negi et al., 2020; Perrine et al., 2012; Verruto et al., 2018). Furthermore, the photosystem of plants and microalgae absorb light in the visible range (400-700 nm), meaning that only 50% of the available solar radiation is utilised (Blankenship et al., 2011). Thus, another approach is to introduce photosystems with higher light-harvesting efficiency or wider absorption spectrum (e.g., the infrared) (Gimpel et al., 2016), such as from bacteria (Vinyard et al., 2014).

Besides introducing novel photosystem complexes, the absorption range can be increased by introducing biosynthetic pathways for non-native pigments (Naduthodi et al., 2021). For instance, Koh et al. (2019; 2020) introduced the chlorophyllide a oxygenase gene from C. reinhardtii into N. salina to produce chlorophyll b, which is foreign to N. salina. While the purpose of the research was to increase cell number, cell dry weight and total lipid content, the results demonstrated the possibility of expressing non-native pigments to increase photosynthetic efficiency in microalgae. Naduthodi et al. (2021) identify the recently discovered chlorophyll f synthase, which produces the far-red lightabsorbing chlorophyll f, as an interesting candidate gene (see, e.g., Trinugroho et al., 2020). It may also be possible to increase the light spectrum accessible to microalgae by expressing UV-absorbing pigments from Antarctic plants (Naduthodi et al., 2021; Post & Larkum, 1993). Finally, to

¹² The photosystems are found in the thylakoid membranes (organelles within the chloroplasts in which the lightdependent reactions of photosynthesis take place) and are responsible for absorbing and transferring light energy (Yahia et al., 2019). The photosystems are composed of two basic operational units: the antenna complex and the reaction centre. The former consists of hundreds of pigment molecules that capture photons and transfer the light energy to the latter, which contains chlorophyll. When the chlorophyll becomes excited, electron transfer is initiated through the ETC (Yahia et al., 2019). We distinguish between photosystem I (PSI) and II (PSI).



improve ETC reactions, rate-limiting protein complexes in the ETC could be replaced with faster variants to improve the electron flow and reduce NPQ (Naduthodi et al., 2021; Saif Hasan & Cramer, 2012).

4.3.2. Macroalgae

A significant proportion of the net primary productivity of macroalgae (seaweed) is exported and sequestered directly to the deep ocean as dislodged seaweed tissue (Gallagher et al., 2022). Indirect measures indicate that macroalgae can sequester roughly around 173 TgC yr⁻¹ globally (with a range between 61 and 268 TgC yr⁻¹) (Krause-Jensen & Duarte, 2016). Interest in macroalgae has been growing in recent years, mostly with regards to their use as a sustainable bioenergy feedstock or with respect to ocean afforestation (Chung et al., 2011; Laurens et al., 2020). However, genetic transformation of macroalgae has been lagging (Lin & Qin, 2014; Mikami, 2014; Qin et al., 2012; Robinson et al., 2013; but do see, e.g., Blomme et al., 2020). This partly owes to their complex morphology, sexual reproduction and life histories, as well as a lack of macroalgal functional genomics (Gupta et al., 2017). Moreover, there are reasons to question the amount of carbon that can be sequestered using macroalgae (in fact, seaweed farming may turn out to become a net source of CO₂) and the practicalities and economic and ecological implications of large-scale cultivation (Bach et al., 2021; Boyd et al., 2022; Gallagher et al., 2022; NASEM, 2021).

4.4. Fungi

Fungi, a group of heterotrophic eukaryotes, play a key role in both the marine and terrestrial carbon cycles (Malyan et al., 2019; Orsi et al., 2022; Pawłowska et al., 2019; Sellappan et al., 2022). Whereas several species of fungi are decomposers, thus releasing CO_2 to the atmosphere, other types of fungi contribute significantly to the formation and stabilisation of soil organic matter and have been found to store 26 times more carbon than bacteria (Six et al., 2006). For instance, mycorrhizal fungi, which form symbiotic relationships with the roots of most plants, help sequester carbon in the soil via several mechanisms (Averill & Hawkes, 2016; Clemmensen et al., 2013; Jastrow et al., 2007; Sellappan et al., 2022; Treseder & Holden, 2013). Among others, their cell walls are made up of complex and durable molecules such as melanin and chitin, which render fungal biomass and by-products recalcitrant to degradation (Guggenberger et al., 1999; Holland & Coleman, 1987). Additionally, the hyphae of mycorrhizal fungi and their secretions (including glomalin, which is an insoluble glue-like substance) also help stabilise macroaggregates in the soil (Jastrow et al., 2007). Ahmed et al. (2019) argue that glomalin "is the main factor that influences the carbon sequestration and storage in soil, either directly or indirectly by influencing other carbon sequestration factors" (p. 10). Consequently,



some fungi are considered promising candidates for microbial inoculants to increase organic carbon in soils (Ahmed et al., 2019).¹³

Still, "the exact carbon sequential potential of mycorrhizal fungi still remains to be estimated" (Malyan et al., 2019, p. 287), and the mechanisms by which fungi sequester carbon are yet to be fully understood. Additionally, genetic engineering of filamentous fungi (such as mycorrhizae) has been challenging due to their more complex genetic background. However, while some technical hurdles remain (Alberti et al., 2020; Liao et al., 2021; Lichius et al., 2020; Song et al., 2019), the advent of CRISPR-Cas is changing the landscape of molecular breeding in filamentous fungi (Cho et al., 2014; Deng et al., 2017; Leisen et al., 2020; Nagy et al., 2017; Schuster & Kahmann, 2019; Song et al., 2019; Ullah et al., 2020; van Leeuwe et al., 2019; Wang & Coleman, 2019; Zou et al., 2021).¹⁴ Still, we were unable to identify any studies applying biotechnology to enhance the carbon sequestration capacity of filamentous fungi. Thus, this remains an underexplored and intriguing field of research.

Yeast, in turn, are unicellular and heterotrophic eukaryotes that have been used as cellular factories for centuries, thanks to their easy culturing, rapid growth and readiness to genetic transformation. During the last few years, the CRISPR system has become widely applied in yeast (DiCarlo et al., 2013; Fraczek et al., 2018; Liao et al., 2021; Yang & Blenner, 2020), also for metabolic engineering (Gassler et al., 2019; Peña et al., 2018; Prielhofer et al., 2017; Weninger et al., 2016). While most of these studies have been carried out with the intention of improving food and quality traits, producing metabolites and other value-added compounds and fighting pathogenic fungi (e.g., in plants), could it be possible to genetically engineer yeast to function as cellular factories for carbon fixation?

In a study published in Nature, Gassler et al. (2020) used synthetic biology and gene editing to transform the heterotrophic yeast Pichia pastoris into an autotroph that grows on CO₂. This was achieved by engineering the peroxisomal methanol-assimilation pathway of P. pastoris into a CO₂-fixation pathway resembling the Calvin cycle. The authors argue that "[t]his engineered P. pastoris strain may promote sustainability by sequestering the greenhouse gas CO₂, and by avoiding consumption of an organic feedstock with alternative uses in food production" (p. 210).

4.5. Higher plants

While algal and bacterial, and potentially also archaeal and mycorrhizal, biosequestration systems offer advantages over plants, plant-based systems can be more rapidly deployed and remain the most well-researched (Giddings et al., 2020), with well-established genetic transformation systems in several species (Jansson et

¹³ Mycorrhizal fungi have also been tested for CH4 capture and studies indicate "an overlooked, potentially large role for fungi and their soil necromass in capturing and reducing CH4 emissions from soils in nature" (Liew & Schilling, 2020, p. 1467).

¹⁴ We do not address macrofungi as we consider these to be of less relevance to biosequestration.



al., 2021).¹⁵ Next, we address several approaches to enhanced biosequestration in plants: (i) improving the Calvin cycle; (ii) bypassing photorespiration; (iii) engineering C₄ photosynthesis into C₃ plants; (iv) accelerating recovery from photoprotection; (v) engineering aquaporins; (vi) increasing soil carbon sequestration; (vii) modifying canopy structure; and (viii) enhancing trees as carbon sinks.

4.5.1. Improving the Calvin cycle

Several modelling studies and transgenic experiments have demonstrated that overexpression of enzymes in the Calvin cycle, including Rubisco, can increase the photosynthetic rate in plants (e.g., Simkin, 2019; Simkin et al., 2019; Whitney et al., 2015; Zhu et al., 2007; Zhu et al., 2010). For instance, Cai et al. (2014) developed a mutant version of Rubisco, which resulted in an 85% increase in carboxylation activity and 45% increase in catalytic efficiency towards CO₂. Another approach includes replacing the native Rubisco enzyme with a variant from bacteria or algae that exhibit desirable properties, such as higher specificity towards CO₂ (Conlan & Whitney, 2018; Long et al., 2016; Zhu, X.-G. et al., 2004). Introduced alongside other components of bacterial or algal CCM (e.g., pyrenoids, carboxysomes or bicarbonate transporters), such approaches can help enhance photosynthetic carbon assimilation in higher plants (Atkinson et al., 2017; Fang et al., 2021; Hanson et al., 2016; Price et al., 2010; Price et al., 2017; Rolland et al., 2016).

For example, Lin et al. (2014) transformed tobacco plants to express Rubisco from the cyanobacterium S. elongatus PCC7942, which resulted in higher rates of CO_2 fixation. Long et al. (2018) used synthetic biology to construct a simplified synthetic carboxysome similar to the one found in the cyanobacterium Cyanobium marinum, which was subsequently introduced into the chloroplast of tobacco (also see, e.g., Long et al., 2016; Price et al., 2010; Rae et al., 2017). Long et al. (2018) considered their study "a critical and complex engineering milestone towards the longer-term goal of attaining a functional chloroplastic CCM in C_3 crop plants" (p. 6). Studies have also demonstrated that transgene expression of bicarbonate transporters from cyanobacteria (such as ictB) can enhance photosynthesis and growth in plants by reducing the oxygenation reaction of Rubisco (Hay, 2012; Hay et al., 2017; Lieman-Hurwitz et al., 2003; Lieman-Hurwitz et al., 2005; Price et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2008).

Other central proteins in the Calvin cycle, such as SBPase and FBPA, have also been genetically engineered (Ding et al., 2016; Driever et al., 2017; Lefebvre et al., 2005). Busch and Miller (2022) report that overexpression of these proteins resulted in increased carbon fixation in Arabidopsis thaliana (also see, e.g., Rosenthal et al., 2011; Simkin et al., 2015; Simkin et al., 2017). Alternatively, foreign SBPase, such as from cyanobacteria, has also been expressed in the chloroplast of higher plants to enhance photosynthetic carbon assimilation (Miyagawa et al., 2001; Tamoi et al.,

¹⁵ In a report by the McKinsey Global Institute, however, it is argued that while plants genetically engineered to sequester CO2 show promise in the laboratory, commercial viability and adoption by farmers and other end-users are further away in the future (Chui et al., 2020).



2006). Chida et al. (2007), in turn, achieved a 1.3-fold increase in the CO_2 fixation capacity in A. thaliana by expressing cytochrome C6 from algae. Cytochrome C6 is an electron carrier present in all microalgae that has been evolutionarily eliminated from the chloroplast of higher plants (replaced by plastocyanin). Similarly, López-Calcagno et al. (2020) transformed tobacco to express both algal cytochrome C6 and the cyanobacterial FBP/SBPase, which led to a notable increase in photosynthetic carbon assimilation.

4.5.2. Bypassing photorespiration

One way of increasing carbon assimilation is by bypassing the photorespiratory pathway (Peterhansel et al., 2013a; Xin et al., 2014), although the effectiveness of such approaches will depend on the complex regulation between photorespiration and other metabolic pathways (Ogren, 1984; Peterhansel et al., 2013b; Somerville & Ogren, 1982; Xin et al., 2014).¹⁶ Photorespiratory bypass can be achieved in different ways, such as by modulating enzymes within the Calvin cycle and photorespiration, as addressed in the previous section (e.g., overexpression of SBPase). Additionally, naturally occurring and more efficient photorespiration routes and synthetic photorespiratory bypasses that do not release CO_2 can be introduced (Bar-Even, 2018).

As an example of the former, Kebeish et al. (2007) genetically modified A. thaliana to express the glycolate catabolic pathway found in E. coli, which helped reduce photorespiration (for similar studies, see e.g., Carvalho et al., 2011; Dalal et al., 2015). The authors argue that "[d]iverting chloroplastic glycolate from photorespiration may improve the productivity of crops with C₃ photosynthesis" (p. 593). As an example of the latter, South et al. (2019) used synthetic biology to engineer more efficient photorespiratory pathways in tobacco (also see, e.g., Maurino, 2019; South & Ort, 2017). Roell et al. (2021) recently introduced a synthetic bypass into A. thaliana, which was based on the β -hydroxyaspartate cycle present in marine proteobacteria. The authors contended that "our proof-of-principle study demonstrates an approach to turn a photorespiratory bypass into a carbon concentrating mechanism by synergistically coupling photorespiration and C4 metabolism" (p. 2).

4.5.3. Engineering C4 photosynthesis into C3 plants¹⁷

Three different types of photosynthesis exist in higher plants: C_3 , C_4 and CAM (Packer, 2009; Poschenrieder et al., 2018).¹⁸ C_3 is the most common, albeit least efficient and is found in several economically important crops such as wheat, rice and soybean. C_4 is found in only around 3% of land species, including maize, sorghum and sugarcane (Sage et al., 1999), and evolved as an adaptation to low

¹⁶ Some evidence suggests that reducing photorespiration may not necessarily have beneficial effects (Betti et al., 2016).

¹⁷ Genes from halophytes, i.e., salt-tolerant plants, can also be transferred to C3 plants to improve carbon assimilation and stress tolerance (Yadav & Mishra, 2020).

¹⁸ The names C3 and C4 refer to the number of carbon atoms in the compounds produced by photosynthesis (Jansson et al., 2010).



levels of O_2 in hot, arid regions (Osborne & Sack, 2012; Sage, 2004). In contrast to C_3 plants, in which Rubisco operates at around 25% of the maximum carboxylation rate (Maier et al., 2012), C_4 photosynthesis "allows Rubisco to operate closer to its maximal carboxylation rate, reducing the oxygenation reaction and thereby reducing carbon losses caused by photorespiration" (Raines, 2006, p. 334).

Thus, conferring some of the efficiency advantages from C₄ to C₃ plants is a major area of research (Covshoff & Hibberd, 2012; Edwards et al., 2001; Giddings et al., 2020; Leegood, 2002; Leegood, 2013; Li et al., 2017; Schuler et al., 2016; von Caemmerer et al., 2012; Whitney et al., 2011; Yadav & Mishra, 2020).¹⁹ This can be achieved by introducing C₄ genes into C₃ plants (Yadav & Mishra, 2019), and/or by knocking out genes that suppress the C₄ cycle in C₃ plants (Patel & Mishra, 2019; Schuler et al., 2016). Overexpression of essential C₄ photosynthetic genes such as PEPC, PPDK and NADP-ME have been shown to enhance photosynthesis in tobacco (Laporte et al., 2002; Müller et al., 2018), potato (Häusler et al., 2001; Ishimaru et al., 1998), rice (Bandyopadhyay et al., 2007; Gu et al., 2013; Shen et al., 2015; Taniguchi et al., 2008) and wheat (Kershanskaya & Teixeira da Silva, 2010; Peng et al., 2018).

However, due to anatomical differences between C_3 and C_4 plants (the latter exhibit so-called Kranz anatomy), it is not only necessary to include C_4 genes, but indeed finetune the biochemistry and anatomy of the C_3 plants (von Caemmerer et al., 2012). As explained by Schuler et al. (2016): "in the age of synthetic biology, this still remains a monumental task, partially because the C_4 carbon-concentrating biochemical cycle spans two cell types and thus requires specialised anatomy" (p. 51). It is also important to note that C_4 genes may have negative genetic trade-offs with other economically important traits, which need to be mapped (Driever & Kromdijk, 2013). Thus, Cui (2021) argues that, while "[m]uch effort has been taken in the past to introduce the C4 mechanism into C3 plants, (...) none of these attempts has met with success" (p. 1).

4.5.4. Accelerating recovery from photoprotection

Plants have evolved several mechanisms, including NPQ (see section 4.3.1.2), to protect against excess sunlight and excessive heat that can otherwise cause photooxidative damage (particularly of PSII, see footnote 12), in which the photosynthetic machinery is turned off (Li et al., 2009). However, there is considerable lag in restoring photosynthesis. Thus, by accelerating the recovery time from photoprotection, photosynthetic CO₂ fixation can be enhanced (Kromdijk et al., 2016; Zhu, X. G. et al., 2004). This was successfully achieved by Kromdijk et al. (2016) in tobacco through transgenic expression of three genes from A. thaliana. Building on the work by Kromdijk et al. (2016), De Souza et al. (2022) recently published an article where they improved photosynthesis and yield in soybean by

¹⁹ The introduction of CAM, which allows nocturnal CO2 uptake, into C3 species have received less research attention than C4 engineering of C3 plants and is mostly considered with respect to the ability to increase water-use efficiency (Borland et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2015).



accelerating recovery from photoprotection through overexpression of three genes that encode proteins of the xanthophyll cycle, which is involved in the photoprotection of plants. Li et al. (2020), in turn, demonstrated that expression of the GOLDEN2-LIKE gene from maize, which is an important transcription factor that activates several photosynthesis-related proteins, reduced photoinhibition and improved photosynthesis in rice.²⁰

Plants have also evolved repair mechanisms to prevent accumulation of damaged PSII. Surprisingly, when Chen et al. (2020) developed transgenic Arabidopsis plants expressing the psbA gene, which encodes a subunit of a protein involved in PSII repair, they found that this enhanced net CO₂ assimilation rates. The authors contend that the "findings represent a breakthrough in bioengineering plants to achieve efficient photosynthesis and increase crop productivity under normal and heat-stress conditions" (p. 570).

4.5.5. Engineering aquaporins

Aquaporins are water channel proteins involved in the transportation of, among others, water and CO_2 across the membranes of thylakoids and chloroplasts, and thus are essential for proper functioning of photosynthesis (Flexas et al., 2006; Gao et al., 2018; Hanba et al., 2004; Kawase et al., 2013; Patel & Mishra, 2021; Sade et al., 2009). Overexpression of genes encoding aquaporins have been suggested as targets to increase the availability of CO_2 and enhance stress tolerance and yield in crops (Ermakova et al., 2021; Shekoofa & Sinclair, 2018; Wang et al., 2017; Wang, X. et al., 2019).

4.5.6. Increasing soil carbon sequestration

In this section, we consider three main ways of increasing carbon sequestration in the soil by plants: (i) changing root architecture; (ii) changing the biochemical composition of roots; and (iii) turning annuals into perennials.

4.5.6.1. Changing root architecture

Several root traits have the potential to enhance carbon accumulation and lifetime in the soil. For instance, by engineering plants with deeper and more extensive root systems, it is possible to store fixed carbon for longer (Busch & Miller, 2022; Giddings et al., 2020; Paustian et al., 2016).²¹ However, while several traits associated with root architecture are under genetic control and thus can be targeted using genetic engineering (Ogura et al., 2019; Uga et al., 2011; Uga et al., 2013), such traits are generally found to have low heritability (Chen et al., 2014; Malamy, 2005; Palta & Turner, 2019; Siddique et al., 1990). Moreover, while it is well known that root systems play a key role in soil

²⁰ Photoinhibition refers to the process where excess light reduces photosynthetic efficiency.

²¹ Breeding for certain root traits can also enable more efficient water and nutrient uptake (Abdolshahi et al., 2015; Lynch, 2013; Manschadi et al., 2006; Zhan et al., 2015; but do see Palta & Turner, 2019).



carbon sequestration, research is still needed to determine which root characteristics are, in fact, important for maximising sequestration and ensuring long-term storage (Jansson et al., 2021). Additionally, there is a lack of efficient methods for observing and quantifying root growth in the field (Waines & Ehdaie, 2007). Finally, potential trade-offs between breeding for traits related to root architecture and, for instance, above-ground biomass need to be evaluated.

Still, several research groups are engineering crops with enhanced soil carbon sequestration, including the <u>Harnessing Plants Initiative</u> at the Salk Institute. Additionally, a <u>research team led by Pamela Ronald</u> at the University of California, Davis, is currently screening thousands of rice strains with beneficial root traits. Once these have been identified, they will use CRISPR-Cas to further optimise the traits. At Stanford, a team led by Jennifer Brophy is designing a series of synthetic genetic circuits that allow them to modify, among others, root structures (Brophy et al., 2022).

4.5.6.2. Changing the biochemical composition of roots

Suberin, sporopollenin and lignin are all complex, recalcitrant compounds that may help increase the carbon content of roots and make roots more resistant to decomposition (Busch & Miller, 2022; Kell, 2012; Lorenz et al., 2007). Thus, by developing roots rich in such compounds, it may be possible to store carbon below ground for longer, with the potential added benefit of improved protection against abiotic and biotic stressors (Busch & Miller, 2022; Schweitzer et al., 2021). Thanks to studies in cork oak, several of the key enzymes involved in the biosynthesis of suberin have been identified (Wunderling et al., 2018). The Harnessing Plants Initiative mentioned above is seeking to increase suberin production in crops, including cover crops (Salk, n.d.).

Sporopollenin, in turn, is found in the outer wall of the spores and pollen grains of land plants and is extremely chemically inert as it helps protect the gametes against environmental stressors (Mackenzie et al., 2015).²² Recently, Li et al. (2019) determined the molecular structure of pine sporopollenin, which is an important step in the direction of designing new biomimetic polymers with desirable inert properties (Li, F. S. et al., 2019). Researchers from the <u>Whitehead Institute and MIT</u> are currently investigating the possibility of enhancing carbon sequestration by genetically targeting sporopollenin as well as suberin.

²² Sporopollenin has been identified in the outer cell wall of some algal species, such as Auxenochlorella protothecoides. Living Carbon is currently genetically engineering microalgae to express higher levels of sporopollenin to increase biomass that can be used for durable carbon removal. In the long term, Living Carbon will expand their sporopollenin project to trees, grasses and other plants.



Finally, lignin is deposited in the secondary cell wall of all vascular plants, where it constitutes a kind of cellular glue that provides rigidity to the cell wall, and it serves key functions in abiotic and biotic stress tolerance as well as water transportation (Frei, 2013). While it has been suggested that lignin plays an important role in carbon cycling in soil (Tuomela et al., 2000; Zech et al., 1997), this is currently being debated in light of research suggesting that lignin-derived compounds have low accumulation in stable carbon pools (Carrington et al., 2012; Gleixner et al., 2002; Kiem & Kögel-Knabner, 2003; Marschner et al., 2008; Thevenot et al., 2010). This may be because lignin does not associate as readily with soil minerals (Thevenot et al., 2010). Thus, the role of lignin in long-term carbon sequestration remains to be fully elucidated.

4.5.6.3. Turning annuals into perennials

Several fruit, nut and forage crops, as well as some vegetable crops, are perennials, meaning that they live longer than one year and can be harvested repeatedly. In contrast, many cereals, oilseeds and legumes are annuals that must be sown each year, which not only disturbs the soil but leaves limited time for root systems to develop, thus contributing to carbon losses. Consequently, perennializing annual crops can help retain carbon in the soil, while also saving farm labour and cost related to replanting (DeHaan et al., 2020). The genetics of these major traits, however, are not well understood (Giddings et al., 2020). Still, while most of this research is at the laboratory or early pilot stage (Mulligan et al., 2020), a strain of perennial rice was commercialised in China in 2018 (Huang et al., 2018).

4.5.7. Modifying canopy structure

Canopy photosynthesis describes the photosynthesis of an entire crop field (the top and bottom layer leaves). In the canopy, the upper layer leaves commonly receive more light than their saturation level, while the lower level leaves are usually limited by available light (Song et al., 2017). Thus, improvement of canopy structure and light distribution inside the canopy has been an active area of research for at least two decades (Burgess et al., 2017; Drewry et al., 2014; Ort et al., 2010; Reynolds et al., 2000; Richards, 2000; Sakamoto et al., 2006; Sakamoto & Matsuoka, 2008; Song et al., 2017; Yamamuro et al., 2000). Ways in which to improve canopy photosynthesis include, most notably, manipulating the angle of the leaf and the leaf nitrogen distribution (Reynolds et al., 2000). More recently, genome editing has been used to change traits related to canopy structure (Fei et al., 2019; Fladung, 2021; Liao et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2020).

Relatedly, albedo biogeoengineering aims to enhance canopy albedo by selecting for leaf glossiness and/or canopy morphologic traits that maximise solar reflectivity, thus theoretically reducing the temperature of the atmosphere. Ridgwell et al. (2009) quantified that such an approach could result in a summertime cooling of more than 1°C throughout much of central North America and midlatitude Eurasia.



4.5.8. Enhancing trees as carbon sinks

While trees are known to effectively and efficiently sequester CO₂, the rate at which this occurs is limited by C₃ metabolism (Tao et al., 2022). Genetic engineering of trees is challenging due to the complexity of their genomes and long generation times. Still, trees have been genetically modified to have greater growth rate, yield, wood quality and drought and disease resistance, among others (ISAAA, 2017). However, relatively little research and development have been conducted on enhanced carbon capture in trees. There are some notable exceptions, however, including the work by Living Carbon, which has genetically engineered seedlings of the poplar tree to reduce the transportation of glycolate, a by-product of photorespiration, out of chloroplast, along with a shunt pathway to metabolise the retained glycolate back to CO_2 for fixation through the Calvin cycle. In a non-peerreviewed preprint, Living Carbon reports a 53% increase in the production of above-ground biomass in the best-performing seedlings (Tao et al., 2022).

However, the data were collected when the seedlings were harvested at five months. Thus, whether the trees will be able to store carbon in the long run (e.g., >50 years), as well as whether they will maintain high growth rates and health through their lifetime, remain to be seen. Indeed, DeLisi et al. (2020) argue that "[a] decade or more of research would likely be required just for proof of principle of a tree-based carbon drawdown strategy" (p. 4). The genetically engineered seedlings developed by Living Carbon are currently undergoing a four-year-long field trial in cooperation with Oregon State University, in addition to longer-term field testing together with farmers. Additionally, the company is developing a metal hyper-accumulating trait that slows down the rate of decomposition, thus extending the durability of the stored carbon.

4.6. Other research areas of potential interest

The following research areas currently fall outside the scope of CTRF but may represent potential investment opportunities in the future as they depend on or mimic natural processes.

4.6.1. Ruminant livestock

 CH_4 is the second most important anthropogenically emitted GHG, with emissions having more than doubled since pre-industrial times (Wuebbles & Hayhoe, 2002). CH_4 is a potent GHG, with a global warming potential over 25 times that of CO_2 (Gerber et al., 2013).²³ CH_4 is also highly reactive and impacts the chemistry of both the

²³ However, emissions of methane do not accumulate, and methane has an atmospheric lifetime of around 12 years, while CO2 has an atmospheric lifetime of centuries or even millennia (Cain et al., 2019; Collins et al., 2020; Smith et al., 2021). Accordingly, "even a very moderate reduction of global CH4 emissions at a rate of about 0.3% per year would stabilize warming from CH4 at approximately current levels" (Reisinger et al., 2021, p. 3). This has led some to argue that reducing CH4 emissions is not a necessary part of climate action. However, Reisinger et al. (2021) find "that failure to reduce livestock CH4 emissions would reduce the remaining carbon budget consistent with this temperature goal [limiting warming to 1.5°C] by almost one-quarter" (p. 11). Additionally, De Haas (2021) argues that "[a] continuous reduction in CH4 intensity through breeding for low(er) emitting cows will help in reaching the targets set at the Paris COP meeting in 2015" (pp. 3-4).



troposphere and stratosphere (de Haas et al., 2017; Eckard et al., 2010; Wuebbles & Hayhoe, 2002). Livestock is the most significant anthropogenic source of methane (O'Mara, 2011), with CH_4 emissions expected to increase as the demand for animal protein grows (Mbow et al., 2019; 2018).²⁴

Enteric fermentation is the process by which ruminant livestock (cattle, sheep, bisons, goats, deer and camels) digest fibrous plant materials (McAllister et al., 2015; Owens & Basalan, 2016). Thanks to a complex microbial community, which includes anaerobic bacteria and archaea (including so-called methanogens), protozoa and fungi, hydrogen (H₂) and CO₂ are converted to methane (de Haas et al., 2017).²⁵ 95% of this methane is belched by the ruminant (Murray et al., 1976). This represents a loss of energy which, in addition to nitrogen loss, is one of the main causes of inefficiency in ruminant production systems (Dijkstra et al., 2013; Johnson & Johnson, 1995).

Individual animal differences in methane production owe to several factors, including grazing behaviour, type of feed, anatomical and physiological differences in the gastrointestinal tract, fermentation conditions and microbial activity (Hegarty et al., 2010; Iqbal et al., 2008). Accordingly, several strategies have been employed to mitigate enteric CH₄ production by ruminants, including feed and feed additives and other nutritional interventions, animal-, soil- and fertiliser management, and vaccines, bacteriocins, phage therapy and probiotics to control methanogens (Eckard et al., 2010; Martin et al., 2010; Ouwerkerk et al., 2011).²⁶ However, such approaches have often yielded mixed or inconclusive results.

Growing evidence, however, suggests a link between animals genetics and the rumen microbial population (Guan et al., 2008; Pszczola et al., 2018; Wallace et al., 2019), digestive function (Hegarty, 2004), and feed intake and feed efficiency (Arthur et al., 2001; Richardson et al., 1996). Furthermore, studies indicate that, in addition to sizeable genetic variation, the heritability of traits associated with methane emission are within the range necessary for breeding (Breider et al., 2019; Donoghue et al., 2013; Lassen & Løvendahl, 2016; Lassen & Difford, 2020; Manzanilla-Pech et al., 2016; Pinares-Patiño et al., 2013; Pszczola et al., 2017; Zetouni et al., 2018). These findings indicate the possibility of selecting for lower-emitting cows, which comes with the added benefits of being cost-effective, permanent and cumulative (in contrast to other strategies for reducing ruminant emissions) (de Haas et al., 2021;

²⁴ There are other agricultural species, such as rice, which emit substantial amounts of CH4. Thus, genetic engineering has been applied to develop lower-emitting rice (e.g., Su et al., 2015).

²⁵ Research is being conducted on developing biofilters containing bacteria that metabolise methane (see the Lidstrom Lab in the Appendix). Assuming installation at tens of thousands of emission sites, these biofilters could remove a total of 0.3 Gt methane by 2050 (Giddings, 2022).

²⁶ Efforts are underway to genetically edit plants used as livestock feed to reduce ruminant methane emission. Among others, researchers at Rothamsted have established a proof-of-concept using CRISPR-Cas9 to increase leaf oil content in A. thaliana, which has been shown to increase livestock productivity and suppress enteric methane emissions (Beechey-Gradwell et al., 2022; Bhunia et al., 2022; Winichayakul et al., 2020). Additionally, genome editing of methanogenic archaea has also been suggested to reduce CH4 production from ruminant livestock (de Almeida Camargo & Pereira, 2022; Nayak & Metcalf, 2017).



Hayes et al., 2013; Knapp et al., 2014). Conventional selection experiments in beef cattle and sheep demonstrate a decrease in CH₄ production when selecting for low CH₄ lines (Jonker et al., 2017; Pinares-Patiño et al., 2013).

However, more information is needed about the genetic correlation between traits related to CH₄ production and other economically important traits, such as milk yield, dry matter intake, fertility, health and body conformation (Wall et al., 2010; Weller et al., 2017; Zetouni et al., 2018). Encouragingly, some studies indicate minimal consequences of selection for reduced CH₄ emissions on traits related to reproduction and health (e.g., Lassen & Difford, 2020; López-Paredes et al., 2020). Still, "analyses of larger datasets are needed to confirm or deny the genetic correlation structure of other traits" (de Haas et al., 2021, p. 6).

While CRISPR-Cas has been employed in a wide variety of livestock, most studies focus on disease resistance, product quality and productivity, with a few exploring ways of making livestock more climate-smart (notably by making them more tolerant to heat) (Bellini, 2018; Laible et al., 2021; Nigam & Bhoomika, 2022). Thus, while genome editing to reduce CH_4 emission from ruminant livestock appears to be on the table (Giddings et al., 2020; Morrison, 2021; Osborne, 2019), little peer-reviewed literature has yet to be published on the topic.

4.6.2. Biological nitrate inhibitors and enhanced nitrogen use efficiency

Following CO₂ and CH₄, N₂O is the most potent GHG (Solomon et al., 2007), with a long atmospheric lifetime as well as being an ozone-depleting substance (Ravishankara et al., 2009). In 2012, Park et al. (2012) demonstrated that the "rise in atmospheric nitrous oxide levels is largely the result of an increased reliance on nitrogen-based fertilizers" (p. 261). Additionally, nitrogen-based fertilisers contribute to eutrophication of ground and surface waters and expansion of oxygen-depleted zones in coastal regions (Giddings, 2022). There are several ways in which to reduce nitrogen pollution, such as by genetically enhancing nitrogen-use efficiency in plants (Chen, K.-E. et al., 2020; Lebedev et al., 2021), or replacing chemical fertilisers with biological nitrification inhibitors (BNIs), which are based on "the natural ability of certain plant species to release nitrification and N2O emission" (Subbarao et al., 2013, p. 322). It has been estimated that BNIs can eliminate at least 30% of agricultural-related GHG emissions (Giddings, 2022). Another approach includes improved microbial inoculants that enhance nitrogen use efficiency.

4.6.3. Enhanced weathering

When rocks high in silicate, such as olivine, serpentine and basalt, are subject to chemical weathering, the dissolution process acts to bind atmospheric CO_2 in the form of bicarbonate that eventually ends up in the ocean where the carbon can be stored for millennia or longer, either as mineral sediments or dissolved in the water (Meysman & Montserrat, 2017; Moosdorf et al., 2014; OSB & NASEM, 2019). This



process takes millions of years. However, by finely grinding silicate rocks and spreading the dust over large surface areas (such as beaches, forests and farmland), it is theoretically possible to increase carbon sequestration by as much as one billion tonnes of CO₂ annually (depending on the type of rock and material comminution technique) (Moosdorf et al., 2014). This is known as enhanced weathering (EW).

EW offers several other potential benefits, including reduction of N₂O and ocean acidification, the latter of which is beneficial for corals reefs and fisheries; remineralisation of the soil, which can support plant growth and reduce soil erosion and the need for fertilisers; it uses by-products of the aggregate and mining industry, which are abundant, accessible and inexpensive; and the technical infrastructure and know-how already exists (Zevenhoven et al., 2011). Among the drawbacks of EW is the presence of heavy metals that can accumulate in the soil (for instance, while olivine can sequester more carbon, it contains more heavy metals compared to basalt); the need for large amounts of rocks and land areas; and the need for substantial amount of energy to crush the rock (Beerling et al., 2018). Power et al. (2014) assert that "the costs of mineral pre-treatment and the energy economics of accelerating carbonation reactions from geological to industrial timescales remain serious obstacles" (p. 400). Moosdorf et al. (2014) further note that "[b]efore enhanced weathering could be applied on large scales, more research is needed to assess weathering rates, potential side effects, social acceptability, and mechanisms of governance" (p. 4809).

Several companies have ventured into EW. <u>The Future Forest Company</u> is currently doing tests in Scotland, employing basalt that is crushed using renewable energy. <u>Un-do</u> and <u>Lithos Carbon</u> also use basalt, which they are spreading on agricultural land areas. The former <u>states</u> that they "are working with climate scientists and carbon agencies to write the first methodology for enhanced weathering. Our model allows us to predict the rate at which carbon sequestration occurs, giving us data that will set the standard for the industry". <u>Project Vesta</u>, in turn, uses olivine to enhance coastal carbon capture and decrease ocean acidification. They are currently conducting pilot studies in New York to monitor ecological impacts and carbon removal efficiency, with expected accreditation and scale-up to take place in 2023-2030.

Studies further suggest ways in which weathering and carbonation can be accelerated in the presence of microorganisms (Fathollahzadeh et al., 2018; Gadd, 2010; McCutcheon et al., 2016; Ng et al., 2016; Power et al., 2010; Power et al., 2014; Welch et al., 1999). For instance, the bacteria species Acidithiobacillus can potentially support acid leaching and thus enhance carbonate formation (Power et al., 2014). Fathollahzadeh et al. (2018), in turn, found that co-culturing of neutrophilic and acidophilic bacteria enhanced bioleaching of monazite. Studies have also shown that the presence of the fungus Knufia petricola accelerates dissolution of olivine seven times faster due to protons released by the fungus (Gerrits et al., 2021; Pokharel et al., 2019).



Sclarsic (2021) identifies several potential ways of biotechnologically enhancing rock weathering, such as by engineering microbes and fungi to produce silicases, oxalate, acetate and citrate, all of which can help speed up dissolution rates, as well as engineering microbial mechanisms for concentrating and nucleating carbonates to improve carbonate formation (Harrison et al., 2013; Power et al., 2010). However, Sclarsic (2021) notes that "[w]hether applied microbes would last long enough in the soil to meaningfully enhance rock weathering is an open question" (p. 38). Instead, bio-enhanced rock weathering could take place in mines and bioreactors (Sclarsic, 2021). However, despite these biotechnological opportunities, we have been unable to identify any peer-reviewed articles in which biotechnology is applied to EW. Still, Project Vesta reports that they are engineering microbes to sequester carbon by accelerating silicate-carbonate weathering (Giddings, 2022).

4.6.4. Artificial ocean alkalinisation²⁷

Somewhat related to EW, artificial ocean alkalinisation (AOA) involves adding natural or artificial alkaline substances (e.g., olivine, lime or calcium hydroxide) to increase ocean pH, which results in enhanced carbon uptake and storage as well as reduced ocean acidification. Some scientists believe that AOA "presents some of the greatest potential in terms of CO₂ sequestration and co-benefits" (Burns & Corbett, 2020, p. 154). However, AOA remains poorly understood and underdeveloped (Burns & Corbett, 2020), and the CO₂ removal potential of AOA varies widely from model to model (Feng et al., 2017; González & Ilyina, 2016; Ilyina et al., 2013; Köhler, 2020; Lenton et al., 2018; Lenton & Vaughan, 2009). In fact, according to modelling conducted by González et al. (2018), rates of regional warming and ocean acidification would increase after termination of large-scale AOA, thus indicating higher environmental risks than previously thought (also see, e.g., Bach et al., 2019).²⁸

4.6.5. Cell-free, CO2-fixing enzymatic systems

Researchers recently developed a cell-free, oxygen-insensitive and self-replenishing CO_2 -fixing enzymatic system using synthetic biology and opto-sensing (allows monitoring and maintenance of the concentration of each cofactor in the synthetic cycles) (Luo et al., 2022). The aim of the study was to decouple CO_2 fixation from cellular physiology and growth that may otherwise reduce the CO_2 fixation rate, such as oxygen sensitivity. In principle, the rate of CO_2 fixation in in vitro cell-free enzymatic systems is scalable with enzyme concentrations up to physicochemical limitations. The system developed by Luo et al. (2022) consists of a synthetic reductive glyoxylate and pyruvate synthesis cycle and the MCG pathway. They report that they "accomplished sustained operation for 6 hours with a CO_2 -fixing rate

²⁷ We do not consider ocean iron fertilisation to be a viable solution as the predicted sequestration rates have proven disappointing and the approach is believed to pose significant ecological risks (Burns & Corbett, 2020).
²⁸ The research consortium RETAKE is currently assessing the potential, feasibility and possible side effects of various forms of marine alkalinity enhancement as a means to reliably and sustainably remove CO2 from the atmosphere.



comparable to or greater than typical CO₂ fixation rates of photosynthetic or lithoautotrophic organisms" (p. 154). However, Luo et al. (2022) note that "in vitro systems need to overcome a few challenges, including enzyme instability, metabolite instability and cofactor regeneration" (p. 154).

4.6.6. Artificial leaves

Researchers at the University of Illinois have developed an electrodialysis-driven artificial leaf that uses less power than a lightbulb to capture 100 times more carbon than other systems, including directly from the air (Prajapati et al., 2022). The artificial leaf works by absorbing atmospheric CO_2 via a dry organic solution to form bicarbonate ions, which migrate across a membrane and are dissolved in a liquid solution to concentrated CO_2 .

4.6.7. Hybrid systems

The use of hybrid systems, i.e., a combination of biotic and abiotic components, can help enhance photosynthesis and carbon sequestration (Gleizer et al., 2020). For example, Sahoo et al. (2020) developed a hybrid microbe-metal interface, which consisted of an inorganic, semiconducting light-harvester material and bacteria, which assisted the microorganism in capturing energy from the sun (Sahoo et al., 2020). Su et al. (2020), in turn, were able to enhance CO₂ fixation by developing a nanowire-bacteria hybrid (Su et al., 2020). The start-up <u>Ucaneo</u> aims to capture 0.6 gigatonnes of global CO₂ emissions by 2035 using the world's first cell-free Direct Air Capture technology, leveraging a biocatalytic membrane to capture atmospheric CO₂.

5. Conclusion and way forward

The horizon scan has identified on-going and cutting-edge research on the application of biotechnology and biochemistry to deliver enhanced/scalable natural solutions to carbon sequestration, as well as gaps and opportunities for further or new research. While bacteria and microalgae offer several advantages over higher plants, and should be prioritised in this respect, plants remain the most well-researched and can be more readily deployed. Additionally, research on microalgae and bacteria should expand beyond model species, especially with respect to cyanobacteria and diatoms, which may otherwise limit fundamental discovery and applied research toward commercialisation.

In bacteria, microalgae and higher plants, genetic engineering of Rubisco and other enzymes of the Calvin cycle (e.g., Rubisco activase, carbonic anhydrase, SPBase and FBPA), as well as other components of algal and bacterial CCMs (e.g., carboxysomes, bicarbonate transporters and pyrenoids), are active areas of research that show promise in laboratory settings. Additionally, genetic engineering of other parts of the photosynthetic machinery are being explored, such as accelerating recovery from photoprotection, increasing the absorption spectra of the photosystems and improving the electron flow in the ETC. Additionally, in higher plants, advances are being made with respect to engineering C₄ photosynthesis into C₃ plants, increasing soil carbon sequestration and modifying canopy structure. A potential but largely underexplored genetic target includes aquaporins.

Still, there is a need to improve our understanding of the complex nature of Rubisco and carbon fixation pathways in general, as well as of algal and bacterial CCMs, including socalled master regulator genes (e.g., Cia5). Moreover, knowledge of other types of Rubisco that exhibit particularly attractive properties, such as those present in red algae and archaea, needs to be expanded. In general, research aimed at understanding the biology and carbon sequestration capacity and mechanisms of archaea and mycorrhizal fungi is warranted, as well as establishing efficient genome editing systems. This will be important both in terms of increasing the sequestration potential of archaea and mycorrhizal fungi, as well as enabling transgene expression of relevant genes in other organisms (e.g., chitin and glomalin from fungi and type III Rubisco from archaea). However, returns on investments in archaeal and fungal research will likely not be realised until the long-term, as fundamental research and discovery are needed. Relatedly, biosequestration using trees holds promise, but also necessitates a longer-term perspective due to long generation times and complex genomics, which render genetic engineering more challenging. Macroalgae, in turn, should not necessarily constitute a top investment priority, given lack of functional genomics and efficient transformation systems, as well as contention about the net carbon sequestration capacity.

With respect to the other research areas of potential interest addressed in section 4.6, genetic engineering to reduce methane emission from ruminant livestock (as well as crops such as rice), biological nitrate inhibitors and enhanced nitrogen use efficiency, and enhanced weathering are the most well-researched. Notably, enhanced weathering seems to have caught the interest of several start-up companies. However, while various ideas on how to apply biotechnology to enhanced weathering exist, we have been unable to identify any



peer-reviewed studies on the topic, and there also appears to be limited studies published on genome editing to produce lower-emitting ruminants. Artificial ocean alkalinisation is less well-understood and developed, and some modelling studies indicate potentially negative environmental impacts. As such, these should not necessarily be prioritised. In turn, cell-free, CO₂-fixing enzymatic systems, artificial leaves and hybrid systems hold a lot of promise but are the most peripheral to the scope of CTRF.

We would like to draw particular attention to synthetic biology, as it offers the most innovative, daring and next-generation approaches to carbon fixation, which goes beyond relatively simple modifications of endogenous metabolism (Bar-Even, 2018). A lot of exciting research is happening within the realm of synthetic biology in bacteria, microalgae and plants, in which enzymes, biochemical pathways and even entire organisms are reprogrammed to help overcome the many reaction steps and low efficiencies of natural carbon fixation pathways, including photorespiratory bypasses. For instance, in light of findings in which heterotrophic yeast and E. coli were transformed into autotrophs, can we imagine the creation of CO₂-fixing yeast and bacterial factories? Or could we simply decouple metabolism from the cell, as in the case of cell-free, CO₂-fixing enzymatic systems? Still, to fully realise the potential of synthetic biology, we must gain a better understanding of how biochemical pathways perform together within the studied organism, including how synthetic pathways may interfere with endogenous metabolism, side-reactions and dead-end metabolites.





References

- Abdolshahi, R., Nazari, M., Safarian, A., Sadathossini, T. S., Salarpour, M. & Amiri, H. (2015). Integrated selection criteria for drought tolerance in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) breeding programs using discriminant analysis. Field Crops Research, 174: 20-29. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2015.01.009.
- Ahmed, A. A. Q., Odelade, K. A. & Babalola, O. O. (2019). Microbial inoculants for improving carbon sequestration in agroecosystems to mitigate climate change. In Handbook of Climate Change Resilience, pp. 1-21. Cham: Springer.
- Alami, A. H., Alasad, S., Ali, M. & Alshamsi, M. (2021). Investigating algae for CO2 capture and accumulation and simultaneous production of biomass for biodiesel production. Science of The Total Environment, 759: 143529. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.143529</u>.
- Alberti, F., Kaleem, S. & Weaver, J. A. (2020). Recent developments of tools for genome and metabolome studies in basidiomycete fungi and their application to natural product research. Biology Open, 9 (12). doi: 10.1242/bio.056010.
- Allakhverdiev, S. I., Kreslavski, V. D., Zharmukhamedov, S. K., Voloshin, R. A., Korol'kova, D. V., Tomo, T. & Shen, J. R. (2016). Chlorophylls d and f and their role in primary photosynthetic processes of cyanobacteria. Biochemistry (Moscow), 81 (3): 201-212. doi: 10.1134/S0006297916030020.
- Andorfer, M. C. & Drennan, C. L. (2021). Fixing nature's carbon inefficiencies. Joule, 5 (4): 765-767. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2021.03.025</u>.
- Anthony, K., Bay, L. K., Costanza, R., Firn, J., Gunn, J., Harrison, P., Heyward, A., Lundgren, P., Mead, D., Moore, T., et al. (2017). New interventions are needed to save coral reefs. Nature Ecology & Evolution, 1 (10): 1420-1422. doi: 10.1038/s41559-017-0313-5.
- Antonovsky, N., Gleizer, S., Noor, E., Zohar, Y., Herz, E., Barenholz, U., Zelcbuch, L., Amram, S., Wides, A., Tepper, N., et al. (2016). Sugar synthesis from CO2 in Escherichia coli. Cell, 166 (1): 115-125. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.064</u>.
- Antonovsky, N., Gleizer, S. & Milo, R. (2017). Engineering carbon fixation in E. coli: from heterologous RuBisCO expression to the Calvin–Benson–Bassham cycle. Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 47: 83-91. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2017.06.006</u>.
- Aresta, M., Dibenedetto, A. & Barberio, G. (2005). Utilization of macro-algae for enhanced CO2 fixation and biofuels production: Development of a computing software for an LCA study. Fuel Processing Technology, 86 (14): 1679-1693. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuproc.2005.01.016</u>.
- Arthur, P. F., Archer, J. A., Johnston, D. J., Herd, R. M., Richardson, E. C. & Parnell, P. F. (2001). Genetic and phenotypic variance and covariance components for feed intake, feed efficiency, and other postweaning traits in Angus cattle. Journal of Animal Science, 79 (11): 2805-2811. doi: 10.2527/2001.79112805x.
- Arun, S., Sinharoy, A., Pakshirajan, K. & Lens, P. N. L. (2020). Algae based microbial fuel cells for wastewater treatment and recovery of value-added products. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 132: 110041. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2020.110041</u>.


- Asadian, M., Saadati, M., Bajestani, F. B., Beardall, J., Abdolahadi, F. & Mahdinezhad, N. (2022). Knockout of Cia5 gene using CRISPR/Cas9 technique in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii and evaluating CO2 sequestration in control and mutant isolates. Journal of Genetics, 101 (1): 6. doi: 10.1007/s12041-021-01350-x.
- Atkinson, N., Leitão, N., Orr, D. J., Meyer, M. T., Carmo-Silva, E., Griffiths, H., Smith, A. M. & McCormick, A. J. (2017). Rubisco small subunits from the unicellular green alga Chlamydomonas complement Rubisco-deficient mutants of Arabidopsis. New Phytologist, 214 (2): 655-667. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14414</u>.
- Atsumi, S., Higashide, W. & Liao, J. C. (2009). Direct photosynthetic recycling of carbon dioxide to isobutyraldehyde. Nature Biotechnology, 27 (12): 1177-1180. doi: 10.1038/nbt.1586.
- Averill, C. & Hawkes, C. V. (2016). Ectomycorrhizal fungi slow soil carbon cycling. Ecology Letters, 19 (8): 937-947. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12631</u>.
- Bach, L. T., Gill, S. J., Rickaby, R. E. M., Gore, S. & Renforth, P. (2019). CO2 removal with enhanced weathering and ocean alkalinity enhancement: Potential risks and cobenefits for marine pelagic ecosystems. Frontiers in Climate, 1. doi: 10.3389/fclim.2019.00007.
- Bach, L. T., Tamsitt, V., Gower, J., Hurd, C. L., Raven, J. A. & Boyd, P. W. (2021). Testing the climate intervention potential of ocean afforestation using the Great Atlantic Sargassum Belt. Nature Communications, 12 (1): 2556. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-22837-2.
- Bandyopadhyay, A., Datta, K., Zhang, J., Yang, W., Raychaudhuri, S., Miyao, M. & Datta, S. K. (2007). Enhanced photosynthesis rate in genetically engineered indica rice expressing pepc gene cloned from maize. Plant Science, 172 (6): 1204-1209. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2007.02.016</u>.
- Bar-Even, A., Noor, E., Lewis, N. E. & Milo, R. (2010). Design and analysis of synthetic carbon fixation pathways. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 107 (19): 8889-8894. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0907176107.
- Bar-Even, A. (2018). Daring metabolic designs for enhanced plant carbon fixation. Plant Science, 273: 71-83. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2017.12.007</u>.
- Barati, B., Zeng, K., Baeyens, J., Wang, S., Addy, M., Gan, S.-Y. & El-Fatah Abomohra, A. (2021). Recent progress in genetically modified microalgae for enhanced carbon dioxide sequestration. Biomass and Bioenergy, 145: 105927. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2020.105927</u>.
- Barnett, S. E., Youngblut, N. D., Koechli, C. N. & Buckley, D. H. (2021). Multisubstrate DNA stable isotope probing reveals guild structure of bacteria that mediate soil carbon cycling. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 118 (47): e2115292118. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2115292118.
- Basu, S., Roy, A. S., Mohanty, K. & Ghoshal, A. K. (2014). CO2 biofixation and carbonic anhydrase activity in Scenedesmus obliquus SA1 cultivated in large scale open system. Bioresource Technology, 164: 323-330. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.05.017</u>.
- Batista, A. P., Ambrosano, L., Graça, S., Sousa, C., Marques, P. A. S. S., Ribeiro, B., Botrel, E. P., Castro Neto, P. & Gouveia, L. (2015). Combining urban wastewater treatment with



biohydrogen production – An integrated microalgae-based approach. Bioresource Technology, 184: 230-235. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.10.064</u>.

- Beckmann, J., Lehr, F., Finazzi, G., Hankamer, B., Posten, C., Wobbe, L. & Kruse, O. (2009). Improvement of light to biomass conversion by de-regulation of light-harvesting protein translation in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. Journal of Biotechnology, 142 (1): 70-77. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2009.02.015</u>.
- Beechey-Gradwell, Z., Kadam, S., Bryan, G., Cooney, L., Nelson, K., Richardson, K., Cookson, R., Winichayakul, S., Reid, M., Anderson, P., et al. (2022). Lolium perenne engineered for elevated leaf lipids exhibits greater energy density in field canopies under defoliation. Field Crops Research, 275: 108340. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2021.108340.
- Beerling, D. J., Leake, J. R., Long, S. P., Scholes, J. D., Ton, J., Nelson, P. N., Bird, M., Kantzas, E., Taylor, L. L., Sarkar, B., et al. (2018). Farming with crops and rocks to address global climate, food and soil security. Nature Plants, 4 (3): 138-147. doi: 10.1038/s41477-018-0108-y.
- Behler, J., Vijay, D., Hess, W. R. & Akhtar, M. K. (2018). CRISPR-based technologies for metabolic engineering in cyanobacteria. Trends in Biotechnology, 36 (10): 996-1010. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2018.05.011</u>.
- Bellini, J. (2018). This gene-edited calf could transform Brazil's beef industry. Wall Street Journal
- Bennion, E. P., Ginosar, D. M., Moses, J., Agblevor, F. & Quinn, J. C. (2015). Lifecycle assessment of microalgae to biofuel: Comparison of thermochemical processing pathways. Applied Energy, 154: 1062-1071. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2014.12.009</u>.
- Berg, I. A., Kockelkorn, D., Buckel, W. & Fuchs, G. (2007). A 3-hydroxypropionate/4hydroxybutyrate autotrophic carbon dioxide assimilation pathway in archaea. Science, 318 (5857): 1782-1786. doi: doi:10.1126/science.1149976.
- Betti, M., Bauwe, H., Busch, F. A., Fernie, A. R., Keech, O., Levey, M., Ort, D. R., Parry, M. A. J., Sage, R., Timm, S., et al. (2016). Manipulating photorespiration to increase plant productivity: Recent advances and perspectives for crop improvement. Journal of Experimental Botany, 67 (10): 2977-2988. doi: 10.1093/jxb/erw076.
- Bharti, R. K., Srivastava, S. & Thakur, I. S. (2014). Production and characterization of biodiesel from carbon dioxide concentrating chemolithotrophic bacteria, Serratia sp. ISTD04. Bioresource Technology, 153: 189-197. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.11.075</u>.
- Bhunia, R. K., Menard, G. N. & Eastmond, P. J. (2022). A native promoter-gene fusion created by CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genomic deletion offers a transgene-free method to drive oil accumulation in leaves. FEBS Letters, n/a (n/a). doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1873-3468.14365</u>.
- Blankenship, R. E., Tiede, D. M., Barber, J., Brudvig, G. W., Fleming, G., Ghirardi, M., Gunner, M. R., Junge, W., Kramer, D. M., Melis, A., et al. (2011). Comparing photosynthetic and photovoltaic efficiencies and recognizing the potential for improvement. Science, 332 (6031): 805-809. doi: 10.1126/science.1200165.



- Blankenship, R. E. & Chen, M. (2013). Spectral expansion and antenna reduction can enhance photosynthesis for energy production. Current Opinion in Chemical Biology, 17 (3): 457-461. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2013.03.031</u>.
- Blomme, J., Liu, X., Jacobs, T. B. & De Clerck, O. (2020). A molecular toolkit for the green seaweed Ulva mutabilis. Plant Physiology, 186 (3): 1442-1454. doi: 10.1093/plphys/kiab185.
- Borland, A. M., Hartwell, J., Weston, D. J., Schlauch, K. A., Tschaplinski, T. J., Tuskan, G. A., Yang, X. & Cushman, J. C. (2014). Engineering crassulacean acid metabolism to improve water-use efficiency. Trends in Plant Science, 19 (5): 327-338. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2014.01.006</u>.
- Boyd, P. W., Bach, L. T., Hurd, C. L., Paine, E., Raven, J. A. & Tamsitt, V. (2022). Potential negative effects of ocean afforestation on offshore ecosystems. Nature Ecology & Evolution, 6 (6): 675-683. doi: 10.1038/s41559-022-01722-1.
- Breider, I. S., Wall, E. & Garnsworthy, P. C. (2019). Short communication: Heritability of methane production and genetic correlations with milk yield and body weight in Holstein-Friesian dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science, 102 (8): 7277-7281. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2018-15909</u>.
- Brilman, W., Garcia Alba, L. & Veneman, R. (2013). Capturing atmospheric CO2 using supported amine sorbents for microalgae cultivation. Biomass and Bioenergy, 53: 39-47. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2013.02.042</u>.
- Brophy, J. A. N., Magallon, K. J., Duan, L., Zhong, V., Ramachandran, P., Kniazev, K. & Dinneny, J. R. (2022). Synthetic genetic circuits as a means of reprogramming plant roots. Science, 377 (6607): 747-751. doi: 10.1126/science.abo4326.
- Burgess, A. J., Retkute, R., Herman, T. & Murchie, E. H. (2017). Exploring relationships between canopy architecture, light distribution, and photosynthesis in contrasting rice genotypes using 3D canopy reconstruction. Frontiers in Plant Science, 8. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2017.00734.
- Burns, W. & Corbett, C. R. (2020). Antacids for the sea? Artificial ocean alkalinization and climate change. One Earth, 3 (2): 154-156. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2020.07.016</u>.
- Busch, W. & Miller, C. (2022). The greenest revolution harnessing the power of plants to help combat climate change. The Biochemist, 44 (3): 13-18. doi: 10.1042/bio_2022_113.
- Cain, M., Lynch, J., Allen, M. R., Fuglestvedt, J. S., Frame, D. J. & Macey, A. H. (2019). Improved calculation of warming-equivalent emissions for short-lived climate pollutants. Climate and Atmospheric Science, 2 (1): 29. doi: 10.1038/s41612-019-0086-4.
- Carrington, E. M., Hernes, P. J., Dyda, R. Y., Plante, A. F. & Six, J. (2012). Biochemical changes across a carbon saturation gradient: Lignin, cutin, and suberin decomposition and stabilization in fractionated carbon pools. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 47: 179-190. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.12.024</u>.
- Carvalho, J. d. F. C., Madgwick, P. J., Powers, S. J., Keys, A. J., Lea, P. J. & Parry, M. A. J. (2011). An engineered pathway for glyoxylate metabolism in tobacco plants aimed to avoid the release of ammonia in photorespiration. BMC Biotechnology, 11 (1): 111. doi: 10.1186/1472-6750-11-111.



- Cazzaniga, S., Dall'Osto, L., Szaub, J., Scibilia, L., Ballottari, M., Purton, S. & Bassi, R. (2014).
 Domestication of the green alga Chlorella sorokiniana: reduction of antenna size improves light-use efficiency in a photobioreactor. Biotechnology for Biofuels, 7 (1): 157. doi: 10.1186/s13068-014-0157-z.
- Chaudhuri, A., Halder, K. & Datta, A. (2022). Classification of CRISPR/Cas system and its application in tomato breeding. Theoretical and Applied Genetics, 135 (2): 367-387. doi: 10.1007/s00122-021-03984-y.
- Cheah, W. Y., Show, P. L., Chang, J.-S., Ling, T. C. & Juan, J. C. (2015). Biosequestration of atmospheric CO2 and flue gas-containing CO2 by microalgae. Bioresource Technology, 184: 190-201. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.11.026</u>.
- Chen, J.-H., Chen, S.-T., He, N.-Y., Wang, Q.-L., Zhao, Y., Gao, W. & Guo, F.-Q. (2020). Nuclearencoded synthesis of the D1 subunit of photosystem II increases photosynthetic efficiency and crop yield. Nature Plants, 6 (5): 570-580. doi: 10.1038/s41477-020-0629-z.
- Chen, K.-E., Chen, H.-Y., Tseng, C.-S. & Tsay, Y.-F. (2020). Improving nitrogen use efficiency by manipulating nitrate remobilization in plants. Nature Plants, 6 (9): 1126-1135. doi: 10.1038/s41477-020-00758-0.
- Chen, Y. L., Palta, J., Clements, J., Buirchell, B., Siddique, K. H. M. & Rengel, Z. (2014). Root architecture alteration of narrow-leafed lupin and wheat in response to soil compaction. Field Crops Research, 165: 61-70. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2014.04.007</u>.
- Chida, H., Nakazawa, A., Akazaki, H., Hirano, T., Suruga, K., Ogawa, M., Satoh, T., Kadokura, K., Yamada, S., Hakamata, W., et al. (2007). Expression of the algal cytochrome c6 gene in Arabidopsis enhances photosynthesis and growth. Plant and Cell Physiology, 48 (7): 948-957. doi: 10.1093/pcp/pcm064.
- Cho, S. W., Kim, S., Kim, Y., Kweon, J., Kim, H. S., Bae, S. & Kim, J.-S. (2014). Analysis of offtarget effects of CRISPR/Cas-derived RNA-guided endonucleases and nickases. Genome research, 24 (1): 132-141.
- Chui, M., Evers, M., Manyika, J., Zheng, A. & Nisbet, T. (2020). The bio revolution: Innovations transforming economies, societies, and our lives: McKinsey Global Institute.
- Chung, I. K., Beardall, J., Mehta, S., Sahoo, D. & Stojkovic, S. (2011). Using marine macroalgae for carbon sequestration: a critical appraisal. Journal of Applied Phycology, 23 (5): 877-886. doi: 10.1007/s10811-010-9604-9.
- Claassens, N. J. (2017). A warm welcome for alternative CO(2) fixation pathways in microbial biotechnology. Microbial Biotechnology, 10 (1): 31-34. doi: 10.1111/1751-7915.12456.
- Clemmensen, K. E., Bahr, A., Ovaskainen, O., Dahlberg, A., Ekblad, A., Wallander, H., Stenlid, J., Finlay, R. D., Wardle, D. A. & Lindahl, B. D. (2013). Roots and associated fungi drive long-term carbon sequestration in boreal forest. Science, 339 (6127): 1615-1618. doi: doi:10.1126/science.1231923.
- Cleves, P. A., Strader, M. E., Bay, L. K., Pringle, J. R. & Matz, M. V. (2018). CRISPR/Cas9mediated genome editing in a reef-building coral. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 115 (20): 5235-5240. doi: doi:10.1073/pnas.1722151115.



- Collins, W. J., Frame, D. J., Fuglestvedt, J. S. & Shine, K. P. (2020). Stable climate metrics for emissions of short and long-lived species—combining steps and pulses. Environmental Research Letters, 15 (2): 024018. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/ab6039.
- Conlan, B. & Whitney, S. (2018). Preparing Rubisco for a tune up. Nature Plants, 4 (1): 12-13. doi: 10.1038/s41477-017-0089-2.
- Costa, J. A. V., de Morais, M. G., Dalcanton, F., Reichert, C. d. C. & Durante, A. J. (2006). Simultaneous cultivation of Spirulina platensis and the toxigenic cyanobacteria Microcystis aeruginosa. Zeitschrift f
 ür Naturforschung C, 61 (1-2): 105-110. doi: doi:10.1515/znc-2006-1-219.
- Covshoff, S. & Hibberd, J. M. (2012). Integrating C4 photosynthesis into C3 crops to increase yield potential. Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 23 (2): 209-214. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2011.12.011</u>.
- Cui, H. (2021). Challenges and approaches to crop improvement through C3-to-C4 engineering. Frontiers in Plant Science, 12. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2021.715391.
- Dalal, J., Lopez, H., Vasani, N. B., Hu, Z., Swift, J. E., Yalamanchili, R., Dvora, M., Lin, X., Xie, D., Qu, R., et al. (2015). A photorespiratory bypass increases plant growth and seed yield in biofuel crop Camelina sativa. Biotechnology for Biofuels, 8 (1): 175. doi: 10.1186/s13068-015-0357-1.
- de Almeida Camargo, L. S. & Pereira, J. F. (2022). Genome-editing opportunities to enhance cattle productivity in the tropics. CABI Agriculture and Bioscience, 3 (1): 8. doi: 10.1186/s43170-022-00075-w.
- de Haas, Y., Pszczola, M., Soyeurt, H., Wall, E. & Lassen, J. (2017). Invited review: Phenotypes to genetically reduce greenhouse gas emissions in dairying. Journal of Dairy Science, 100 (2): 855-870. doi: 10.3168/jds.2016-11246.
- de Haas, Y., Veerkamp, R. F., de Jong, G. & Aldridge, M. N. (2021). Selective breeding as a mitigation tool for methane emissions from dairy cattle. Animal, 15: 100294. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.animal.2021.100294</u>.
- De Porcellinis, A. J., Nørgaard, H., Brey, L. M. F., Erstad, S. M., Jones, P. R., Heazlewood, J. L. & Sakuragi, Y. (2018). Overexpression of bifunctional fructose-1,6bisphosphatase/sedoheptulose-1,7-bisphosphatase leads to enhanced photosynthesis and global reprogramming of carbon metabolism in Synechococcus sp. PCC 7002. Metabolic Engineering, 47: 170-183. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2018.03.001</u>.
- De Souza, A. P., Burgess, S. J., Doran, L., Hansen, J., Manukyan, L., Maryn, N., Gotarkar, D., Leonelli, L., Niyogi, K. K. & Long, S. P. (2022). Soybean photosynthesis and crop yield are improved by accelerating recovery from photoprotection. Science, 377 (6608): 851-854. doi: doi:10.1126/science.adc9831.
- DeHaan, L., Larson, S., López-Marqués, R. L., Wenkel, S., Gao, C. & Palmgren, M. (2020). Roadmap for accelerated domestication of an emerging perennial grain crop. Trends in Plant Science, 25 (6): 525-537. doi: 10.1016/j.tplants.2020.02.004.
- DeLisi, C. (2019). The role of synthetic biology in climate change mitigation. Biology Direct, 14 (1): 14. doi: 10.1186/s13062-019-0247-8.
- DeLisi, C., Patrinos, A., MacCracken, M., Drell, D., Annas, G., Arkin, A., Church, G., Cook-Deegan, R., Jacoby, H., Lidstrom, M., et al. (2020). The role of synthetic biology in



atmospheric greenhouse gas reduction: Prospects and challenges. BioDesign Research, 2020: 1016207. doi: 10.34133/2020/1016207.

- Deng, H., Gao, R., Liao, X. & Cai, Y. (2017). CRISPR system in filamentous fungi: Current achievements and future directions. Gene, 627: 212-221. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2017.06.019</u>.
- DiCarlo, J. E., Norville, J. E., Mali, P., Rios, X., Aach, J. & Church, G. M. (2013). Genome engineering in Saccharomyces cerevisiae using CRISPR-Cas systems. Nucleic Acids Research, 41 (7): 4336-4343. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt135.
- Dijkstra, J., France, J., Ellis, J. L., Strathe, A. B., Kebreab, E. & Bannink, A. (2013). Production efficiency of ruminants: feed, nitrogen and methane: CABI International.
- Ding, F., Wang, M., Zhang, S. & Ai, X. (2016). Changes in SBPase activity influence photosynthetic capacity, growth, and tolerance to chilling stress in transgenic tomato plants. Scientific Reports, 6 (1): 32741. doi: 10.1038/srep32741.
- Donoghue, K., Herd, R., Bird, S., Arthur, P. & Hegarty, R. (2013). Preliminary genetic parameters for methane production in Australian beef cattle. Proceedings of the Association for the Advancement of Animal Breeding and Genetics.
- Drewry, D. T., Kumar, P. & Long, S. P. (2014). Simultaneous improvement in productivity, water use, and albedo through crop structural modification. Global Change Biology, 20 (6): 1955-1967. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12567</u>.
- Driever, S. M. & Kromdijk, J. (2013). Will C3 crops enhanced with the C4 CO2-concentrating mechanism live up to their full potential (yield)? Journal of Experimental Botany, 64 (13): 3925-3935. doi: 10.1093/jxb/ert103.
- Driever, S. M., Simkin, A. J., Alotaibi, S., Fisk, S. J., Madgwick, P. J., Sparks, C. A., Jones, H. D., Lawson, T., Parry, M. A. J. & Raines, C. A. (2017). Increased SBPase activity improves photosynthesis and grain yield in wheat grown in greenhouse conditions.
 Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 372 (1730): 20160384. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0384.
- Eckard, R. J., Grainger, C. & de Klein, C. A. M. (2010). Options for the abatement of methane and nitrous oxide from ruminant production: A review. Livestock Science, 130 (1): 47-56. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2010.02.010</u>.
- Edwards, G. E., Furbank, R. T., Hatch, M. D. & Osmond, C. B. (2001). What does It take to be C4? Lessons from the evolution of C4 photosynthesis. Plant Physiology, 125 (1): 46-49. doi: 10.1104/pp.125.1.46.
- Elhai, J. (1993). Strong and regulated promoters in the cyanobacterium Anabaena PCC 7120. FEMS Microbiology Letters, 114 (2): 179-184. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.1993.tb06570.x.
- Erb, T. J., Jones, P. R. & Bar-Even, A. (2017). Synthetic metabolism: metabolic engineering meets enzyme design. Current Opinion in Chemical Biology, 37: 56-62. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2016.12.023</u>.
- Erb, T. J. & Zarzycki, J. (2018). A short history of RubisCO: the rise and fall (?) of Nature's predominant CO2 fixing enzyme. Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 49: 100-107. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2017.07.017</u>.
- Erb, T. J., Zarzycki, J. & Scheffen, M. (2021). 5 Synthetic enzymes and pathways for improved carbon capture and conversion. In Photosynthesis, pp. 129-146: De Gruyter.



- Ermakova, M., Osborn, H., Groszmann, M., Bala, S., Bowerman, A., McGaughey, S., Byrt, C., Alonso-cantabrana, H., Tyerman, S., Furbank, R. T., et al. (2021). Expression of a CO2permeable aquaporin enhances mesophyll conductance in the C4 species Setaria viridis. eLife, 10: e70095. doi: 10.7554/eLife.70095.
- Fang, L., Lin, H. X., Low, C. S., Wu, M. H., Chow, Y. & Lee, Y. K. (2012). Expression of the Chlamydomonas reinhardtii Sedoheptulose-1,7-bisphosphatase in Dunaliella bardawil leads to enhanced photosynthesis and increased glycerol production. Plant Biotechnology Journal, 10 (9): 1129-1135. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/pbi.12000</u>.
- Fang, S., Huang, X., Zhang, X., Zhang, M., Hao, Y., Guo, H., Liu, L.-N., Yu, F. & Zhang, P. (2021). Molecular mechanism underlying transport and allosteric inhibition of bicarbonate transporter SbtA. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 118 (22): e2101632118. doi: doi:10.1073/pnas.2101632118.
- Farrelly, D. J., Everard, C. D., Fagan, C. C. & McDonnell, K. P. (2013). Carbon sequestration and the role of biological carbon mitigation: A review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 21: 712-727. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2012.12.038</u>.
- Fathollahzadeh, H., Hackett, M. J., Khaleque, H. N., Eksteen, J. J., Kaksonen, A. H. & Watkin, E. L. J. (2018). Better together: Potential of co-culture microorganisms to enhance bioleaching of rare earth elements from monazite. Bioresource Technology Reports, 3: 109-118. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biteb.2018.07.003</u>.
- Fei, C., Yu, J., Xu, Z. & Xu, Q. (2019). Erect panicle architecture contributes to increased rice production through the improvement of canopy structure. Molecular Breeding, 39 (9): 128. doi: 10.1007/s11032-019-1037-9.
- Feng, E. Y., Koeve, W., Keller, D. P. & Oschlies, A. (2017). Model-based assessment of the CO2 sequestration potential of coastal ocean alkalinization. Earth's Future, 5 (12): 1252-1266. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2017EF000659</u>.
- Field, C. B., Behrenfeld, M. J., Randerson, J. T. & Falkowski, P. (1998). Primary production of the biosphere: Integrating terrestrial and oceanic components. Science, 281 (5374): 237-240. doi: doi:10.1126/science.281.5374.237.
- Fladung, M. (2021). Targeted CRISPR/Cas9-based knock-out of the rice orthologs TILLER ANGLE CONTROL 1 (TAC1) in poplar induces erect leaf habit and shoot growth. Forests, 12 (12): 1615.
- Flexas, J., Ribas-Carbó, M., Hanson, D. T., Bota, J., Otto, B., Cifre, J., McDowell, N., Medrano, H. & Kaldenhoff, R. (2006). Tobacco aquaporin NtAQP1 is involved in mesophyll conductance to CO2 in vivo. The Plant Journal, 48 (3): 427-439. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2006.02879.x</u>.
- Flombaum, P., Gallegos, J. L., Gordillo, R. A., Rincón, J., Zabala, L. L., Jiao, N., Karl, D. M., Li, W. K. W., Lomas, M. W., Veneziano, D., et al. (2013). Present and future global distributions of the marine cyanobacteria Prochlorococcus and Synechococcus. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 110 (24): 9824-9829. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1307701110.
- Fraczek, M. G., Naseeb, S. & Delneri, D. (2018). History of genome editing in yeast. Yeast, 35 (5): 361-368. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/yea.3308</u>.
- Frei, M. (2013). Lignin: Characterization of a multifaceted crop component. The Scientific World Journal, 2013: 436517-436517. doi: 10.1155/2013/436517.



- Friedland, N., Negi, S., Vinogradova-Shah, T., Wu, G., Ma, L., Flynn, S., Kumssa, T., Lee, C. H. & Sayre, R. T. (2019). Fine-tuning the photosynthetic light harvesting apparatus for improved photosynthetic efficiency and biomass yield. Scientific Reports, 9 (1): 13028. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-49545-8.
- Fukuzawa, H., Miura, K., Ishizaki, K., Kucho, K.-i., Saito, T., Kohinata, T. & Ohyama, K. (2001). Ccm1, a regulatory gene controlling the induction of a carbon-concentrating mechanism in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii by sensing CO2 availability. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 98 (9): 5347-5352. doi: 10.1073/pnas.081593498.
- Gadd, G. M. (2010). Metals, minerals and microbes: geomicrobiology and bioremediation. Microbiology, 156 (3): 609-643. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.037143-0</u>.
- Gale, G. A. R., Schiavon Osorio, A. A., Mills, L. A., Wang, B., Lea-Smith, D. J. & McCormick, A. J. (2019). Emerging species and genome editing tools: Future prospects in cyanobacterial synthetic biology. Microorganisms, 7 (10): 409.
- Gallagher, J. B., Shelamoff, V. & Layton, C. (2022). Seaweed ecosystems may not mitigate CO2 emissions. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 79 (3): 585-592. doi: 10.1093/icesjms/fsac011.
- Gao, L., Lu, Z., Ding, L., Guo, J., Wang, M., Ling, N., Guo, S. & Shen, Q. (2018). Role of aquaporins in determining carbon and nitrogen status in higher plants. International journal of molecular sciences, 19 (1): 35. doi: 10.3390/ijms19010035.
- Gassler, T., Heistinger, L., Mattanovich, D., Gasser, B. & Prielhofer, R. (2019). CRISPR/Cas9mediated homology-directed genome editing in Pichia pastoris. In Gasser, B. & Mattanovich, D. (eds) Recombinant Protein Production in Yeast, pp. 211-225. New York, NY: Springer New York.
- Gassler, T., Sauer, M., Gasser, B., Egermeier, M., Troyer, C., Causon, T., Hann, S., Mattanovich, D. & Steiger, M. G. (2020). The industrial yeast Pichia pastoris is converted from a heterotroph into an autotroph capable of growth on CO2. Nature Biotechnology, 38 (2): 210-216. doi: 10.1038/s41587-019-0363-0.
- Gayathri, R., Mahboob, S., Govindarajan, M., Al-Ghanim, K. A., Ahmed, Z., Al-Mulhm, N.,
 Vodovnik, M. & Vijayalakshmi, S. (2021). A review on biological carbon sequestration:
 A sustainable solution for a cleaner air environment, less pollution and lower health
 risks. Journal of King Saud University Science, 33 (2): 101282. doi:
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jksus.2020.101282.
- Gerber, P. J., Hristov, A. N., Henderson, B., Makkar, H., Oh, J., Lee, C., Meinen, R., Montes, F., Ott, T., Firkins, J., et al. (2013). Technical options for the mitigation of direct methane and nitrous oxide emissions from livestock: a review. animal, 7 (s2): 220-234. doi: 10.1017/S1751731113000876.
- Gerrits, R., Wirth, R., Schreiber, A., Feldmann, I., Knabe, N., Schott, J., Benning, L. G. & Gorbushina, A. A. (2021). High-resolution imaging of fungal biofilm-induced olivine weathering. Chemical Geology, 559: 119902. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2020.119902</u>.
- Giddings, V. L., Rozansky, R. & Hart, D. D. (2020). Gene editing for the climate: Biological solutions for curbing greenhouse emissions. Washington, DC: Information Technology & Innovation Foundation.



- Giddings, V. L. (2022). How agrigenomics can help address climate change. Washington, DC: Information Technology & Innovation Foundation. Available at: <u>https://itif.org/publications/2022/08/22/how-agrigenomics-can-help-address-</u> <u>climate-change/?mc_cid=ca07d710e5&mc_eid=d9177814d4</u> (accessed: 30 August 2022).
- Gimpel, J. A., Nour-Eldin, H. H., Scranton, M. A., Li, D. & Mayfield, S. P. (2016). Refactoring the six-gene photosystem II core in the chloroplast of the green algae Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. ACS Synthetic Biology, 5 (7): 589-596. doi: 10.1021/acssynbio.5b00076.
- Giri, A., Sharma, V., Thakur, S., Sharma, T., Kumar, A. & Pant, D. (2020). Engineering of microbial carbonic anhydrase for enhanced carbon sequestration. In Chemobiological systems for CO2 utilization, pp. 91-105. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Gleixner, G., Poirier, N., Bol, R. & Balesdent, J. (2002). Molecular dynamics of organic matter in a cultivated soil. Organic Geochemistry, 33 (3): 357-366. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0146-6380(01)00166-8</u>.
- Gleizer, S., Bar-On, Y. M., Ben-Nissan, R. & Milo, R. (2020). Engineering microbes to produce fuel, commodities, and food from CO2. Cell Reports Physical Science, 1 (10): 100223. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xcrp.2020.100223</u>.
- Goli, A., Shamiri, A., Talaiekhozani, A., Eshtiaghi, N., Aghamohammadi, N. & Aroua, M. K. (2016). An overview of biological processes and their potential for CO2 capture. Journal of Environmental Management, 183: 41-58. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2016.08.054.
- Gong, F., Cai, Z. & Li, Y. (2016). Synthetic biology for CO2 fixation. Science China Life Sciences, 59 (11): 1106-1114. doi: 10.1007/s11427-016-0304-2.
- González, M. F. & Ilyina, T. (2016). Impacts of artificial ocean alkalinization on the carbon cycle and climate in Earth system simulations. Geophysical Research Letters, 43 (12): 6493-6502. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2016GL068576</u>.
- González, M. F., Ilyina, T., Sonntag, S. & Schmidt, H. (2018). Enhanced rates of regional warming and ocean acidification after termination of large-scale ocean alkalinization. Geophysical Research Letters, 45 (14): 7120-7129. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2018GL077847</u>.
- Gougoulias, C., Clark, J. M. & Shaw, L. J. (2014). The role of soil microbes in the global carbon cycle: Tracking the below-ground microbial processing of plant-derived carbon for manipulating carbon dynamics in agricultural systems. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 94 (12): 2362-71. doi: 10.1002/jsfa.6577.
- Grama, S. B., Liu, Z. & Li, J. (2022). Emerging trends in genetic engineering of microalgae for commercial applications. Marine Drugs, 20 (5): 285.
- Green, C. & Byrne, K. A. (2004). Biomass: Impact on carbon cycle and greenhouse gas emissions. In Cleveland, C. J. (ed.) Encyclopedia of Energy, pp. 223-236. New York: Elsevier.
- Gu, J.-F., Qiu, M. & Yang, J.-C. (2013). Enhanced tolerance to drought in transgenic rice plants overexpressing C4 photosynthesis enzymes. The Crop Journal, 1 (2): 105-114. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cj.2013.10.002</u>.
- Guan, L. L., Nkrumah, J. D., Basarab, J. A. & Moore, S. S. (2008). Linkage of microbial ecology to phenotype: correlation of rumen microbial ecology to cattle's feed efficiency. FEMS Microbiology Letters, 288 (1): 85-91. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.2008.01343.x.



Guggenberger, G., Frey, S. D., Six, J., Paustian, K. & Elliott, E. T. (1999). Bacterial and fungal cell-wall residues in conventional and no-tillage agroecosystems. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 63 (5): 1188-1198. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj1999.6351188x</u>.

Gupta, V., Jain, M. & Reddy, C. R. K. (2017). Macroalgal functional genomics: A missing area. In Kumar, M. & Ralph, P. (eds) Systems Biology of Marine Ecosystems, pp. 3-12. Cham: Springer International Publishing.

- Hammel, A., Sommer, F., Zimmer, D., Stitt, M., Mühlhaus, T. & Schroda, M. (2020).
 Overexpression of sedoheptulose-1,7-bisphosphatase enhances photosynthesis in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii and has no effect on the abundance of other Calvin-Benson cycle enzymes. Frontiers in plant science, 11: 868-868. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2020.00868.
- Hanba, Y. T., Shibasaka, M., Hayashi, Y., Hayakawa, T., Kasamo, K., Terashima, I. & Katsuhara, M. (2004). Overexpression of the barley aquaporin HvPIP2;1 increases internal CO2 conductance and CO2 assimilation in the leaves of transgenic rice plants. Plant and Cell Physiology, 45 (5): 521-529. doi: 10.1093/pcp/pch070.
- Hanson, M. R., Lin, M. T., Carmo-Silva, A. E. & Parry, M. A. J. (2016). Towards engineering carboxysomes into C3 plants. The Plant Journal, 87 (1): 38-50. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.13139</u>.
- Harrison, A. L., Power, I. M. & Dipple, G. M. (2013). Accelerated carbonation of brucite in mine tailings for carbon sequestration. Environmental Science & Technology, 47 (1): 126-134. doi: 10.1021/es3012854.
- Häusler, R. E., Rademacher, T., Li, J., Lipka, V., Fischer, K. L., Schubert, S., Kreuzaler, F. & Hirsch, H. J. (2001). Single and double overexpression of C4-cycle genes had differential effects on the pattern of endogenous enzymes, attenuation of photorespiration and on contents of UV protectants in transgenic potato and tobacco plants. Journal of Experimental Botany, 52 (362): 1785-1803. doi: 10.1093/jexbot/52.362.1785.
- Hay, W. T. (2012). Engineering cyanobacterial genes into Glycine max (Soybean) leads to increased photosynthesis and productivity. Urbana: University of Illinois.
- Hay, W. T., Bihmidine, S., Mutlu, N., Hoang, K. L., Awada, T., Weeks, D. P., Clemente, T. E. & Long, S. P. (2017). Enhancing soybean photosynthetic CO2 assimilation using a cyanobacterial membrane protein, ictB. Journal of Plant Physiology, 212: 58-68. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2017.02.003</u>.
- Hayes, B. J., Lewin, H. A. & Goddard, M. E. (2013). The future of livestock breeding: genomic selection for efficiency, reduced emissions intensity, and adaptation. Trends in Genetics, 29 (4): 206-214. doi: 10.1016/j.tig.2012.11.009.
- Hegarty, R. S. (2004). Genotype differences and their impact on digestive tract function of ruminants: a review. Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture, 44 (5): 459-467. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/EA02148</u>.
- Hegarty, R. S., Alcock, D., Robinson, D. L., Goopy, J. P. & Vercoe, P. E. (2010). Nutritional and flock management options to reduce methane output and methane per unit product from sheep enterprises. Animal Production Science, 50 (12): 1026-1033. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/AN10104</u>.



- Heinze, C., Meyer, S., Goris, N., Anderson, L., Steinfeldt, R., Chang, N., Le Quéré, C. & Bakker,
 D. C. E. (2015). The ocean carbon sink Impacts, vulnerabilities and challenges.
 Earth System Dynamics, 6 (1): 327-358. doi: 10.5194/esd-6-327-2015.
- Herz, E., Antonovsky, N., Bar-On, Y., Davidi, D., Gleizer, S., Prywes, N., Noda-Garcia, L., Lyn Frisch, K., Zohar, Y., Wernick, D. G., et al. (2017). The genetic basis for the adaptation of E. coli to sugar synthesis from CO2. Nature Communications, 8 (1): 1705. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-01835-3.
- Hobman, E. V., Mankad, A., Carter, L. & Ruttley, C. (2021). Genetically engineered coral: A mixed-methods analysis of initial public opinion. bioRxiv: 2021.05.24.445411. doi: 10.1101/2021.05.24.445411.
- Hobman, E. V., Mankad, A., Carter, L. & Ruttley, C. (2022). Genetically engineered heatresistant coral: An initial analysis of public opinion. PloS one, 17 (1): e0252739e0252739. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0252739.
- Holland, E. A. & Coleman, D. C. (1987). Litter placement effects on microbial and organic matter dynamics in an agroecosystem. Ecology, 68 (2): 425-433. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1939274</u>.
- Houghton, R. A. (2014). The contemporary carbon cycle. In Holland, H. D. & Turekian, K. K. (eds) Treatise on Geochemistry, pp. 399-435. Oxford: Elsevier.
- Huang, G., Qin, S., Zhang, S., Cai, X., Wu, S., Dao, J., Zhang, J., Huang, L., Harnpichitvitaya, D., Wade, L. J., et al. (2018). Performance, economics and potential impact of perennial rice PR23 relative to annual rice cultivars at multiple locations in Yunnan province of China. Sustainability, 10 (4): 1086.
- Ilyina, T., Wolf-Gladrow, D., Munhoven, G. & Heinze, C. (2013). Assessing the potential of calcium-based artificial ocean alkalinization to mitigate rising atmospheric CO2 and ocean acidification. Geophysical Research Letters, 40 (22): 5909-5914. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2013GL057981</u>.
- Iqbal, M. F., Cheng, Y.-F., Zhu, W.-Y. & Zeshan, B. (2008). Mitigation of ruminant methane production: current strategies, constraints and future options. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 24 (12): 2747-2755. doi: 10.1007/s11274-008-9819y.
- ISAAA. (2017). Pocket K No. 50: Biotech/GMO Trees. Metro Manila: International Service for the Acquisition of Agri-biotech Applications.
- Ishimaru, K., Ohkawa, Y., Ishige, T., Tobias, D. J. & Ohsugi, R. (1998). Elevated pyruvate, orthophosphate dikinase (PPDK) activity alters carbon metabolism in C3 transgenic potatoes with a C4 maize PPDK gene. Physiologia plantarum, 103 (3): 340-346.
- Iwaki, T., Wadano, A., Yokota, A. & Himeno, M. (1991). Aldolase—An important enzyme in controlling the ribulose 1,5-bisphosphate regeneration rate in photosynthesis. Plant and Cell Physiology, 32 (7): 1083-1091. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.pcp.a078172.
- Jajesniak, P., Ali, H. & Wong, T. S. (2014). Carbon dioxide capture and utilization using biological systems: opportunities and challenges. Journal of Bioprocessing and Biotechniques, 4 (3): 1-15.
- Jansson, C. & Northen, T. (2010). Calcifying cyanobacteria The potential of biomineralization for carbon capture and storage. Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 21 (3): 365-71. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2010.03.017.



- Jansson, C., Wullschleger, S. D., Kalluri, U. C. & Tuskan, G. A. (2010). Phytosequestration: carbon biosequestration by plants and the prospects of genetic engineering. BioScience, 60 (9): 685-696. doi: 10.1525/bio.2010.60.9.6.
- Jansson, C., Faiola, C., Wingler, A., Zhu, X.-G., Kravchenko, A., de Graaff, M.-A., Ogden, A. J., Handakumbura, P. P., Werner, C. & Beckles, D. M. (2021). Crops for carbon farming. Frontiers in Plant Science, 12. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2021.636709.
- Jastrow, J. D., Amonette, J. E. & Bailey, V. L. (2007). Mechanisms controlling soil carbon turnover and their potential application for enhancing carbon sequestration. Climatic Change, 80 (1): 5-23. doi: 10.1007/s10584-006-9178-3.
- Jatain, I., Dubey, K. K., Sharma, M., Usmani, Z., Sharma, M. & Gupta, V. K. (2021). Synthetic biology potential for carbon sequestration into biocommodities. Journal of Cleaner Production, 323: 129176. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.129176</u>.
- Jeong Br, B. R., Wu-Scharf, D., Zhang, C. & Cerutti, H. (2002). Suppressors of transcriptional transgenic silencing in Chlamydomonas are sensitive to DNA-damaging agents and reactivate transposable elements. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 99 (2): 1076-81. doi: 10.1073/pnas.022392999.
- Jiao, N., Herndl, G. J., Hansell, D. A., Benner, R., Kattner, G., Wilhelm, S. W., Kirchman, D. L., Weinbauer, M. G., Luo, T., Chen, F., et al. (2010). Microbial production of recalcitrant dissolved organic matter: long-term carbon storage in the global ocean. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 8 (8): 593-599. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2386.
- Jobbágy, E. G. & Jackson, R. B. (2000). The vertical distribution of soil organic carbon and its relation to climate and vegetation. Ecological Applications, 10 (2): 423-436. doi: https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2000)010[0423:TVDOS0]2.0.C0;2.
- Johnson, K. A. & Johnson, D. E. (1995). Methane emissions from cattle. Journal of Animal Science, 73 (8): 2483-2492. doi: 10.2527/1995.7382483x.
- Jonker, A., Hickey, S., Pinares-Patiño, C., McEwan, J., Olinga, S., Díaz, A., Molano, G., MacLean, S., Sandoval, E., Harland, R., et al. (2017). Sheep from low-methane-yield selection lines created on alfalfa pellets also have lower methane yield under pastoral farming conditions. Journal of Animal Science, 95 (9): 3905-3913. doi: 10.2527/jas.2017.1709.
- Kamennaya, N. A., Ahn, S., Park, H., Bartal, R., Sasaki, K. A., Holman, H.-Y. & Jansson, C. (2015). Installing extra bicarbonate transporters in the cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. PCC6803 enhances biomass production. Metabolic Engineering, 29: 76-85. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2015.03.002</u>.
- Kandeler, E., Stemmer, M. & Gerzabek, M. H. (2005). Role of microorganisms in carbon cycling in soils. In Varma, A. & Buscot, F. (eds) Microorganisms in soils: Roles in genesis and functions, pp. 139-157. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Kanno, M., Carroll, A. L. & Atsumi, S. (2017). Global metabolic rewiring for improved CO2 fixation and chemical production in cyanobacteria. Nature Communications, 8 (1): 14724. doi: 10.1038/ncomms14724.
- Kawase, M., Hanba, Y. T. & Katsuhara, M. (2013). The photosynthetic response of tobacco plants overexpressing ice plant aquaporin McMIPB to a soil water deficit and high vapor pressure deficit. Journal of Plant Research, 126 (4): 517-527. doi: 10.1007/s10265-013-0548-4.



- Kebeish, R., Niessen, M., Thiruveedhi, K., Bari, R., Hirsch, H.-J., Rosenkranz, R., Stäbler, N., Schönfeld, B., Kreuzaler, F. & Peterhänsel, C. (2007). Chloroplastic photorespiratory bypass increases photosynthesis and biomass production in Arabidopsis thaliana. Nature Biotechnology, 25 (5): 593-599. doi: 10.1038/nbt1299.
- Kell, D. B. (2012). Large-scale sequestration of atmospheric carbon via plant roots in natural and agricultural ecosystems: why and how. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 367 (1595): 1589-1597. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2011.0244.
- Keller, D. P., Lenton, A., Littleton, E. W., Oschlies, A., Scott, V. & Vaughan, N. E. (2018). The effects of carbon dioxide removal on the carbon cycle. Current Climate Change Reports, 4 (3): 250-265. doi: 10.1007/s40641-018-0104-3.
- Kershanskaya, O. I. & Teixeira da Silva, J. (2010). Photosynthetic basis for wheat crop improvement: genetic modification of photosynthesis. The Asian and Australasian Journal of Plant Science and Biotechnology, 4 (Special Issue 1): 27-34.
- Khan, S. A., Rashmi, Hussain, M. Z., Prasad, S. & Banerjee, U. C. (2009). Prospects of biodiesel production from microalgae in India. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 13 (9): 2361-2372. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2009.04.005</u>.
- Khumsupan, P., Donovan, S. & McCormick, A. J. (2019). CRISPR/Cas in Arabidopsis: overcoming challenges to accelerate improvements in crop photosynthetic efficiencies. Physiologia Plantarum, 166 (1): 428-437. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/ppl.12937.
- Kiem, R. & Kögel-Knabner, I. (2003). Contribution of lignin and polysaccharides to the refractory carbon pool in C-depleted arable soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 35 (1): 101-118. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(02)00242-0</u>.
- Kim, E. J., Ma, X. & Cerutti, H. (2015). Gene silencing in microalgae: Mechanisms and biological roles. Bioresource Technology, 184: 23-32. doi: 10.1016/j.biortech.2014.10.119.
- Kirst, H., Garcia-Cerdan, J. G., Zurbriggen, A., Ruehle, T. & Melis, A. (2012). Truncated photosystem chlorophyll antenna size in the green microalga Chlamydomonas reinhardtii upon deletion of the TLA3-CpSRP43 gene. Plant Physiology, 160 (4): 2251-2260. doi: 10.1104/pp.112.206672.
- Knapp, J. R., Laur, G. L., Vadas, P. A., Weiss, W. P. & Tricarico, J. M. (2014). Invited review: Enteric methane in dairy cattle production: Quantifying the opportunities and impact of reducing emissions. Journal of Dairy Science, 97 (6): 3231-3261. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2013-7234</u>.
- Koh, H. G., Kang, N. K., Jeon, S., Shin, S.-E., Jeong, B.-r. & Chang, Y. K. (2019). Heterologous synthesis of chlorophyll b in Nannochloropsis salina enhances growth and lipid production by increasing photosynthetic efficiency. Biotechnology for Biofuels, 12 (1): 122. doi: 10.1186/s13068-019-1462-3.
- Koh, H. G., Ryu, A. J., Jeon, S., Jeong, K. J., Jeong, B.-r. & Chang, Y. K. (2020). Photosynthetic improvement of industrial microalgae for biomass and biofuel production. In Wang, Q. (ed.) Microbial Photosynthesis, pp. 285-317. Singapore: Springer Singapore.
- Köhler, P. (2020). Anthropogenic CO2 of high emission scenario compensated after 3500 years of ocean alkalinization with an annually constant dissolution of 5 Pg of olivine. Frontiers in Climate, 2. doi: 10.3389/fclim.2020.575744.



- Krause-Jensen, D. & Duarte, C. M. (2016). Substantial role of macroalgae in marine carbon sequestration. Nature Geoscience, 9 (10): 737-742. doi: 10.1038/ngeo2790.
- Kromdijk, J., Głowacka, K., Leonelli, L., Gabilly, S. T., Iwai, M., Niyogi, K. K. & Long, S. P. (2016). Improving photosynthesis and crop productivity by accelerating recovery from photoprotection. Science, 354 (6314): 857-861. doi: 10.1126/science.aai8878.
- Kumar, M., Sundaram, S., Gnansounou, E., Larroche, C. & Thakur, I. S. (2018). Carbon dioxide capture, storage and production of biofuel and biomaterials by bacteria: A review. Bioresource Technology, 247: 1059-1068. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.09.050</u>.
- Kurano, N., Ikemoto, H., Miyashita, H., Hasegawa, T., Hata, H. & Miyachi, S. (1995). Fixation and utilization of carbon dioxide by microalgal photosynthesis. Energy Conversion and Management, 36 (6): 689-692. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0196-8904(95)00099-Y</u>.
- Laible, G., Cole, S. A., Brophy, B., Wei, J., Leath, S., Jivanji, S., Littlejohn, M. D. & Wells, D. N. (2021). Holstein Friesian dairy cattle edited for diluted coat color as a potential adaptation to climate change. BMC Genomics, 22 (1): 856. doi: 10.1186/s12864-021-08175-z.
- Laporte, M. M., Shen, B. & Tarczynski, M. C. (2002). Engineering for drought avoidance: expression of maize NADP-malic enzyme in tobacco results in altered stomatal function. Journal of Experimental Botany, 53 (369): 699-705.
- Lassen, J. & Løvendahl, P. (2016). Heritability estimates for enteric methane emissions from Holstein cattle measured using noninvasive methods. Journal of Dairy Science, 99 (3): 1959-1967. doi: 10.3168/jds.2015-10012.
- Lassen, J. & Difford, G. F. (2020). Review: Genetic and genomic selection as a methane mitigation strategy in dairy cattle. Animal, 14: s473-s483. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731120001561</u>.
- Lassoued, R., Phillips, P. W. B., Macall, D. M., Hesseln, H. & Smyth, S. J. (2021). Expert opinions on the regulation of plant genome editing. Plant Biotechnology Journal, 19 (6): 1104-1109. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/pbi.13597</u>.
- Lau, N.-S., Matsui, M. & Abdullah, A. A.-A. (2015). Cyanobacteria: Photoautotrophic microbial factories for the sustainable synthesis of industrial products. BioMed Research International, 2015: 754934. doi: 10.1155/2015/754934.
- Laurens, L. M. L., Lane, M. & Nelson, R. S. (2020). Sustainable seaweed biotechnology solutions for carbon capture, composition, and deconstruction. Trends in Biotechnology, 38 (11): 1232-1244. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2020.03.015.
- Lea-Smith, D. J., Vasudevan, R. & Howe, C. J. (2016). Generation of marked and markerless mutants in model cyanobacterial species. JoVE (111): e54001. doi: 10.3791/54001.
- Lebedev, V. G., Popova, A. A. & Shestibratov, K. A. (2021). Genetic Engineering and Genome Editing for Improving Nitrogen Use Efficiency in Plants. Cells, 10 (12): 3303.
- Lechtenfeld, O. J., Hertkorn, N., Shen, Y., Witt, M. & Benner, R. (2015). Marine sequestration of carbon in bacterial metabolites. Nature Communications, 6 (1): 6711. doi: 10.1038/ncomms7711.



- Leegood, R. C. (2002). C4 photosynthesis: principles of CO2 concentration and prospects for its introduction into C3 plants. Journal of Experimental Botany, 53 (369): 581-590. doi: 10.1093/jexbot/53.369.581.
- Leegood, R. C. (2013). Strategies for engineering C4 photosynthesis. Journal of Plant Physiology, 170 (4): 378-388. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2012.10.011</u>.
- Lefebvre, S., Lawson, T., Fryer, M., Zakhleniuk, O. V., Lloyd, J. C. & Raines, C. A. (2005). Increased sedoheptulose-1,7-bisphosphatase activity in transgenic tobacco plants stimulates photosynthesis and growth from an early stage in development. Plant Physiology, 138 (1): 451-460. doi: 10.1104/pp.104.055046.
- Leisen, T., Bietz, F., Werner, J., Wegner, A., Schaffrath, U., Scheuring, D., Willmund, F., Mosbach, A., Scalliet, G. & Hahn, M. (2020). CRISPR/Cas with ribonucleoprotein complexes and transiently selected telomere vectors allows highly efficient markerfree and multiple genome editing in Botrytis cinerea. PLoS Pathog, 16 (8): e1008326. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1008326.
- Lenton, A., Matear, R. J., Keller, D. P., Scott, V. & Vaughan, N. E. (2018). Assessing carbon dioxide removal through global and regional ocean alkalinization under high and low emission pathways. Earth System Dynamics, 9 (2): 339-357. doi: 10.5194/esd-9-339-2018.
- Lenton, T. M. & Vaughan, N. E. (2009). The radiative forcing potential of different climate geoengineering options. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 9 (15): 5539-5561. doi: 10.5194/acp-9-5539-2009.
- Li, F. S., Phyo, P., Jacobowitz, J., Hong, M. & Weng, J. K. (2019). The molecular structure of plant sporopollenin. Nature Plants, 5 (1): 41-46. doi: 10.1038/s41477-018-0330-7.
- Li, J., Zhang, L., Xu, Q., Zhang, W., Li, Z., Chen, L. & Dong, X. (2022). CRISPR-Cas9 toolkit for genome editing in an autotrophic CO-fixing methanogenic archaeon. Microbiology Spectrum (0): e01165-22. doi: doi:10.1128/spectrum.01165-22.
- Li, X., Patena, W., Fauser, F., Jinkerson, R. E., Saroussi, S., Meyer, M. T., Ivanova, N., Robertson, J. M., Yue, R., Zhang, R., et al. (2019). A genome-wide algal mutant library and functional screen identifies genes required for eukaryotic photosynthesis. Nature Genetics, 51 (4): 627-635. doi: 10.1038/s41588-019-0370-6.
- Li, X., Wang, P., Li, J., Wei, S., Yan, Y., Yang, J., Zhao, M., Langdale, J. A. & Zhou, W. (2020). Maize GOLDEN2-LIKE genes enhance biomass and grain yields in rice by improving photosynthesis and reducing photoinhibition. Communications Biology, 3 (1): 151. doi: 10.1038/s42003-020-0887-3.
- Li, Y., Horsman, M., Wu, N., Lan, C. Q. & Dubois-Calero, N. (2008). Biofuels from microalgae. Biotechnology progress, 24 (4): 815-820.
- Li, Y., Heckmann, D., Lercher, M. J. & Maurino, V. G. (2017). Combining genetic and evolutionary engineering to establish C4 metabolism in C3 plants. J Exp Bot, 68 (2): 117-125. doi: 10.1093/jxb/erw333.
- Li, Z., Wakao, S., Fischer, B. B. & Niyogi, K. K. (2009). Sensing and responding to excess light. Annual review of plant biology, 60: 239-260.
- Liang, F. & Lindblad, P. (2017). Synechocystis PCC 6803 overexpressing RuBisCO grow faster with increased photosynthesis. Metabolic Engineering Communications, 4: 29-36. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meteno.2017.02.002</u>.



- Liao, B., Chen, X., Zhou, X., Zhou, Y., Shi, Y., Ye, X., Liao, M., Zhou, Z., Cheng, L. & Ren, B. (2021). Applications of CRISPR/Cas gene-editing technology in yeast and fungi. Arch Microbiol, 204 (1): 79. doi: 10.1007/s00203-021-02723-7.
- Liao, S., Qin, X., Luo, L., Han, Y., Wang, X., Usman, B., Nawaz, G., Zhao, N., Liu, Y. & Li, R. (2019). CRISPR/Cas9-induced mutagenesis of semi-rolled leaf confers curled leaf phenotype and drought tolerance by influencing protein expression patterns and ROS scavenging in rice (Oryza sativa L.). Agronomy, 9 (11): 728.
- Lichius, A., Ruiz, D. M. & Zeilinger, S. (2020). Genetic transformation of filamentous fungi: Achievements and challenges. In Nevalainen, H. (ed.) Grand challenges in fungal biotechnology, pp. 123-164. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Lieman-Hurwitz, J., Rachmilevitch, S., Mittler, R., Marcus, Y. & Kaplan, A. (2003). Enhanced photosynthesis and growth of transgenic plants that express ictB, a gene involved in HCO3– accumulation in cyanobacteria. Plant Biotechnology Journal, 1 (1): 43-50. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1467-7652.2003.00003.x</u>.
- Lieman-Hurwitz, J., Asipov, L., Rachmilevitch, S., Marcus, Y. & Kaplan, A. (2005). Expression of cyanobacterial ictB in higher plants enhanced photosynthesis and growth, Tokyo: Springer Japan.
- Liew, F. J. & Schilling, J. S. (2020). High-efficiency methane capture by living fungi and dried fungal hyphae (necromass). Journal of Environmental Quality, 49 (6): 1467-1476. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jeq2.20136</u>.
- Lin, H. & Qin, S. (2014). Tipping points in seaweed genetic engineering: scaling up opportunities in the next decade. Marine drugs, 12 (5): 3025-3045. doi: 10.3390/md12053025.
- Lin, M. T., Occhialini, A., Andralojc, P. J., Parry, M. A. J. & Hanson, M. R. (2014). A faster Rubisco with potential to increase photosynthesis in crops. Nature, 513 (7519): 547-550. doi: 10.1038/nature13776.
- Liu, Z., Dong, H., Cui, Y., Cong, L. & Zhang, D. (2020). Application of different types of CRISPR/Cas-based systems in bacteria. Microbial Cell Factories, 19 (1): 172. doi: 10.1186/s12934-020-01431-z.
- Long, B. M., Rae, B. D., Rolland, V., Förster, B. & Price, G. D. (2016). Cyanobacterial CO2concentrating mechanism components: function and prospects for plant metabolic engineering. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 31: 1-8. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2016.03.002</u>.
- Long, B. M., Hee, W. Y., Sharwood, R. E., Rae, B. D., Kaines, S., Lim, Y.-L., Nguyen, N. D., Massey, B., Bala, S., von Caemmerer, S., et al. (2018). Carboxysome encapsulation of the CO2-fixing enzyme Rubisco in tobacco chloroplasts. Nature Communications, 9 (1): 3570. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-06044-0.
- Long, S., Zhu, X.-G., Naidu, S. L. & Ort, D. R. (2006). Can improvement in photosynthesis increase crop yields? Plant, Cell & Environment, 29 (3): 315-330. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2005.01493.x.
- López-Calcagno, P. E., Brown, K. L., Simkin, A. J., Fisk, S. J., Vialet-Chabrand, S., Lawson, T. & Raines, C. A. (2020). Stimulating photosynthetic processes increases productivity and water-use efficiency in the field. Nature Plants, 6 (8): 1054-1063. doi: 10.1038/s41477-020-0740-1.



- López-Paredes, J., Goiri, I., Atxaerandio, R., García-Rodríguez, A., Ugarte, E., Jiménez-Montero, J. A., Alenda, R. & González-Recio, O. (2020). Mitigation of greenhouse gases in dairy cattle via genetic selection: 1. Genetic parameters of direct methane using noninvasive methods and proxies of methane. Journal of Dairy Science, 103 (8): 7199-7209. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2019-17597</u>.
- Lorenz, K., Lal, R., Preston, C. M. & Nierop, K. G. J. (2007). Strengthening the soil organic carbon pool by increasing contributions from recalcitrant aliphatic bio(macro)molecules. Geoderma, 142 (1): 1-10. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2007.07.013</u>.
- Luo, S., Lin, P. P., Nieh, L.-Y., Liao, G.-B., Tang, P.-W., Chen, C. & Liao, J. C. (2022). A cell-free self-replenishing CO2-fixing system. Nature Catalysis, 5 (2): 154-162. doi: 10.1038/s41929-022-00746-x.
- Lynch, J. P. (2013). Steep, cheap and deep: an ideotype to optimize water and N acquisition by maize root systems. Annals of Botany, 112 (2): 347-357. doi: 10.1093/aob/mcs293.
- Ma, W., Wei, L., Wang, Q., Shi, D. & Chen, H. (2007). Increased activity of the non-regulated enzymes fructose-1,6-bisphosphate aldolase and triosephosphate isomerase in Anabaena sp. strain PCC 7120 increases photosynthetic yield. Journal of Applied Phycology, 19 (3): 207-213. doi: 10.1007/s10811-006-9125-8.
- Mackenzie, G., Boa, A. N., Diego-Taboada, A., Atkin, S. L. & Sathyapalan, T. (2015). Sporopollenin, the least known yet toughest natural biopolymer. Frontiers in Materials, 2. doi: 10.3389/fmats.2015.00066.
- Maier, A., Fahnenstich, H., Von Caemmerer, S., Engqvist, M., Weber, A., Flügge, U.-I. & Maurino, V. (2012). Transgenic introduction of a glycolate oxidative cycle into A. thaliana chloroplasts leads to growth improvement. Frontiers in Plant Science, 3. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2012.00038.
- Makarova, K. S. & Koonin, E. V. (2015). Annotation and classification of CRISPR-Cas systems. Methods in Molecular Biology, 1311: 47-75. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-2687-9_4.
- Malamy, J. E. (2005). Intrinsic and environmental response pathways that regulate root system architecture. Plant, Cell & Environment, 28 (1): 67-77. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3040.2005.01306.x.
- Malyan, S. K., Kumar, A., Baram, S., Kumar, J., Singh, S., Kumar, S. S. & Yadav, A. N. (2019).
 Role of fungi in climate change abatement through carbon sequestration. In Yadav, A. N., Singh, S., Mishra, S. & Gupta, A. (eds) Recent advancement in white biotechnology through fungi: Volume 3: Perspective for sustainable environments, pp. 283-295. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Manschadi, A. M., Christopher, J., deVoil, P. & Hammer, G. L. (2006). The role of root architectural traits in adaptation of wheat to water-limited environments. Functional Plant Biology, 33 (9): 823-837. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/FP06055</u>.
- Manzanilla-Pech, C. I. V., De Haas, Y., Hayes, B. J., Veerkamp, R. F., Khansefid, M., Donoghue, K. A., Arthur, P. F. & Pryce, J. E. (2016). Genomewide association study of methane emissions in Angus beef cattle with validation in dairy cattle1. Journal of Animal Science, 94 (10): 4151-4166. doi: 10.2527/jas.2016-0431.



- Marschner, B., Brodowski, S., Dreves, A., Gleixner, G., Gude, A., Grootes, P. M., Hamer, U., Heim, A., Jandl, G., Ji, R., et al. (2008). How relevant is recalcitrance for the stabilization of organic matter in soils? Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science, 171 (1): 91-110. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jpln.200700049</u>.
- Martin, C., Morgavi, D. P. & Doreau, M. (2010). Methane mitigation in ruminants: from microbe to the farm scale. Animal, 4 (3): 351-365. doi: 10.1017/S1751731109990620.
- Masuda, T., Tanaka, A. & Melis, A. (2003). Chlorophyll antenna size adjustments by irradiance in Dunaliella salina involve coordinate regulation of chlorophyll a oxygenase (CAO) and Lhcb gene expression. Plant Molecular Biology, 51 (5): 757-71. doi: 10.1023/a:1022545118212.
- Maurino, V. G. (2019). Using energy-efficient synthetic biochemical pathways to bypass photorespiration. Biochemical Society Transactions, 47 (6): 1805-1813. doi: 10.1042/bst20190322.
- Mbow, C., Rosenzweig, C., Barioni, L., Benton, T., Herrero, M., Krishnapillai, M., Liwenga, E., Pradhan, P., Rivera-Ferre, M. & Sapkota, T. (2019). Food security in climate change and land: an IPCC special report on climate change, desertification, land degradation, sustainable land management, food security, and greenhouse gas fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems. Geneva: Intergovernmental panel on climate change.
- McAllister, T. A., Meale, S. J., Valle, E., Guan, L. L., Zhou, M., Kelly, W. J., Henderson, G., Attwood, G. T. & Janssen, P. H. (2015). Ruminant nutrition symposium: Use of genomics and transcriptomics to identify strategies to lower ruminal methanogenesis. Journal of Animal Science, 93 (4): 1431-1449. doi: 10.2527/jas.2014-8329.
- McCutcheon, J., Wilson, S. A. & Southam, G. (2016). Microbially accelerated carbonate mineral precipitation as a strategy for in situ carbon sequestration and rehabilitation of asbestos mine sites. Environmental Science & Technology, 50 (3): 1419-1427. doi: 10.1021/acs.est.5b04293.
- Meysman, F. J. R. & Montserrat, F. (2017) Negative CO2 emissions via enhanced silicate weathering in coastal environments. Biology Letters, 13 (4): 20160905. http://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2016.0905
- Mikami, K. (2014). A technical breakthrough close at hand: feasible approaches toward establishing a gene-targeting genetic transformation system in seaweeds. Frontiers in Plant Science, 5. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2014.00498.
- Minx, J. C., Lamb, W. F., Callaghan, M. W., Fuss, S., Hilaire, J., Creutzig, F., Amann, T., Beringer, T., de Oliveira Garcia, W. & Hartmann, J. (2018). Negative emissions—Part 1: Research landscape and synthesis. Environmental Research Letters, 13 (6): 063001.
- Miyagawa, Y., Tamoi, M. & Shigeoka, S. (2001). Overexpression of a cyanobacterial fructose-1,6-/sedoheptulose-1, 7-bisphosphatase in tobacco enhances photosynthesis and growth. Nature Biotechnology, 19 (10): 965-969. doi: 10.1038/nbt1001-965.
- Moosdorf, N., Renforth, P. & Hartmann, J. (2014). Carbon dioxide efficiency of terrestrial enhanced weathering. Environmental Science & Technology, 48 (9): 4809-4816. doi: 10.1021/es4052022.



- Moreira, D. & Pires, J. C. M. (2016). Atmospheric CO2 capture by algae: Negative carbon dioxide emission path. Bioresource Technology, 215: 371-379. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.03.060</u>.
- Morrison, O. (2021). Biotech company claims genetic selection can cut methane emissions in cattle: Foodnavigator.com. Available at: <u>https://www.foodnavigator.com/Article/2021/06/17/Biotech-company-claims-genetic-selection-can-cut-methane-emissions-in-cattle</u> (accessed: 08.08.2022).
- Müller, G. L., Lara, M. V., Oitaven, P., Andreo, C. S., Maurino, V. G. & Drincovich, M. F. (2018). Improved water use efficiency and shorter life cycle of Nicotiana tabacum due to modification of guard and vascular companion cells. Scientific reports, 8 (1): 1-14.
- Mulligan, J., Rudee, A., Lebling, K., Levin, K., Anderson, J. & Christensen, B. (2020). CarbonShot: federal policy options for carbon removal in the United States.
- Murray, R. M., Bryant, A. M. & Leng, R. A. (1976). Rates of production of methane in the rumen and large intestine of sheep. British Journal of Nutrition, 36 (1): 1-14. doi: 10.1079/BJN19760053.
- Mussgnug, J. H., Thomas-Hall, S., Rupprecht, J., Foo, A., Klassen, V., McDowall, A., Schenk, P.
 M., Kruse, O. & Hankamer, B. (2007). Engineering photosynthetic light capture: impacts on improved solar energy to biomass conversion. Plant Biotechnology Journal, 5 (6): 802-814. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7652.2007.00285.x</u>.
- Naduthodi, M. I. S., Barbosa, M. J. & van der Oost, J. (2018). Progress of CRISPR-Cas based genome editing in photosynthetic microbes. Biotechnology Journal, 13 (9): 1700591. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.201700591</u>.
- Naduthodi, M. I. S., Claassens, N. J., D'Adamo, S., van der Oost, J. & Barbosa, M. J. (2021). Synthetic biology approaches to enhance microalgal productivity. Trends in Biotechnology, 39 (10): 1019-1036. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2020.12.010.
- Nagy, G., Szebenyi, C., Csernetics, Á., Vaz, A. G., Tóth, E. J., Vágvölgyi, C. & Papp, T. (2017). Development of a plasmid free CRISPR-Cas9 system for the genetic modification of Mucor circinelloides. Scientific Reports, 7 (1): 16800. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-17118-2.
- Naseem, M., Osmanoglu, Ö. & Dandekar, T. (2020). Synthetic rewiring of plant CO2 sequestration galvanizes plant biomass production. Trends in Biotechnology, 38 (4): 354-359. doi: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2019.12.019.
- NASEM. (2016). Gene drives on the horizon: advancing science, navigating uncertainty, and aligning research with public values, 0309437903. Washington, DC: National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine.
- NASEM. (2021). A research strategy for ocean-based carbon dioxide removal and sequestration, 0309087619. Washington, DC: National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, Medicine.
- Nayak, D. D. & Metcalf, W. W. (2017). Cas9-mediated genome editing in the methanogenic archaeon Methanosarcina acetivorans. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 114 (11): 2976-2981. doi: doi:10.1073/pnas.1618596114.
- Naylor, D., Sadler, N., Bhattacharjee, A., Graham, E. B., Anderton, C. R., McClure, R., Lipton, M., Hofmockel, K. S. & Jansson, J. K. (2020). Soil microbiomes under climate change and



implications for carbon cycling. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 45 (1): 29-59. doi: 10.1146/annurev-environ-012320-082720.

- Negi, S., Perrine, Z., Friedland, N., Kumar, A., Tokutsu, R., Minagawa, J., Berg, H., Barry, A. N., Govindjee, G. & Sayre, R. (2020). Light regulation of light-harvesting antenna size substantially enhances photosynthetic efficiency and biomass yield in green algaet. The Plant Journal, 103 (2): 584-603. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.14751</u>.
- Nelson, D. M., Tréguer, P., Brzezinski, M. A., Leynaert, A. & Quéguiner, B. (1995). Production and dissolution of biogenic silica in the ocean: Revised global estimates, comparison with regional data and relationship to biogenic sedimentation. Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 9 (3): 359-372. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/95GB01070</u>.
- Ng, D. H. P., Kumar, A. & Cao, B. (2016). Microorganisms meet solid minerals: interactions and biotechnological applications. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 100 (16): 6935-6946. doi: 10.1007/s00253-016-7678-2.
- Nigam, D. & Bhoomika, K. (2022). Targeted genome editing by CRISPR/Cas9 for livestock improvement. In Mondal, S. & Singh, R. L. (eds) Emerging issues in climate smart livestock production, pp. 415-447: Academic Press.
- Nishitani, Y., Yoshida, S., Fujihashi, M., Kitagawa, K., Doi, T., Atomi, H., Imanaka, T. & Miki, K. (2010). Structure-based catalytic optimization of a type III Rubisco from a hyperthermophile. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 285 (50): 39339-39347. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.147587.
- O'Mara, F. P. (2011). The significance of livestock as a contributor to global greenhouse gas emissions today and in the near future. Animal Feed Science and Technology, 166-167: 7-15. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2011.04.074</u>.
- Ogawa, H., Amagai, Y., Koike, I., Kaiser, K. & Benner, R. (2001). Production of refractory dissolved organic matter by bacteria. Science, 292 (5518): 917-920. doi: 10.1126/science.1057627.
- Ogawa, T., Tamoi, M., Kimura, A., Mine, A., Sakuyama, H., Yoshida, E., Maruta, T., Suzuki, K., Ishikawa, T. & Shigeoka, S. (2015). Enhancement of photosynthetic capacity in Euglena gracilis by expression of cyanobacterial fructose-1,6-/sedoheptulose-1,7bisphosphatase leads to increases in biomass and wax ester production. Biotechnology for Biofuels, 8 (1): 80. doi: 10.1186/s13068-015-0264-5.
- Ogren, W. L. (1984). Photorespiration: Pathways, regulation, and modification. Annual Review of Plant Physiology, 35 (1): 415-442. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pp.35.060184.002215.
- Ogura, T., Goeschl, C., Filiault, D., Mirea, M., Slovak, R., Wolhrab, B., Satbhai, S. B. & Busch, W. (2019). Root system depth in Arabidopsis is shaped by EXOCYST70A3 via the dynamic modulation of auxin transport. Cell, 178 (2): 400-412.e16. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.06.021</u>.
- Olaizola, M. (2003). Microalgal removal of CO2 from flue gases: Changes in medium pH and flue gas composition do not appear to affect the photochemical yield of microalgal cultures. Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering, 8 (6): 360-367. doi: 10.1007/BF02949280.
- Onyeaka, H., Miri, T., Obileke, K., Hart, A., Anumudu, C. & Al-Sharify, Z. T. (2021). Minimizing carbon footprint via microalgae as a biological capture. Carbon Capture Science & Technology, 1: 100007. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccst.2021.100007</u>.



- Onyeaka, H. & Ekwebelem, O. C. (2022). A review of recent advances in engineering bacteria for enhanced CO2 capture and utilization. International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology. doi: 10.1007/s13762-022-04303-8.
- Orsi, W. D., Vuillemin, A., Coskun, Ö. K., Rodriguez, P., Oertel, Y., Niggemann, J., Mohrholz, V. & Gomez-Saez, G. V. (2022). Carbon assimilating fungi from surface ocean to subseafloor revealed by coupled phylogenetic and stable isotope analysis. The ISME Journal, 16 (5): 1245-1261. doi: 10.1038/s41396-021-01169-5.
- Ort, D. R., Zhu, X. & Melis, A. (2010). Optimizing antenna size to maximize photosynthetic efficiency. Plant Physiology, 155 (1): 79-85. doi: 10.1104/pp.110.165886.
- OSB & NASEM. (2019). Negative emissions technologies and reliable sequestration: A research agenda.
- Osborne, C. P. & Sack, L. (2012). Evolution of C4 plants: A new hypothesis for an interaction of CO2 and water relations mediated by plant hydraulics. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 367 (1588): 583-600. doi: doi:10.1098/rstb.2011.0261.
- Osborne, H. (2019). Cows genetically modified to burp and fart less could cut methane emissions by half: Newsweek. Available at: <u>https://www.newsweek.com/cow-fartburp-methane-genetic-modification-1447589</u> (accessed: 08.08.2022).
- Ouwerkerk, D., Gilbert, R. A. & Klieve, A. (2011). Archaeaphage therapy to control rumen methanogens.
- Owens, F. N. & Basalan, M. (2016). Ruminal fermentation. In Millen, D. D., De Beni Arrigoni, M. & Lauritano Pacheco, R. D. (eds) Rumenology, pp. 63-102. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Pachiadaki, M. G., Sintes, E., Bergauer, K., Brown, J. M., Record, N. R., Swan, B. K., Mathyer, M. E., Hallam, S. J., Lopez-Garcia, P., Takaki, Y., et al. (2017). Major role of nitriteoxidizing bacteria in dark ocean carbon fixation. Science, 358 (6366): 1046-1051. doi: 10.1126/science.aan8260.
- Packer, M. (2009). Algal capture of carbon dioxide; biomass generation as a tool for greenhouse gas mitigation with reference to New Zealand energy strategy and policy. Energy Policy, 37 (9): 3428-3437. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2008.12.025</u>.
- Palta, J. A. & Turner, N. C. (2019). Crop root system traits cannot be seen as a silver bullet delivering drought resistance. Plant and Soil, 439 (1): 31-43. doi: 10.1007/s11104-018-3864-6.
- Panicker, S. G. (2022). Genome editing and CRISPR/Cas system of extremophiles and its applications. In Gunjal, A. B., Thombre, R. & Parray, J. A. (eds) Physiology, genomics, and biotechnological applications of extremophiles, pp. 136-160. Hershey, PA, USA: IGI Global.
- Park, S., Croteau, P., Boering, K. A., Etheridge, D. M., Ferretti, D., Fraser, P. J., Kim, K. R., Krummel, P. B., Langenfelds, R. L., van Ommen, T. D., et al. (2012). Trends and seasonal cycles in the isotopic composition of nitrous oxide since 1940. Nature Geoscience, 5 (4): 261-265. doi: 10.1038/ngeo1421.
- Parry, M. A., Andralojc, P. J., Scales, J. C., Salvucci, M. E., Carmo-Silva, A. E., Alonso, H. & Whitney, S. M. (2013). Rubisco activity and regulation as targets for crop improvement. Journal of Experimental Botany, 64 (3): 717-30. doi: 10.1093/jxb/ers336.



- Parry, M. A. J., Andralojc, P. J., Mitchell, R. A. C., Madgwick, P. J. & Keys, A. J. (2003). Manipulation of Rubisco: the amount, activity, function and regulation. Journal of Experimental Botany, 54 (386): 1321-1333. doi: 10.1093/jxb/erg141.
- Patel, J. & Mishra, A. (2019). Genome editing: Advances and prospects. In Khurana, S. M. P.
 & Gaur, R. K. (eds) Plant biotechnology: Progress in genomic era, pp. 147-174.
 Singapore: Springer Singapore.
- Patel, J. & Mishra, A. (2021). Plant aquaporins alleviate drought tolerance in plants by modulating cellular biochemistry, root-architecture, and photosynthesis. Physiologia Plantarum, 172 (2): 1030-1044. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ppl.13324</u>.
- Paustian, K., Campbell, N., Dorich, C., Marx, E. & Swan, A. (2016). Assessment of potential greenhouse gas mitigation from changes to crop root mass and architecture. McLean: Booz Allen Hamilton Inc.
- Pawłowska, J., Okrasińska, A., Kisło, K., Aleksandrzak-Piekarczyk, T., Szatraj, K., Dolatabadi, S. & Muszewska, A. (2019). Carbon assimilation profiles of mucoralean fungi show their metabolic versatility. Scientific Reports, 9 (1): 11864. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-48296-w.
- Pedersen, D. & Miller, S. R. (2017). Photosynthetic temperature adaptation during niche diversification of the thermophilic cyanobacterium Synechococcus A/B clade. The ISME Journal, 11 (4): 1053-1057. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2016.173.
- Peña, D. A., Gasser, B., Zanghellini, J., Steiger, M. G. & Mattanovich, D. (2018). Metabolic engineering of Pichia pastoris. Metabolic Engineering, 50: 2-15. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2018.04.017</u>.
- Peng, C., Xu, W., Hu, L., Li, Y., Qi, X., Wang, H., Hua, X. & Zhao, M. (2018). Effects of the maize C4 phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase (ZmPEPC) gene on nitrogen assimilation in transgenic wheat. Plant Growth Regulation, 84 (1): 191-205. doi: 10.1007/s10725-017-0332-x.
- Perrine, Z., Negi, S. & Sayre, R. T. (2012). Optimization of photosynthetic light energy utilization by microalgae. Algal Research, 1 (2): 134-142. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2012.07.002</u>.
- Peterhansel, C., Blume, C. & Offermann, S. (2013a). Photorespiratory bypasses: How can they work? Journal of Experimental Botany, 64 (3): 709-15. doi: 10.1093/jxb/ers247.
- Peterhansel, C., Krause, K., Braun, H. P., Espie, G. S., Fernie, A. R., Hanson, D. T., Keech, O., Maurino, V. G., Mielewczik, M. & Sage, R. F. (2013b). Engineering photorespiration: current state and future possibilities. Plant Biology, 15 (4): 754-758. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1438-8677.2012.00681.x</u>.
- Pinares-Patiño, C. S., Hickey, S. M., Young, E. A., Dodds, K. G., MacLean, S., Molano, G., Sandoval, E., Kjestrup, H., Harland, R., Hunt, C., et al. (2013). Heritability estimates of methane emissions from sheep. Animal, 7: 316-321. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731113000864</u>.
- Pisciotta, J. M., Zou, Y. & Baskakov, I. V. (2010). Light-dependent electrogenic activity of cyanobacteria. PLOS ONE, 5 (5): e10821. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010821.
- Pokharel, R., Gerrits, R., Schuessler, J. A. & von Blanckenburg, F. (2019). Mechanisms of olivine dissolution by rock-inhabiting fungi explored using magnesium stable isotopes. Chemical Geology, 525: 18-27. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2019.07.001</u>.



- Pomeroy, L. R., IeB. WILLIAMS, P. J., Azam, F. & Hobbie, J. E. (2007). The microbial loop. Oceanography, 20 (2): 28-33.
- Poschenrieder, C., Fernández, J. A., Rubio, L., Pérez, L., Terés, J. & Barceló, J. (2018). Transport and use of bicarbonate in plants: Current knowledge and challenges ahead. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 19 (5). doi: 10.3390/ijms19051352.
- Post, A. & Larkum, A. W. D. (1993). UV-absorbing pigments, photosynthesis and UV exposure in Antarctica: comparison of terrestrial and marine algae. Aquatic Botany, 45 (2): 231-243. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3770(93)90023-P</u>.
- Power, I. M., Dipple, G. M. & Southam, G. (2010). Bioleaching of ultramafic tailings by Acidithiobacillus spp. for CO2 sequestration. Environmental Science & Technology, 44 (1): 456-462. doi: 10.1021/es900986n.
- Power, I. M., McCutcheon, J., Harrison, A. L., Wilson, S. A., Dipple, G. M., Kelly, S., Southam, C.
 & Southam, G. (2014). Strategizing carbon-neutral mines: A case for pilot projects. Minerals, 4 (2): 399-436.
- Prajapati, A., Sartape, R., Rojas, T., Dandu, N. K., Dhakal, P., Thorat, A. S., Xie, J., Bessa, I., Galante, M. T., Andrade, M. H. S., et al. (2022). Migration-assisted, moisture gradient process for ultrafast, continuous CO2 capture from dilute sources at ambient conditions. Energy & Environmental Science, 15 (2): 680-692. doi: 10.1039/D1EE03018C.
- Prasad, R., Gupta, S. K., Shabnam, N., Oliveira, C. Y. B., Nema, A. K., Ansari, F. A. & Bux, F. (2021). Role of microalgae in global CO2 sequestration: Physiological mechanism, recent development, challenges, and future prospective. Sustainability, 13 (23): 13061.
- Price, G. D., Badger, M. R., Woodger, F. J. & Long, B. M. (2007). Advances in understanding the cyanobacterial CO2-concentrating-mechanism (CCM): functional components, Ci transporters, diversity, genetic regulation and prospects for engineering into plants. Journal of Experimental Botany, 59 (7): 1441-1461. doi: 10.1093/jxb/erm112.
- Price, G. D., Badger, M. R. & von Caemmerer, S. (2010). The prospect of using cyanobacterial bicarbonate transporters to improve leaf photosynthesis in C3 crop plants. Plant Physiology, 155 (1): 20-26. doi: 10.1104/pp.110.164681.
- Price, G. D., Pengelly, J. J. L., Forster, B., Du, J., Whitney, S. M., von Caemmerer, S., Badger, M. R., Howitt, S. M. & Evans, J. R. (2012). The cyanobacterial CCM as a source of genes for improving photosynthetic CO2 fixation in crop species. Journal of Experimental Botany, 64 (3): 753-768. doi: 10.1093/jxb/ers257.
- Prielhofer, R., Barrero, J. J., Steuer, S., Gassler, T., Zahrl, R., Baumann, K., Sauer, M., Mattanovich, D., Gasser, B. & Marx, H. (2017). GoldenPiCS: a Golden Gate-derived modular cloning system for applied synthetic biology in the yeast Pichia pastoris. BMC Systems Biology, 11 (1): 123. doi: 10.1186/s12918-017-0492-3.
- Pszczola, M., Rzewuska, K., Mucha, S. & Strabel, T. (2017). Heritability of methane emissions from dairy cows over a lactation measured on commercial farms1. Journal of Animal Science, 95 (11): 4813-4819. doi: 10.2527/jas2017.1842.
- Pszczola, M., Strabel, T., Mucha, S. & Sell-Kubiak, E. (2018). Genome-wide association identifies methane production level relation to genetic control of digestive tract



development in dairy cows. Scientific Reports, 8 (1): 15164. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-33327-9.

- Puchta, H. & Fauser, F. (2013). Gene targeting in plants: 25 years later. The International Journal of Developmental Biology, 57 (6-7-8): 629-637. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1387/ijdb.130194hp</u>.
- Puente-Sánchez, F., Arce-Rodríguez, A., Oggerin, M., García-Villadangos, M., Moreno-Paz, M., Blanco, Y., Rodríguez, N., Bird, L., Lincoln, S. A., Tornos, F., et al. (2018). Viable cyanobacteria in the deep continental subsurface. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 115 (42): 10702-10707. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1808176115.
- Qin, S., Lin, H. & Jiang, P. (2012). Advances in genetic engineering of marine algae. Biotechnology Advances, 30 (6): 1602-1613. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2012.05.004</u>.
- Quiroz Arita, C., Yilmaz, Ö., Barlak, S., Catton, K. B., Quinn, J. C. & Bradley, T. H. (2016). A geographical assessment of vegetation carbon stocks and greenhouse gas emissions on potential microalgae-based biofuel facilities in the United States. Bioresource Technology, 221: 270-275. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.09.006</u>.
- Rae, B. D., Long, B. M., Förster, B., Nguyen, N. D., Velanis, C. N., Atkinson, N., Hee, W. Y., Mukherjee, B., Price, G. D. & McCormick, A. J. (2017). Progress and challenges of engineering a biophysical CO2-concentrating mechanism into higher plants. Journal of Experimental Botany, 68 (14): 3717-3737. doi: 10.1093/jxb/erx133.
- Raines, C. (2006). Transgenic approaches to manipulate the environmental responses of the C3 carbon fixation cycle. Plant, Cell & Environment, 29 (3): 331-339. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2005.01488.x.
- Raines, C. A. (2003). The Calvin cycle revisited. Photosynthesis Research, 75 (1): 1-10. doi: 10.1023/A:1022421515027.
- Raven, J. A., Cockell, C. S. & De La Rocha, C. L. (2008). The evolution of inorganic carbon concentrating mechanisms in photosynthesis. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 363 (1504): 2641-2650. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2008.0020.
- Ravishankara, A. R., Daniel, J. S. & Portmann, R. W. (2009). Nitrous Oxide (N₂0): The Dominant Ozone-Depleting Substance Emitted in the 21st Century. Science, 326 (5949): 123-125. doi: doi:10.1126/science.1176985.
- Reisinger, A., Clark, H., Cowie, A. L., Emmet-Booth, J., Gonzalez Fischer, C., Herrero, M., Howden, M. & Leahy, S. (2021). How necessary and feasible are reductions of methane emissions from livestock to support stringent temperature goals?
 Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 379 (2210): 20200452. doi: doi:10.1098/rsta.2020.0452.
- Reynolds, M. P., van Ginkel, M. & Ribaut, J. M. (2000). Avenues for genetic modification of radiation use efficiency in wheat. Journal of Experimental Botany, 51 (suppl_1): 459-473. doi: 10.1093/jexbot/51.suppl_1.459.
- Richards, R. A. (2000). Selectable traits to increase crop photosynthesis and yield of grain crops. Journal of Experimental Botany, 51 (suppl_1): 447-458. doi: 10.1093/jexbot/51.suppl_1.447.



- Richardson, E., Herd, R., Arthur, P., Wright, J., Xu, G., Dibley, K. & Oddy, V. (1996). Possible physiological indicators for net feed conversion efficiency in beef cattle. Proceedings-Australian Society Of Animal Production: Australian Society of Animal Production.
- Ridgwell, A., Singarayer, J. S., Hetherington, A. M. & Valdes, P. J. (2009). Tackling regional climate change by leaf albedo bio-geoengineering. Current Biology, 19 (2): 146-150. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2008.12.025</u>.
- Robinson, N., Winberg, P. & Kirkendale, L. (2013). Genetic improvement of macroalgae: status to date and needs for the future. Journal of Applied Phycology, 25 (3): 703-716. doi: 10.1007/s10811-012-9950-x.
- Rochaix, J.-D. (2011). Regulation of photosynthetic electron transport. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Bioenergetics, 1807 (3): 375-383. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbabio.2010.11.010</u>.
- Rodríguez-Martínez, M., Nielsen, J., Dupont, S., Vamathevan, J., Glover, B. J., Crosswell, L. C., Rouse, B., Luisi, B. F., Bowler, C., Gasser, S. M., et al. (2022). Molecular biology for green recovery—A call for action. PLOS Biology, 20 (4): e3001623. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.3001623.
- Roell, M.-S., Schada von Borzyskowski, L., Westhoff, P., Plett, A., Paczia, N., Claus, P., Schlueter, U., Erb, T. J. & Weber, A. P. M. (2021). A synthetic C4 shuttle via the βhydroxyaspartate cycle in C3 plants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 118 (21): e2022307118. doi: doi:10.1073/pnas.2022307118.
- Rogelj, J., Shindell, D., Jiang, K., Fifita, S., Forster, P., Ginzburg, V., Handa, C., Kheshgi, H., Kobayashi, S. & Kriegler, E. (2018). Global Warming of 1.5° C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5° C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty. Sustainable Development, and Efforts to Eradicate Poverty, V. Masson-Delmotte et al., Eds.(Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 2018).
- Rolland, V., Badger, M. R. & Price, G. D. (2016). Redirecting the cyanobacterial bicarbonate transporters BicA and SbtA to the chloroplast envelope: Soluble and membrane cargos need different chloroplast targeting signals in plants. Frontiers in Plant Science, 7. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2016.00185.
- Rosenthal, D. M., Locke, A. M., Khozaei, M., Raines, C. A., Long, S. P. & Ort, D. R. (2011). Overexpressing the C3 photosynthesis cycle enzyme Sedoheptulose-1-7 Bisphosphatase improves photosynthetic carbon gain and yield under fully open air CO2 fumigation (FACE). BMC Plant Biology, 11 (1): 123. doi: 10.1186/1471-2229-11-123.
- Sade, N., Gebretsadik, M., Seligmann, R., Schwartz, A., Wallach, R. & Moshelion, M. (2009). The role of tobacco aquaporin1 in improving water use efficiency, hydraulic conductivity, and yield production under salt stress Plant Physiology, 152 (1): 245-254. doi: 10.1104/pp.109.145854.
- Sage, R. F., Li, M. R. & Monson, R. K. (1999). The taxonomic distribution of C4 photosynthesis. In Sage, R. F. & Monson, R. K. (eds) C4 plant biology, pp. 551-584. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Sage, R. F. (2004). The evolution of C4 photosynthesis. New Phytologist, 161 (2): 341-370. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.00974.x</u>.



- Sahoo, P. C., Pant, D., Kumar, M., Puri, S. K. & Ramakumar, S. S. V. (2020). Material-microbe interfaces for solar-driven CO2 bioelectrosynthesis. Trends in Biotechnology, 38 (11): 1245-1261. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2020.03.008</u>.
- Saif Hasan, S. & Cramer, W. A. (2012). On rate limitations of electron transfer in the photosynthetic cytochrome b6f complex. Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics, 14 (40): 13853-13860. doi: 10.1039/C2CP41386H.
- Saini, R., Kapoor, R., Kumar, R., Siddiqi, T. O. & Kumar, A. (2011). CO2 utilizing microbes A comprehensive review. Biotechnology Advances, 29 (6): 949-960. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.08.009</u>.
- Sakamoto, T., Morinaka, Y., Ohnishi, T., Sunohara, H., Fujioka, S., Ueguchi-Tanaka, M., Mizutani, M., Sakata, K., Takatsuto, S., Yoshida, S., et al. (2006). Erect leaves caused by brassinosteroid deficiency increase biomass production and grain yield in rice. Nature Biotechnology, 24 (1): 105-109. doi: 10.1038/nbt1173.
- Sakamoto, T. & Matsuoka, M. (2008). Identifying and exploiting grain yield genes in rice. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 11 (2): 209-214. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2008.01.009</u>.
- Salehizadeh, H., Yan, N. & Farnood, R. (2020). Recent advances in microbial CO2 fixation and conversion to value-added products. Chemical Engineering Journal, 390: 124584. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2020.124584</u>.
- Santos-Merino, M., Singh, A. K. & Ducat, D. C. (2019). New applications of synthetic biology tools for cyanobacterial metabolic engineering. Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology, 7. doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2019.00033.
- Santos Correa, S., Schultz, J., Lauersen, K. J. & Soares Rosado, A. (2022). Natural carbon fixation and advances in synthetic engineering for redesigning and creating new fixation pathways. Journal of Advanced Research. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jare.2022.07.011.
- Satagopan, S. & Tabita, F. R. (2016). RubisCO selection using the vigorously aerobic and metabolically versatile bacterium Ralstonia eutropha. The FEBS Journal, 283 (15): 2869-2880. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.13774</u>.
- Satagopan, S., Huening, K. A. & Tabita, F. R. (2019). Selection of cyanobacterial Synechococcus sp. strain PCC 6301) RubisCO variants with improved functional properties that confer enhanced CO2-dependent growth of Rhodobacter capsulatus, a photosynthetic bacterium. mBio, 10 (4): e01537-19. doi: doi:10.1128/mBio.01537-19.
- Sato, T., Atomi, H. & Imanaka, T. (2007). Archaeal type III RuBisCOs function in a pathway for AMP metabolism. Science, 315 (5814): 1003-1006.
- Sayre, R. (2010). Microalgae: The potential for carbon capture. BioScience, 60 (9): 722-727. doi: 10.1525/bio.2010.60.9.9.
- Scheffen, M., Marchal, D. G., Beneyton, T., Schuller, S. K., Klose, M., Diehl, C., Lehmann, J., Pfister, P., Carrillo, M., He, H., et al. (2021). A new-to-nature carboxylation module to improve natural and synthetic CO2 fixation. Nature Catalysis, 4 (2): 105-115. doi: 10.1038/s41929-020-00557-y.
- Schiemann, J., Robienski, J., Schleissing, S., Spök, A., Sprink, T. & Wilhelm, R. A. (2020). Editorial: Plant genome editing – policies and governance. Frontiers in Plant Science, 11. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2020.00284.



- Schmidt, S. M., Belisle, M. & Frommer, W. B. (2020). The evolving landscape around genome editing in agriculture. EMBO reports, 21 (6): e50680. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.202050680</u>.
- Schuler, M. L., Mantegazza, O. & Weber, A. P. M. (2016). Engineering C4 photosynthesis into C3 chassis in the synthetic biology age. The Plant Journal, 87 (1): 51-65. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.13155</u>.
- Schuster, M. & Kahmann, R. (2019). CRISPR-Cas9 genome editing approaches in filamentous fungi and oomycetes. Fungal Genetics and Biology, 130: 43-53. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fgb.2019.04.016</u>.
- Schwander, T., Schada von Borzyskowski, L., Burgener, S., Cortina, N. S. & Erb, T. J. (2016). A synthetic pathway for the fixation of carbon dioxide in vitro. Science, 354 (6314): 900-904. doi: 10.1126/science.aah5237.
- Schweitzer, H., Aalto, N. J., Busch, W., Chan, D. T. C., Chiesa, M., Elvevoll, E. O., Gerlach, R., Krause, K., Mocaer, K. & Moran, J. J. (2021). Innovating carbon-capture biotechnologies through ecosystem-inspired solutions. One Earth, 4 (1): 49-59.
- Sclarsic, S. M. H. (2021). A bioengineering roadmap for negative emissions technologies: Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
- Sellappan, R., Krishnan, A. & Thangavel, K. (2022). Role of plant microbiome in carbon sequestration for sustainable agriculture. In Core Microbiome, pp. 190-205.
- Sethi, D., Butler, T. O., Shuhaili, F. & Vaidyanathan, S. (2020). Diatoms for carbon sequestration and bio-based manufacturing. Biology (Basel), 9 (8). doi: 10.3390/biology9080217.
- Shekoofa, A. & Sinclair, T. R. (2018). Aquaporin activity to improve crop drought tolerance. Cells, 7 (9): 123.
- Shen, W. J., Chen, G. X., Xu, J. G., Jiang, Y., Liu, L., Gao, Z. P., Ma, J., Chen, X., Chen, T. H. & Lv, C. F. (2015). Overexpression of maize phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase improves drought tolerance in rice by stabilization the function and structure of thylakoid membrane. Photosynthetica, 53 (3): 436-446. doi: 10.1007/s11099-015-0111-8.
- Shestakov, S. V. & Khyen, N. T. (1970). Evidence for genetic transformation in blue-green alga Anacystis nidulans. Molecular and General Genetics MGG, 107 (4): 372-375. doi: 10.1007/BF00441199.
- Shih, P. M., Zarzycki, J., Niyogi, K. K. & Kerfeld, C. A. (2014). Introduction of a synthetic Cofixing photorespiratory bypass into a cyanobacterium. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 289 (14): 9493-9500. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C113.543132.
- Siddique, K. H. M., Belford, R. K. & Tennant, D. (1990). Root:shoot ratios of old and modern, tall and semi-dwarf wheats in a mediterranean environment. Plant and Soil, 121 (1): 89-98. doi: 10.1007/BF00013101.
- Simkin, A. J., McAusland, L., Headland, L. R., Lawson, T. & Raines, C. A. (2015). Multigene manipulation of photosynthetic carbon assimilation increases CO2 fixation and biomass yield in tobacco. Journal of Experimental Botany, 66 (13): 4075-4090. doi: 10.1093/jxb/erv204.
- Simkin, A. J., Lopez-Calcagno, P. E., Davey, P. A., Headland, L. R., Lawson, T., Timm, S., Bauwe, H. & Raines, C. A. (2017). Simultaneous stimulation of sedoheptulose 1,7bisphosphatase, fructose 1,6-bisphophate aldolase and the photorespiratory glycine decarboxylase-H protein increases CO2 assimilation, vegetative biomass and seed



yield in Arabidopsis. Plant Biotechnology Journal, 15 (7): 805-816. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/pbi.12676</u>.

- Simkin, A. J. (2019). Genetic engineering for global food security: Photosynthesis and biofortification. Plants, 8 (12): 586.
- Simkin, A. J., López-Calcagno, P. E. & Raines, C. A. (2019). Feeding the world: improving photosynthetic efficiency for sustainable crop production. Journal of Experimental Botany, 70 (4): 1119-1140. doi: 10.1093/jxb/ery445.
- Six, J., Frey, S. D., Thiet, R. K. & Batten, K. M. (2006). Bacterial and fungal contributions to carbon sequestration in agroecosystems. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 70 (2): 555-569. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj2004.0347</u>.
- Smetacek, V., Klaas, C., Strass, V. H., Assmy, P., Montresor, M., Cisewski, B., Savoye, N., Webb, A., d'Ovidio, F., Arrieta, J. M., et al. (2012). Deep carbon export from a Southern Ocean iron-fertilized diatom bloom. Nature, 487 (7407): 313-319. doi: 10.1038/nature11229.
- Smith, M. A., Cain, M. & Allen, M. R. (2021). Further improvement of warming-equivalent emissions calculation. npj Climate and Atmospheric Science, 4 (1): 19. doi: 10.1038/s41612-021-00169-8.
- Smyth, S. (2019). Global status of the regulation of genome editing technologies. CAB Reviews, 14 (021): 1-6.
- Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Averyt, K. & Marquis, M. (2007). Climate change 2007-the physical science basis: Working group I contribution to the fourth assessment report of the IPCC, vol. 4: Cambridge university press.
- Somerville, C. R. & Ogren, W. L. (1982). Genetic modification of photorespiration. Trends in Biochemical Sciences, 7 (5): 171-174. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0968-0004(82)90130-X</u>.
- Song, Q., Wang, Y., Qu, M., Ort, D. R. & Zhu, X.-G. (2017). The impact of modifying photosystem antenna size on canopy photosynthetic efficiency—Development of a new canopy photosynthesis model scaling from metabolism to canopy level processes. Plant, Cell & Environment, 40 (12): 2946-2957. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.13041</u>.
- Song, R., Zhai, Q., Sun, L., Huang, E., Zhang, Y., Zhu, Y., Guo, Q., Tian, Y., Zhao, B. & Lu, H. (2019). CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing technology in filamentous fungi: progress and perspective. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 103 (17): 6919-6932. doi: 10.1007/s00253-019-10007-w.
- South, P. & Ort, D. R. (2017). Engineering biochemical bypass to photorespiration to improve photosynthesis and crop production. The FASEB Journal, 31 (S1): 628.3-628.3. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.31.1_supplement.628.3</u>.
- South, P. F., Cavanagh, A. P., Liu, H. W. & Ort, D. R. (2019). Synthetic glycolate metabolism pathways stimulate crop growth and productivity in the field. Science, 363 (6422). doi: 10.1126/science.aat9077.
- Stevens, S. E. & Porter, R. D. (1980). Transformation in Agmenellum quadruplicatum. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 77 (10): 6052-6056. doi: 10.1073/pnas.77.10.6052.
- Straub, C. T., Counts, J. A., Nguyen, D. M. N., Wu, C.-H., Zeldes, B. M., Crosby, J. R., Conway, J. M., Otten, J. K., Lipscomb, G. L., Schut, G. J., et al. (2018). Biotechnology of extremely



thermophilic archaea. FEMS Microbiology Reviews, 42 (5): 543-578. doi: 10.1093/femsre/fuy012.

- Su, J., Hu, C., Yan, X., Jin, Y., Chen, Z., Guan, Q., Wang, Y., Zhong, D., Jansson, C., Wang, F., et al. (2015). Expression of barley SUSIBA2 transcription factor yields high-starch lowmethane rice. Nature, 523 (7562): 602-606. doi: 10.1038/nature14673.
- Su, Y., Cestellos-Blanco, S., Kim, J. M., Shen, Y.-x., Kong, Q., Lu, D., Liu, C., Zhang, H., Cao, Y. & Yang, P. (2020). Close-packed nanowire-bacteria hybrids for efficient solar-driven CO2 fixation. Joule, 4 (4): 800-811. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2020.03.001</u>.
- Subbarao, G. V., Rao, I. M., Nakahara, K., Sahrawat, K. L., Ando, Y. & Kawashima, T. (2013). Potential for biological nitrification inhibition to reduce nitrification and N20 emissions in pasture crop-livestock systems. Animal, 7 Suppl 2: 322-32. doi: 10.1017/s1751731113000761.
- Sun, T., Li, S., Song, X., Diao, J., Chen, L. & Zhang, W. (2018). Toolboxes for cyanobacteria: Recent advances and future direction. Biotechnology Advances, 36 (4): 1293-1307. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2018.04.007</u>.
- Takahara, K., Kasajima, I., Takahashi, H., Hashida, S.-n., Itami, T., Onodera, H., Toki, S., Yanagisawa, S., Kawai-Yamada, M. & Uchimiya, H. (2010). Metabolome and photochemical analysis of rice plants overexpressing Arabidopsis NAD kinase gene. Plant Physiology, 152 (4): 1863-1873. doi: 10.1104/pp.110.153098.
- Tamoi, M., Nagaoka, M., Miyagawa, Y. & Shigeoka, S. (2006). Contribution of fructose-1,6bisphosphatase and sedoheptulose-1,7-bisphosphatase to the photosynthetic rate and carbon flow in the Calvin Cycle in transgenic plants. Plant and Cell Physiology, 47 (3): 380-390. doi: 10.1093/pcp/pcj004.
- Taniguchi, Y., Ohkawa, H., Masumoto, C., Fukuda, T., Tamai, T., Lee, K., Sudoh, S., Tsuchida, H., Sasaki, H., Fukayama, H., et al. (2008). Overproduction of C4 photosynthetic enzymes in transgenic rice plants: an approach to introduce the C4-like photosynthetic pathway into rice. Journal of Experimental Botany, 59 (7): 1799-1809. doi: 10.1093/jxb/ern016.
- Tao, Y., Chiu, L.-W., Hoyle, J. W., Du, J., Rasmussen, K., Mellor, P., Richey, C., Kuiper, J., Fried, M., Dewhirst, R. A., et al. (2022). Enhanced photosynthetic efficiency for increased carbon assimilation and woody biomass production in hybrid poplar INRA 717-1B4. bioRxiv: 2022.02.16.480797. doi: 10.1101/2022.02.16.480797.
- Tcherkez, G. G. B., Farquhar, G. D. & Andrews, T. J. (2006). Despite slow catalysis and confused substrate specificity, all ribulose bisphosphate carboxylases may be nearly perfectly optimized. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 103 (19): 7246-7251. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0600605103.
- Thevenot, M., Dignac, M.-F. & Rumpel, C. (2010). Fate of lignins in soils: A review. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 42 (8): 1200-1211. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.03.017.
- Tomar, V., Sidhu, G. K., Nogia, P., Mehrotra, R. & Mehrotra, S. (2017). Regulatory components of carbon concentrating mechanisms in aquatic unicellular photosynthetic organisms. Plant Cell Reports, 36 (11): 1671-1688. doi: 10.1007/s00299-017-2191-3.
- Treseder, K. K. & Holden, S. R. (2013). Fungal carbon sequestration. Science, 339 (6127): 1528-1529. doi: doi:10.1126/science.1236338.



- Trinugroho, J. P., Bečková, M., Shao, S., Yu, J., Zhao, Z., Murray, J. W., Sobotka, R., Komenda, J. & Nixon, P. J. (2020). Chlorophyll f synthesis by a super-rogue photosystem II complex. Nature Plants, 6 (3): 238-244. doi: 10.1038/s41477-020-0616-4.
- Trudeau, D. L., Edlich-Muth, C., Zarzycki, J., Scheffen, M., Goldsmith, M., Khersonsky, O., Avizemer, Z., Fleishman, S. J., Cotton, C. A. R., Erb, T. J., et al. (2018). Design and in vitro realization of carbon-conserving photorespiration. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 115 (49): E11455-E11464. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1812605115.
- Trumbore, S. (2006). Carbon respired by terrestrial ecosystems recent progress and challenges. Global Change Biology, 12 (2): 141-153. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01067.x.
- Tuomela, M., Vikman, M., Hatakka, A. & Itävaara, M. (2000). Biodegradation of lignin in a compost environment: a review. Bioresource Technology, 72 (2): 169-183. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-8524(99)00104-2</u>.
- Uematsu, K., Suzuki, N., Iwamae, T., Inui, M. & Yukawa, H. (2012). Increased fructose 1,6bisphosphate aldolase in plastids enhances growth and photosynthesis of tobacco plants. Journal of Experimental Botany, 63 (8): 3001-3009. doi: 10.1093/jxb/ers004.
- Uga, Y., Okuno, K. & Yano, M. (2011). Dro1, a major QTL involved in deep rooting of rice under upland field conditions. Journal of Experimental Botany, 62 (8): 2485-2494. doi: 10.1093/jxb/erq429.
- Uga, Y., Sugimoto, K., Ogawa, S., Rane, J., Ishitani, M., Hara, N., Kitomi, Y., Inukai, Y., Ono, K., Kanno, N., et al. (2013). Control of root system architecture by DEEPER ROOTING 1 increases rice yield under drought conditions. Nature Genetics, 45 (9): 1097-1102. doi: 10.1038/ng.2725.
- Ullah, M., Xia, L., Xie, S. & Sun, S. (2020). CRISPR/Cas9-based genome engineering: A new breakthrough in the genetic manipulation of filamentous fungi. Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry, 67 (6): 835-851. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bab.2077</u>.
- Van Eenennaam, A. L., Silva, F. D. F., Trott, J. F. & Zilberman, D. (2021). Genetic engineering of livestock: The opportunity cost of regulatory delay. Annual Review of Animal Biosciences, 9 (1): 453-478. doi: 10.1146/annurev-animal-061220-023052.
- van Leeuwe, T. M., Arentshorst, M., Ernst, T., Alazi, E., Punt, P. J. & Ram, A. F. J. (2019). Efficient marker free CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing for functional analysis of gene families in filamentous fungi. Fungal Biology and Biotechnology, 6 (1): 13. doi: 10.1186/s40694-019-0076-7.
- Venkata Mohan, S., Modestra, J. A., Amulya, K., Butti, S. K. & Velvizhi, G. (2016). A circular bioeconomy with biobased products from CO2 sequestration. Trends in Biotechnology, 34 (6): 506-519. doi: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2016.02.012.
- Verruto, J., Francis, K., Wang, Y., Low, M. C., Greiner, J., Tacke, S., Kuzminov, F., Lambert, W., McCarren, J., Ajjawi, I., et al. (2018). Unrestrained markerless trait stacking in Nannochloropsis gaditana through combined genome editing and marker recycling technologies. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 115 (30): E7015-E7022. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1718193115.
- Vijay, D., Akhtar, M. K. & Hess, W. R. (2019). Genetic and metabolic advances in the engineering of cyanobacteria. Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 59: 150-156. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2019.05.012</u>.



- Vinyard, D. J., Gimpel, J., Ananyev, G. M., Mayfield, S. P. & Dismukes, G. C. (2014). Engineered photosystem II reaction centers optimize photochemistry versus photoprotection at different solar intensities. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 136 (10): 4048-4055. doi: 10.1021/ja5002967.
- Viswanaathan, S., Perumal, P. K. & Sundaram, S. (2022). Integrated approach for carbon sequestration and wastewater treatment using algal-bacterial consortia: Opportunities and challenges. Sustainability, 14 (3): 1075.
- von Caemmerer, S., Quick, W. P. & Furbank, R. T. (2012). The development of C4 rice: Current progress and future challenges. Science, 336 (6089): 1671-1672. doi: 10.1126/science.1220177.
- Waines, J. G. & Ehdaie, B. (2007). Domestication and crop physiology: roots of greenrevolution wheat. Ann Bot, 100 (5): 991-8. doi: 10.1093/aob/mcm180.
- Wall, E., Simm, G. & Moran, D. (2010). Developing breeding schemes to assist mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions. Animal, 4 (3): 366-376. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S175173110999070X</u>.
- Wallace, R. J., Sasson, G., Garnsworthy, P. C., Tapio, I., Gregson, E., Bani, P., Huhtanen, P., Bayat, A. R., Strozzi, F., Biscarini, F., et al. (2019). A heritable subset of the core rumen microbiome dictates dairy cow productivity and emissions. Science Advances, 5 (7): eaav8391. doi: doi:10.1126/sciadv.aav8391.
- Wang, B., Li, Y., Wu, N. & Lan, C. Q. (2008). CO(2) bio-mitigation using microalgae. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 79 (5): 707-18. doi: 10.1007/s00253-008-1518-y.
- Wang, C., Sun, B., Zhang, X., Huang, X., Zhang, M., Guo, H., Chen, X., Huang, F., Chen, T., Mi, H., et al. (2019). Structural mechanism of the active bicarbonate transporter from cyanobacteria. Nature Plants, 5 (11): 1184-1193. doi: 10.1038/s41477-019-0538-1.
- Wang, L., Liu, Y., Feng, S., Yang, J., Li, D. & Zhang, J. (2017). Roles of plasmalemma aquaporin gene StPIP1 in enhancing drought tolerance in potato. Frontiers in Plant Science, 8. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2017.00616.
- Wang, Q. & Coleman, J. J. (2019). Progress and challenges: Development and implementation of CRISPR/Cas9 technology in filamentous fungi. Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal, 17: 761-769. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2019.06.007</u>.
- Wang, X., Gao, F., Bing, J., Sun, W., Feng, X., Ma, X., Zhou, Y. & Zhang, G. (2019).
 Overexpression of the jojoba aquaporin gene, ScPIP1, enhances drought and salt tolerance in transgenic Arabidopsis. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 20 (1): 153.
- Weerahandi, N., Ngo, V., & Fagan, J.M. (2012) Alternative fuels for vehicle. An overview of various approaches for reducing greenhouse gas emissions and ending oil dependence. 1–13.
- Wei, L., Wang, Q., Xin, Y., Lu, Y. & Xu, J. (2017). Enhancing photosynthetic biomass productivity of industrial oleaginous microalgae by overexpression of RuBisCO activase. Algal Research, 27: 366-375. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2017.07.023</u>.
- Welch, S. A., Barker, W. W. & Banfield, J. F. (1999). Microbial extracellular polysaccharides and plagioclase dissolution. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 63 (9): 1405-1419. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-7037(99)00031-9</u>.



- Weller, J. I., Ezra, E. & Ron, M. (2017). Invited review: A perspective on the future of genomic selection in dairy cattle. Journal of Dairy Science, 100 (11): 8633-8644. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2017-12879</u>.
- Weninger, A., Hatzl, A.-M., Schmid, C., Vogl, T. & Glieder, A. (2016). Combinatorial optimization of CRISPR/Cas9 expression enables precision genome engineering in the methylotrophic yeast Pichia pastoris. Journal of Biotechnology, 235: 139-149. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2016.03.027</u>.
- Whitney, S. M., Houtz, R. L. & Alonso, H. (2010). Advancing our understanding and capacity to engineer nature's CO2-sequestering enzyme, Rubisco. Plant Physiology, 155 (1): 27-35. doi: 10.1104/pp.110.164814.
- Whitney, S. M., Sharwood, R. E., Orr, D., White, S. J., Alonso, H. & Galmés, J. (2011). Isoleucine 309 acts as a C4 catalytic switch that increases ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase (rubisco) carboxylation rate in Flaveria. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108 (35): 14688-14693. doi: doi:10.1073/pnas.1109503108.
- Whitney, S. M., Birch, R., Kelso, C., Beck, J. L. & Kapralov, M. V. (2015). Improving recombinant Rubisco biogenesis, plant photosynthesis and growth by coexpressing its ancillary RAF1 chaperone. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 112 (11): 3564-3569. doi: doi:10.1073/pnas.1420536112.
- Wilson, R., Alonso, H. & Whitney, S. (2016). Evolving Methanococcoides burtonii archaeal Rubisco for improved photosynthesis and plant growth. Scientific Reports, 6 (22284).
- Wilson, R. H. & Whitney, S. M. (2017). Improving CO2 fixation by enhancing Rubisco performance. In Alcalde, M. (ed.) Directed enzyme evolution: Advances and applications, pp. 101-126. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Winichayakul, S., Beechey-Gradwell, Z., Muetzel, S., Molano, G., Crowther, T., Lewis, S., Xue, H., Burke, J., Bryan, G. & Roberts, N. J. (2020). In vitro gas production and rumen fermentation profile of fresh and ensiled genetically modified high–metabolizable energy ryegrass. Journal of Dairy Science, 103 (3): 2405-2418. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2019-16781</u>.
- Wolf, B. M., Niedzwiedzki, D. M., Magdaong, N. C. M., Roth, R., Goodenough, U. & Blankenship, R. E. (2018). Characterization of a newly isolated freshwater Eustigmatophyte alga capable of utilizing far-red light as its sole light source. Photosynthesis Research, 135 (1): 177-189. doi: 10.1007/s11120-017-0401-z.
- Work, V. H., D'Adamo, S., Radakovits, R., Jinkerson, R. E. & Posewitz, M. C. (2012). Improving photosynthesis and metabolic networks for the competitive production of phototroph-derived biofuels. Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 23 (3): 290-297. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2011.11.022.
- Wu-Scharf, D., Jeong, B., Zhang, C. & Cerutti, H. (2000). Transgene and transposon silencing in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii by a DEAH-box RNA helicase. Science, 290 (5494): 1159-62. doi: 10.1126/science.290.5494.1159.
- Wuebbles, D. J. & Hayhoe, K. (2002). Atmospheric methane and global change. Earth-Science Reviews, 57 (3): 177-210. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0012-8252(01)00062-9</u>.
- Wunderling, A., Ripper, D., Barra-Jimenez, A., Mahn, S., Sajak, K., Targem, M. B. & Ragni, L. (2018). A molecular framework to study periderm formation in Arabidopsis. New Phytologist, 219 (1): 216-229. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.15128</u>.



- Xiang, Y., Zhang, J. & Weeks, D. P. (2001). The Cia5 gene controls formation of the carbon concentrating mechanism in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 98 (9): 5341-5346. doi: 10.1073/pnas.101534498.
- Xin, C.-P., Tholen, D., Devloo, V. & Zhu, X.-G. (2014). The benefits of photorespiratory bypasses: How can they work? Plant Physiology, 167 (2): 574-585. doi: 10.1104/pp.114.248013.
- Xu, X., Gu, X., Wang, Z., Shatner, W. & Wang, Z. (2019). Progress, challenges and solutions of research on photosynthetic carbon sequestration efficiency of microalgae.
 Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 110: 65-82. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.04.050.
- Yadav, S. & Mishra, A. (2019). Introgression of C4 pathway gene(s) in C3 plants to improve photosynthetic carbon assimilation for crop improvement: A biotechnological approach. In Photosynthesis, productivity and environmental stress, pp. 267-281. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons.
- Yadav, S. & Mishra, A. (2020). Ectopic expression of C4 photosynthetic pathway genes improves carbon assimilation and alleviate stress tolerance for future climate change. Physiology and Molecular Biology of Plants, 26 (2): 195-209. doi: 10.1007/s12298-019-00751-8.
- Yahia, E. M., Carrillo-López, A., Barrera, G. M., Suzán-Azpiri, H. & Bolaños, M. Q. (2019). Photosynthesis. In Yahia, E. M. (ed.) Postharvest physiology and biochemistry of fruits and vegetables, pp. 47-72: Woodhead Publishing.
- Yamamuro, C., Ihara, Y., Wu, X., Noguchi, T., Fujioka, S., Takatsuto, S., Ashikari, M., Kitano, H. & Matsuoka, M. (2000). Loss of function of a rice brassinosteroid insensitive1 homolog prevents internode elongation and bending of the lamina joint. The Plant Cell, 12 (9): 1591-1605. doi: 10.1105/tpc.12.9.1591.
- Yamori, W., Kondo, E., Sugiura, D., Terashima, I., Suzuki, Y. & Makino, A. (2016). Enhanced leaf photosynthesis as a target to increase grain yield: insights from transgenic rice lines with variable Rieske FeS protein content in the cytochrome b6/f complex. Plant, Cell & Environment, 39 (1): 80-87. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.12594</u>.
- Yang, B., Liu, J., Ma, X., Guo, B., Liu, B., Wu, T., Jiang, Y. & Chen, F. (2017). Genetic engineering of the Calvin cycle toward enhanced photosynthetic CO2 fixation in microalgae. Biotechnology for Biofuels, 10 (1): 229. doi: 10.1186/s13068-017-0916-8.
- Yang, S.-M., Chang, C.-Y., Yanagisawa, M., Park, I., Tseng, T.-H. & Ku, M. S. B. (2008). Transgenic rice expressing cyanobacterial bicarbonate transporter exhibited enhanced photosynthesis, growth and grain yield, Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.
- Yang, X., Cushman, J. C., Borland, A. M., Edwards, E. J., Wullschleger, S. D., Tuskan, G. A., Owen, N. A., Griffiths, H., Smith, J. A. C., De Paoli, H. C., et al. (2015). A roadmap for research on crassulacean acid metabolism (CAM) to enhance sustainable food and bioenergy production in a hotter, drier world. New Phytologist, 207 (3): 491-504. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13393</u>.
- Yang, X., Liu, L., Yin, Z., Wang, X., Wang, S. & Ye, Z. (2020). Quantifying photosynthetic performance of phytoplankton based on photosynthesis–irradiance response models. Environmental Sciences Europe, 32 (1): 24. doi: 10.1186/s12302-020-00306-9.



- Yang, Z. & Blenner, M. (2020). Genome editing systems across yeast species. Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 66: 255-266. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2020.08.011.
- Yu, H., Li, X., Duchoud, F., Chuang, D. S. & Liao, J. C. (2018). Augmenting the Calvin–Benson– Bassham cycle by a synthetic malyl-CoA-glycerate carbon fixation pathway. Nature Communications, 9 (1): 2008. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-04417-z.
- Yu King Hing, N., Liang, F., Lindblad, P. & Morgan, J. A. (2019). Combining isotopically nonstationary metabolic flux analysis with proteomics to unravel the regulation of the Calvin-Benson-Bassham cycle in Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803. Metabolic Engineering, 56: 77-84. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2019.08.014</u>.
- Zech, W., Senesi, N., Guggenberger, G., Kaiser, K., Lehmann, J., Miano, T. M., Miltner, A. & Schroth, G. (1997). Factors controlling humification and mineralization of soil organic matter in the tropics. Geoderma, 79 (1-4): 117-161.
- Zetouni, L., Kargo, M., Norberg, E. & Lassen, J. (2018). Genetic correlations between methane production and fertility, health, and body type traits in Danish Holstein cows. Journal of Dairy Science, 101 (3): 2273-2280. doi: 10.3168/jds.2017-13402.
- Zevenhoven, R., Fagerlund, J. & Songok, J. K. (2011). CO2 mineral sequestration: developments toward large-scale application. Greenhouse Gases: Science and Technology, 1 (1): 48-57. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ghg3.7</u>.
- Zhan, A., Schneider, H. & Lynch, J. P. (2015). Reduced lateral root branching density improves drought tolerance in maize. Plant Physiology, 168 (4): 1603-15. doi: 10.1104/pp.15.00187.
- Zhang, Y.-T., Jiang, J.-Y., Shi, T.-Q., Sun, X.-M., Zhao, Q.-Y., Huang, H. & Ren, L.-J. (2019). Application of the CRISPR/Cas system for genome editing in microalgae. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 103 (8): 3239-3248. doi: 10.1007/s00253-019-09726x.
- Zhang, Y., Malzahn, A. A., Sretenovic, S. & Qi, Y. (2019). The emerging and uncultivated potential of CRISPR technology in plant science. Nature Plants, 5 (8): 778-794. doi: 10.1038/s41477-019-0461-5.
- Zhao, M., Tang, S., Zhang, H., He, M., Liu, J., Zhi, H., Sui, Y., Liu, X., Jia, G., Zhao, Z., et al. (2020). DROOPY LEAF1 controls leaf architecture by orchestrating early brassinosteroid signaling. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 117 (35): 21766-21774. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2002278117.
- Zhu, X.-G., Portis Jr, A. R. & Long, S. P. (2004). Would transformation of C3 crop plants with foreign Rubisco increase productivity? A computational analysis extrapolating from kinetic properties to canopy photosynthesis. Plant, Cell & Environment, 27 (2): 155-165. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3040.2004.01142.x</u>.
- Zhu, X.-G., de Sturler, E. & Long, S. P. (2007). Optimizing the distribution of resources between enzymes of carbon metabolism can dramatically increase photosynthetic rate: A numerical simulation using an evolutionary algorithm. Plant Physiology, 145 (2): 513-526. doi: 10.1104/pp.107.103713.
- Zhu, X.-G., Long, S. P. & Ort, D. R. (2010). Improving photosynthetic efficiency for greater yield. Annual review of plant biology, 61: 235-261.
- Zhu, X. G., Ort, D. R., Whitmarsh, J. & Long, S. P. (2004). The slow reversibility of photosystem II thermal energy dissipation on transfer from high to low light may



cause large losses in carbon gain by crop canopies: a theoretical analysis. Journal of Experimental Botany, 55 (400): 1167-1175. doi: 10.1093/jxb/erh141.

Zou, G., Xiao, M., Chai, S., Zhu, Z., Wang, Y. & Zhou, Z. (2021). Efficient genome editing in filamentous fungi via an improved CRISPR-Cas9 ribonucleoprotein method facilitated by chemical reagents. Microbial Biotechnology, 14 (6): 2343-2355. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.13652</u>. We stand ready to support the brightest and best around the world in our mission to preserve a livable planet for all.

Image credits

Photo by <u>Chang Patrick</u> on <u>Unsplash</u> Photo o flying above river by <u>Shaiith</u> Photo of seaweed by <u>Oleksandr Sushko</u> on <u>Unsplash</u> Photo of green rice fields by <u>Studio_OMG</u> Photo of wetlands, New Zealand, by <u>wildnerdpix</u> Carbon Technology Research Foundation CIC, 46 Woodstock Road, Oxford OX2 6HT contact@ctrfoundation.com https://www.ctrfoundation.com/

© Copyright 2023 Carbon Technology Research Foundation CIC ™ A community interest company registered in England and Wales with organisation number 1285 6140.